

# final report

Project code:	B.GOA.0055
Prepared by:	San Jolly
	Productive Nutrition Pty Ltd
Date published:	April 2013
ISBN:	9781741919974

PUBLISHED BY Meat & Livestock Australia Limited Locked Bag 991 NORTH SYDNEY NSW 2059

# **Goat nutrition in Australia - Literature review**

Meat & Livestock Australia acknowledges the matching funds provided by the Australian Government to support the research and development detailed in this publication.

This publication is published by Meat & Livestock Australia Limited ABN 39 081 678 364 (MLA). Care is taken to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in this publication. However MLA cannot accept responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the information or opinions contained in the publication. You should make your own enquiries before making decisions concerning your interests. Reproduction in whole or in part of this publication is prohibited without prior written consent of MLA.

# Executive summary

The foundations of profitable animal production systems include market demand, processing facilities, genetic potential for growth and production and a sound knowledge of the nutritional requirements of livestock which underpin cost-efficient productivity. The diversity of genotypes in the Australian goat population and the starkly contrasting environments where goats exist or are farmed increases the complexity of their nutrient requirements. Much of the research into goat nutrition has been undertaken in tropical environments and the relevance of this to Australian conditions and goat populations remains unclear.

The Australian rangeland goat appears well adapted to its environment whereas Boer goats, imported for their superior growth potential, appear less well suited to either rangeland or intensive production systems.

The purpose of this review was to thoroughly investigate the gaps in nutritional information to support future investment decisions by Meat & Livestock Australia to underpin the growth of the goat industry. The terms of reference were as follows:

- Clarify the nutritional requirements for goats
- Determine how and why publications vary widely in their recommendations
- Determine the variation in nutrient requirements between rangeland, Boer, Boer-cross, dairy and fleece-producing goats and their progeny
- Investigate the alignment between the recommendations and animals response to a range of feeding regimes and practises

This review has provided confirmation that the guidelines for the nutrient requirements of goats vary widely and that there remains a diversity of opinion as to which is the correct source of information. NRC (2007) has published the most comprehensive set of recommendations following an extensive review of published research from 1981 to 2006 however these guidelines require validation under a range of environmental conditions.

Satisfaction of daily nutrient demand is assumed to be reliant on dry matter intake however no allowance has been made for when intake is restricted for any reason; this is of particular importance for goats where the phenomenon of "winter stasis" has been identified as an important factor limiting productivity. Their unique oral structure and inherent ability of goats to select the most nutritious components of plant material ensures their survival in rangeland areas when sufficient feed is available however pastoralists may benefit from education programs directed at the identification of key indicator species to assist in early destocking decisions. Depot nutrition is becoming increasingly important and it is clear that producers would benefit from some education about nutritional management of goats under confined conditions.

The recommendations for daily energy requirements of goats in the literature vary predominantly in line with the key differences between NRC (1981) and NRC (2007) such that the former attributed an activity allowance for ME  $_{\rm m}$  and the latter did not. It appears the main reason for this change is based on the presumption that goats will have access to grazing and hence nutrient intake while walking. NRC (2007) acknowledges that these recommendations require field evaluation. Once validation has been undertaken, producers will benefit from the development of a set of simple set of guidelines for their genotype and a concurrent education program of implementation.

It is well understood that the protein requirements of goats increases with an increasing level of productivity such that the protein requirements of lactating goats of any genotype are likely to be higher than that required for maintenance. As pasture species mature, protein concentration declines however the change in nutritive value of some perennial shrubs such as the saltbushes, appears more random. Of greater interest is the ability of goats to adapt to pasture species that provide excessively high protein concentrations in winter and spring; Boer and Boer-cross goats in medium to high rainfall environments exhibit severe symptoms of lameness and scouring under these conditions and appear to have low resistance to internal parasites. It should be noted that within these environments there are many animals that are not affected providing a positive outlook for genetic selection.

Although the majority of goats producers and their advisors are of the opinion that goats require a diet that is high in fibre there is a plethora of evidence demonstrating a similar preference for a highly digestible diet to sheep where it is available. It is the opinion of this author that the degree of environmental adaptation may determine a goat's preference for fibre such that within a rangeland environment where selectivity is high, goats may be eating a more digestible diet than is immediately apparent. As for all ruminants, a minimum level of effective dietary fibre is required to maintain a neutral pH in the rumen to facilitate digestion.

The mineral nutrition of goats particularly under intensive farming regimes requires urgent attention; the requirements of goats for key nutrients such as copper appear significantly different to sheep and it may be that acute mineral deficiencies are partially responsible for the productivity constraints of intensively farmed goats.

As goats have prolific reproductive capacity, it is likely that the application of the current nutritional strategies for ewes may be of benefit to does; these include stimulation of ovulation rates with a sudden increase in the plane of nutrition pre joining and particular emphasis on late pregnancy nutrition to increase kid survival. These intensive strategies are unlikely to be of practical benefit in an extensive pastoral environment and there may be differences in the cost-effective responses between genotypes.

Although the optimum weight and age for weaning has yet to be determined, it is apparent that Boer and Boer cross kids have similar growth potential to lambs when fed a high quality diet and that their requirement for protein may be less than that of lambs. Where it is cost-efficient to do so, kids respond well to lot feeding providing they have prior introduction to the feedlot diet preweaning.

Optimisation of transitional feeding of goats in depots prior to transport is impeded by the lack of time to adapt to a change in feed such that the focus is one of weight loss minimisation rather than weight gain or productivity. As the pregnancy status of these goats is unknown and nutritional requirements increase significantly as pregnancy advances it is clear that a maintenance diet may not always be appropriate. The cost-efficiency of improved feeding strategies was outside the terms of reference of this review but needs to be determined; depot managers would benefit greatly from improved nutritional information.

At the end of each chapter of this review recommendations for further research have been suggested for consideration. Validation of the most relevant nutrient requirements for goats would provide the industry with a platform on which to expand with a higher degree of confidence than currently exists.

# Recommendations for further research

- 1. Dry matter intake
  - Clarify the dry matter intake requirements of all classes and genotypes of goat
  - Determine the appropriateness or otherwise of the application of an activity rating for grazing goats
  - Ensure pastoralists are familiar with their key indicator species and how to monitor their decline
  - Ensure goat producers and managers of depots and intensive operations understand how to assess dry matter intake such that nutrient intake can be adjusted if dry matter intake is sub-optimal
  - Investigate the phenomenon of winter stasis as a priority such that remedial measures can be implemented

# 2. Energy requirements

- Determine the energy requirements for mature goats under field conditions validation of NRC, 2007 recommendations
- Validations should include a range of genotypes, pastures, supplements and liveweights
- Determine an appropriate activity rating for ME above maintenance for grazing goats of different genotypes where appropriate
- Develop a user-friendly, practical set of ME guidelines for goat producers and their advisors
- Develop education programs for goat producers to improve their understanding of goat nutrition and management

## 3. Protein requirements

- Clarify the protein requirements of goats including variation across genotypes where appropriate
- Determine the cause(s) of lameness in medium to high rainfall regions
- Investigate the role of excessive dietary protein in the poor productivity of Boer goats and their crosses in medium to high rainfall areas
- Develop education programs for goat producers in nutrition and health management
- Investigate the cost-effectiveness of urea inclusion as a protein source in the supplementary feed rations of weaned kids and confined goats
- Consider embryo transfer and artificial insemination programs to hasten the increase of well adapted Boer and Boer cross genetics in medium to high rainfall regions

## 4. Fibre requirements

• Develop education programs for goat producers and their advisors to improve their understanding of the fibre requirements of goats and how to apply that knowledge to their enterprises

#### 5. Vitamin and mineral requirements

- Verify the daily mineral requirements of domesticated goats
- Determine the links between copper deficiency, lameness and scouring in goats
- Determine the daily requirement of copper supplementation for goats
- Verify the length of activity of 3 year selenium capsules in goats
- Determine the relationship between production losses and mineral deficiencies in medium to high rainfall areas

#### 6. Water requirements

• There does not appear to be any requirements for further research into the water requirements of goats

#### 7. Nutrient requirements of reproductive goats

- Validation of the nutrient requirements for reproductive does of all genotypes as considered appropriate
- Investigation of an appropriate activity rating to be applied to all nutrient recommendations for pregnancy and lactation
- Development of a set of comprehensive and practical set of nutrient guidelines for reproductive does for use by the goat industry
- Application and validation of the current and well researched nutritional strategies for ewes as they may apply to goats

#### 8. Nutrition of weaned kids

- Determine the appropriate age and weight for weaning kids of each genotype to optimise productivity and survival
- Provide education program for producers and their advisors in the nutritional management of the reproductive herd so as to optimise weaner potential
- Consider identification and selection of more resilient genotypes within the Australian goat herd within environments review the uptake, implementation and outcomes for producers of Kidplan® as a practical and cost-effective selection tool
- Investigate the cost-efficiency of lot feeding weaners to reduce morbidity and mortality in all environments following similar principles as have recently been developed for lambs

#### 9. Depot nutrition

- Information sessions for depot managers and their staff about the management of ruminants in confinement and strategies for rapid adaptation to feed
- Clarification of the current mortality rates and their causes
- Clarification of the current weight differential during depot confinement
- Determination of the rate of adaptation to a pelleted diet in depots
- Development of a set of guidelines for depot management

## 10. Parasitism and nutrition

- Clarify the protein requirements of goats
- Determine if parasitism is associated with low protein intake in goats
- Investigate the potential for CT- containing, pasture species as an aid in worm control
- Consider the genetic selection of goats apparently more resistant to worms as a longer term management tool for goat breeders

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	14
Dry matter intake	17
Intake and digestion – differences between goats, sheep and cattle	18
Estimations of daily dry matter intake	20
Dry matter intake - extensive environments	20
Dry matter intake - intensive environments	21
Dry matter intake – dairy goats	22
Dry matter intake – goat depots	23
Dry matter intake - feedlots	24
Differences in dry matter intake between sheep and goats	25
Seasonal patterns of voluntary feed intake	25
Winter weight stasis	27
Influence of preference, selection and grazing behaviour on dry matter intake	28
Dietary choice and dry matter intake	31
Influence of secondary compounds on dry matter intake	31
Nutritive value of rangeland plant species	34
Nutritional management strategies	35
Dry matter intake requirements of goats	36
Energy requirements of goats	41
Inclusion of an activity allowance in nutrient requirements	43
Recommended daily ME requirements of goats	45
Protein requirements of goats	51
Recommended daily protein requirements for goats	53
Seasonal change in protein availability	56
Crude protein provided by rangeland plant species	58
Urea as a protein source for goats	59
Fibre requirements of goats	60
Pelleted diets	67
Mineral and Vitamin nutrition of goats	69
Determination of mineral deficiencies in grazed plants	72
Detection of mineral deficiencies in goats	73
Treatment of mineral deficiencies	76
Mineral requirements of goats	78

Micro minerals or trace elements or trace minerals	79
Vitamin deficiencies	82
Water requirements of goats	84
Water quality	85
Nutrient requirements of reproductive goats	87
Nutrition and ovulation	87
Nutrition during gestation	88
Nutrition in late pregnancy and early lactation	89
Nutrition of weaned kids	92
Early weaning	92
Rumen development	92
Weaning rates of goat kids	94
Post weaning growth potential of kids	97
Nutrient requirements of weaned kids	100
Lot feeding kids	103
Nutrient requirements of weaned kids for optimal growth rates	105
Depot nutrition	107
Transition of rangeland goats to a pelleted diet	109
Parasitism and nutrition	111
How and why do publications vary in their recommendations?	113
Appendix 1: Summary of function and signs of severe and marginal mineral deficiencies and likely incidence of deficiencies in sheep (Masters and White 1996)	115
Appendix 2: Summary of feeding trials reviewed, listed by author	117
Appendix 3: Nutrient requirements – authors other than NRC	121
Appendix 4: Mature weights of a range of goat breeds	123
Appendix 5: Guide to liveweights at a range of ages	124
Appendix 6: Nutritive value of rangeland species	125

Reference List	130
Bibliography	149

# List of Tables

Table 1 Recognised breeds of domesticated goats (Schuster 2011)	14
Table 2 Effects of the number of Boer cross goats per pen or feeding station on feed	
intake, growth performance and feeding behaviour (Gipson et al. 2006)	17
Table 3 Measurements of digestion in sheep and goats fed high (12.2% CP) and low	
(5.1% CP) Pangola grass hay (Adapted from Norton 1984)	
Table 4 Kinetics of ammonia (NH $_3$ -N) production in the rumen of deer, goats and sheep	
fed on lucerne hay ad-libitum in winter together with the rumen NH3-N	
concentration, rumen NH3-N pool size and NH3-N outflow from the rumen in	
summer and winter (Domingue et al. 1991c)	19
Table 5 Effect of increasing sodium and potassium concentrations on voluntary intake	
of Merino wether lambs (34kg LW) fed a diet of oats, lupins and oaten hay	
(adapted from Masters et al. 2005)	21
Table 6 Predicted dry matter intake (DMI) as a percentage of live weight related to	
neutral detergent fibre (NDF) intake capacity (Saun no date, no date)	22
Table 7 Effects of separate offering of forage and concentrate on feed intake and	
growth of Alpine doeling weaners at 3.5 months of age at 15.8kg LW for 112d	
	23
Table 8 Effect of diet (pelleted vs loose mix; concentrate vs lucerne) on feeding time,	
DMI, growth rate and feed conversion of meat goats (F1 and F2 Boer cross)	
(Gipson et al. 2007)	24
Table 9 Nitrogen (N) intake, excretion and balance in deer, goats and sheep fed on	
lucerne hay ad-libitum in summer and winter (adapted from Domingue et al.	
1991c)	
Table 10 Mature liveweights of goat breeds in the literature	
Table 11 Dry matter intake (kg/d) recommended for goats at maintenance and three	
levels of activity (low, medium and high) at a dietary ME concentration of	
8.37MJ/kg DM (adapted from NRC 1981)	
Table 12 Dry matter intake (kg/d) recommended for goats at maintenance and three	
levels of activity (low, medium and high) at a dietary ME concentration of	
10.04MJ/kg DM (adapted from NRC 1981)	
Table 13 Dry matter intake requirements (% of LW & kg/d) for three goat genotypes at	
maintenance, with an ME density of 7.6-8.0 ME (adapted from NRC 2007)	
Table 14 Energy cost of various physical activities by ruminant animals per kg	
liveweight (CSIRO 2007)	44
Table 15 Rate of ingestion and energy cost of eating in goats offered seven different	
feeds (Lachica and Aguilera 2003)	44
Table 16 Estimates of the cost of activity as $\%$ above maintenance (Sutton and	
Alderman 2000)	44
Table 17 Differences in daily ME requirements recommended for goats during late	
pregnancy; Going into Goats Guide (2006); NRC (1981) and adapted from NRC	
(2007)	46
Table 18 Daily dry matter intake (DMI) and energy requirements according to pregnancy	
status of three goat genotypes weighing 60 kg in late pregnancy (Adapted from	
NRC 2007)	47
Table 19 Energy requirements of meat goats during late pregnancy and lactation	
(adapted from www.sheepandgoat.com/articles/meatgoat.htm)	47
Table 20 Feed intake and energy requirements of goats during lactation (adapted from	
Coffey 2006)	
Table 21 Energy requirements of a mature doe with twin kids at foot in early lactation	
(adapted from NRC 2007)	

Table 22	Daily nutrient requirements for meat producing goats (adapted from Poore and	
	Luginbuhl 2002)	49
Table 23	Recommended energy density $(M/D = MJ ME/kg DM)$ and crude protein (%)	
	levels in the diet to ensure rumen MCP production is not limited by N	
	availability (Oddy 2006 unpub.)	51
Table 24	Comparison of daily crude protein requirements (g/d) for goats as	
	recommended by the Going Into Goats guide (2006), NRC (1981, 2007) for	
	maintenance and early pregnancy	53
Table 25	Dry matter intake (DMI), crude protein and energy (ME) requirements for	
	mature, non-dairy does for maintenance, joining and at all stages of pregnancy	
	and lactation (adapted from NRC 2007)	54
	Liveweight, dry matter intake (DMI), Crude Protein and ME requirements of	
	pregnant and lactating does from various sources	
	Seasonal change in crude protein (CP %) concentration and metabolisable	
	energy (ME) of saltbush at 3 sites in South Australia (Costin & Dickson,	
	unpublished)	58
	Nutritive value of vegetative pasture samples highlighting the variation in NDF	
	concentration (Productive Nutrition database)	67
	Macro and micro mineral requirements of growing lambs and meat and milk	07
	kids (NRC 2007)	70
	Relative nutritional strengths and weaknesses of pastoral plant species	70
	analysed across northern South Australia (Franklin-McEvoy and Jolly 2005)	71
		/1
	Average contents (mg/kg DM) of copper and zinc in typical feeds for goats	
	(Anke and Szentmihalyi 1986; Anke et al. 1993; cited in Haenlein and Anke	
		72
	Indicator tissues for the detection of deficiency status in ruminants (Adapted	
	from Anke et al. 1988 cited in; Haenlein and Anke 2011)	73
	Recommended reference ranges for blood calcium, phosphorus, potassium,	
	copper and selenium for goats and results from Boer and Boer cross goats	
	averaged over a 4 year period at Dorrigo NSW (Courtesy: J. Gilbert October	
	2011)	73
	Mineral-Plus drench (TNN Industries) administered to does in late pregnancy	
	(Courtesy: J. Gilbert 2010)	74
	Recommended reference ranges for blood calcium, phosphorus, copper and	
	selenium for goats and results from Boer and Boer cross goats 4 weeks after	
	drenching with TNN Mineral-Plus at Dorrigo NSW (Courtesy: J. Gilbert October	
	2011)	75
Table 36	Symptoms of mineral deficiencies in young goats (Haenlein, 2011); positive	
	(x); negative (-)	77
Table 37	Copper absorption in ruminants based on normal concentrations of	
	molybdenum and sulphur in the diet (Suttle and McLauchlin 1976)	80
Table 38	Effects of I-deficient ration (mg I/kg DM) on reproduction and tissue contents	
	of goats (adapted from Groppel et al. 1990 cited in Haenlein and Anke 2011)	81
	Production losses of Boer goats through the breeding cycle (Courtesy: C.	
	Ramsay October 2011)	
	Suggested maximum desirable level of total dissolved solids (TDS) in water	
	available to sheep and goats (adapted from McGregor 2005; NRC 2007)	86
	Recommended daily intake (DMI) and energy requirement for a 60kg non-	
	dairy, twin-bearing doe in early and late pregnancy and early lactation (adapted	
	from NRC 2007)	۵۵

Table 42 Variation in dry matter intake (DMI), crude protein and energy (ME) requirements for three different genotypes of goat at 50 kg liveweight in early	
lactation with twin kids at foot (adapted from NRC 2007) Table 43 Effect of weaning weight on milk intake, weight gain and dry matter intake of	90
dairy goat kids (from Teh et al. 1984 citied in Lu and Potchoiba 1988)	92
Table 44 Number of kids born and weaned among sire breed x dam breed combinations	
(adapted from Browning and Leite-Browning 2011)	94
Table 45 Pre-weaning kid survival rates within dam breed x birth litter size interaction	
(Browning and Leite-Browning 2011)	96
Table 46 Hay selected and refused by Boer goat kids on a dry matter basis (adapted	
from Patterson et al. 2009)	98
Table 47 Feed conversion ratios of Boer goat kids fed different levels of forage and	00
concentrates at two slaughter weights (Ueckermann 1969)	99
Table 48 Daily dry matter intakes (DMI), dietary NDF tolerance, crude protein, protein (CP) and energy (ME) of four goat genotypes at 20 and 30kg LW growing at 200g/d (adapted from NRC 2007)	100
Table 49 Effects of dietary protein concentration on average daily gain of crossbred	100
Boer and Spanish goat wethers from 4 months of age with a staring weight of	
17.6kg for the Boer cross and 19.4kg for the Spanish kids (adapted from	
Prieto et al. 2000)	101
Table 50 Growth rates of weaned Boer goat kids in NSW, 2009 (Courtesy: C Ramsay & J.	
Gilbert October 2011)	101
Table 51 Body weights and growth rates of South African Angora kids studied over 4	
years grazing veld, supplemented and unsupplemented (Snyman 2007)	102
Table 52 Dry matter intake (DMI) and weight gain of Saanen kids fed a ground total	
ration (GTR), pelleted total ration (PTR) or extruded total ration (ETR) (adapted	100
from Amaral et al. 2005) Table 53 Performance of Boer x Spanish wether goats' lot fed for 63 days (Machen et	102
al. no date)	103
Table 54 Post weaning growth rate of weaned lot-fed Boer and Boer cross kids at	105
Dorrigo NSW (Courtesy: J. Gilbert October 2011); average weaning weight 17.5	
kg	104
Table 55 Feed intake, liveweight gain and inanition of Boer x feral goats lot-fed within an	
enriched or typical feedlot environment and at high and low pen densities	
(Adapted from Flint and Murray 2001)	104
Table 56 Daily dry matter intake (DMI), crude protein and energy (ME) requirements for	
dairy, Boer and indigenous kids growing at 250g/day, weaned at either 20 or	
25kg liveweight (NRC 2007)	105
Table 57 Daily dry matter intake (DMI), crude protein and energy (ME) requirements of	
female and male Angora kids growing at 40g/day weaned at either 20 or 30kg	105
liveweight; daily fleece growth rate – 8gms per day (NRC 2007)	105
Table 58 Range of nutritive analyses of cereal hay and straw (Source: Productive Nutrition database)	107
Table 59 Average and range in crude protein, metabolisable energy (ME) and neutral	107
detergent fibre (NDF) concentrations of 507 oaten hay samples analyses by the Feedtest laboratory for season 2010/2011 (Source:	
http://www.feedtest.com.au/)	108
Table 60 Range of nutritive analyses of pea hay and straw (Source: Productive Nutrition	100
database)	109

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Distribution of rangeland goats in Australia (Source:	
http://www.environment.gov.au, 2008)	20
Figure 2 Maltese dairy goats (Source: http://eng.agraria.org/goat/maltese.htm)	22
Figure 3 British Alpine dairy goat (Source: http://www.nzdgba.co.nz/)	23
Figure 4 Goat depot, Cobar, NSW (Source: Ausgoat, 2011)	24
Figure 5 Monthly average voluntary feed intake of 3 year old Cashmere bucks fed	
pangola grass hay (o) or pelleted lucerne ( $ullet$ ) The dashed curve was	
representative of photoperiod () (Walkden-Brown et al. 1994a)	26
Figure 6 Cytisus scoparius - Scotch broom (Source: www.google.com; PA Graham)	28
Figure 7 Buckbush with vegetative growth - Dulkaninna Station, Birdsville Track, SA	29
Figure 8 Swamp canegrass at various stages of growth – Dulkaninna Station,	
Birdsville Track, SA	30
Figure 9 Class of plant and species preferentially grazed in the Outback lakes region	
of SA (Stats, 2009)	30
Figure 10 Boer goat carcases (Courtesy: G. Reimers 2011)	34
Figure 11 Seasonal change in metabolisable energy (ME) of a range of pasture	
species under irrigation and rotationally grazed by dairy cows at Meningie,	
SA (Jolly, unpublished data)	
Figure 12 Oldman saltbush (Atriplex nummularia) Carrieton, SA	
Figure 13 Red gut – inflamed intestine of sheep (Source: Victorian DPI, 2004)	52
Figure 14 Seasonal changes in crude protein values of selected crop and pasture	
species tested at Minnipa, SA (Jolly, unpublished)	56
Figure 15 Variation in crude protein concentration in clover-based pastures in south	
west Victoria in 2004	57
Figure 16 Seasonal changes in crude protein concentration of a range of pasture	
species rotationally grazed under irrigation at Meningie, SA in 2000/2001	
(Jolly, unpublished)	57
Figure 17 Structural and non-structural carbohydrate components of plants (van	64
Saun, vbs.psu.edu/extension/focus/goats/nutrition)	
Figure 18 Bedouin goats (Source: http://www.nationalgeographicstock.com)	
Figure 19 Kiko goat (Source: http://www.ansi.okstate.edu)	
Figure 20 The relationship between intake and the ratio of DOMD:NDF for sheep •	
(R $^2$ =0.97), cattle $\Delta$ (R2=0.98), & goats $\Diamond$ (R2=0.97), (Meissner and	
Paulsmeier 1995)	64
Figure 21 Severe selenium deficiency is common in lambs and kids (Source:	
http://www.infobarrel.com/Selenium_Deficiency_in_Livestock)	
Figure 22 A Barmer goat (Khan et al. 1978)	84
Figure 23 Strategic feeding periods during the reproductive cycle that may affect	
reproductive success of the herd (Blache et al. 2008 modified after Martin	
2004)	87
Figure 24 Mean ovulation rate per ewe grazing a range of pastures 2006-2008	
(Robertson and Friend 2010)	87
Figure 25 Foetal weight, placental growth and vascular development patterns in	
Merino ewes (Source: http://www.agric.wa.gov.au/PC_91913.htm)	89
Figure 26 Photomicrography of the ruminal dorsal sac of Saanan kids at 60 days of	
age fed a ground total ration (GTR-A), pelleted total ration (PTR-B) or	
extruded total ration (ETR-C) (Amaral et al. 2005)	93

Figure 27 Changes in dry matter digestibility of a range of pasture grasses (NRC	
2007 adapted from Radcliffe & Cochrane, 1970)	94
Figure 28 Weaning weights (90-day adjusted) for kids within significant 3 way	
interaction of sire breed x dam breed x birth month. $B = Boer; K = Kiko; S =$	
Spanish. a-c Least squares means (+/- SE) for kid (sire breed x dam breed)	
genotypes within March-born group not sharing common letter differ	
(P<0.01). x.yLeast squares means (+/- SE) for kid (sire breed x dam breed)	
genotypes within May-born group not sharing common letter differ (P<0.05).	
***Least squares means (+/- SE) for month within kid genotype differ	
(P<0.001). (Browning and Leite-Browning 2011)	95
Figure 29 Rectal temperature dynamic in Toggenburg kids during the first 36h of	
neonatal life (Aleksiev 2009)	96
Figure 30 Average daily gain (g/d) of goats consuming coastal Bermuda grass (CB),	
Tifton-85 (T), or sorghum-Sudan grass (SS) alone or supplemented at 1% of	
BW (+) with a commercially available 18% CP goat ration (C). Bars with	
asterisk are different (P<0.05) from C. (Patterson et al. 2009)	98
Figure 31 Lot fed goats Source (Source:	
http://www.abc.net.au/landline/content/2006/s1712810.htm)	106
Figure 32 Rangeland goats in a depot at Cobar, NSW (Courtesy: P Lynn October	
2011)	107

# Introduction

The Australian goat population is highly diverse consisting predominantly of rangeland goats, previously known as bush or feral goats, and domesticated goats the breeds of which are detailed in Table 1 (Schuster 2011)

Dairy	Meat	Fibre
Saanen	Boer	Angora
Toggenburg	Kalahari Red	Cashmere
British Alpine	Savannah	
Anglo Nubian		
Australian Melaan		
Australian Brown		

Table 1 Recognised breeds of domesticated goats (Schuster 201	1)
	/

The nutritional aspects of goat production in tropical regions have been well researched over recent years (Morand-Fehr 2005) however differences in methodologies used by researchers, genotype and environmental differences make comparison between studies difficult; further the relevance of tropical goat nutrition to Mediterranean and temperate environments remains unclear.



One major constraint to assessing the nutritional recommendations for goats from online publications is where the genotype of the goats is unspecified. There are vast differences between the genotypes of goats such that dairy, meat, rangeland, desert and fibre producing goats are unlikely to have similar mature weights or to grow at similar rates from birth to maturity; hence their nutritive requirements are likely to be different. Accurate and reliable determination of nutrient requirements of goats is a challenging task as significant variation exists between authors and publications as well as across genotypes and between classes of goat.

From a nutritional perspective, the composite bush goat appears well adapted to the Australian rangeland environment in terms of superior digestive physiology. Goats have demonstrated prolonged retention time of digestive material, enhanced ability to digest cellulose which may be attributed to their efficient recycling of urea from the bloodstream to the rumen (Devendra 1989). Middle Eastern goats have a rumen with a larger surface area per unit of body weight than sheep (Bhattacharya 1980) for efficient absorption of volatile fatty acids and enhanced buffering capacity. Goats secrete greater volumes of saliva per unit of feed intake than sheep (Domingue *et al.* 1991a) favouring more efficient recycling of urea when grazing low quality forages.

However the optimum time required for adaptation of the digestive system of the goat to a highly digestible, low fibre diet under high rainfall pastoral conditions where Boer, rangeland goats and their crosses struggle to perform, remains unclear. There is evidence from the field situation that individual goats adapt well, but as a herd they appear constrained by severe lameness and poor resistance to parasites; however in many herds it is encouraging to see that there are individuals from which more resistant genotypes offer the potential for selection. Sheep breeds such as the Dorper which have been bred under range conditions in South Africa and imported into Australia demonstrate similar adaptive difficulties in high rainfall environments as their Boer goat counterparts.

Kid mortality is reportedly high at around 40%; mothering ability of does is generally poor, with chronic lameness and parasite infestation being major impediments to productivity and welfare.

Producers cite animal health and nutrition as their greatest challenges to the successful production of goats in southern Australia.

Factors that influence daily nutrient requirements include level of activity (confined vs open range), environment (adaptation; heat and cold stress), season, gender, stage of pregnancy and lactation, quality and quantity of milk production, growth potential and diet quality such that no simple rules of thumb will be likely to result in optimal levels of productivity.

There is an increasing amount of evidence both anecdotal and within the published literature that all ruminant species have their individual characteristics, such that knowledge derived from work with one species may not necessarily be applicable or transferable to another (Zhao *et al.* 2011), however many of the published nutrient requirements for goats have been derived from those recommended for sheep and/or cattle (NRC 1981).

Lu *et al.* (1988) observed that goats differed from other ruminants in their feed intake, diet selection and feeding behaviour and in their intake rate. In an extensive review of feedstuff digestibility of goats in comparison with other ruminants, Louca *et al.* (1982) found the digestive systems to be quite similar. Comparative capacity of the stomach with the reticulorumen was larger (85%) in goats than sheep (73%) and cattle (64%). Goats demonstrated superior ability to digest low protein, high fibre forages, maize and lucerne. Goats had increased populations of cellulolytic bacteria for fibre digestion with increased urea cycling.

Silanikove (1996) observed that desert goats had increased ability to digest lignified fibrous material than non-desert goats and other ruminant animals. Goats appear more efficient at chewing and rumination, have increased concentrations of microbial protein production and are able to select high quality plant components from a broader range of vegetation types.

The nutrient requirement per unit of dry matter of goats exceeds that of most ruminants due to their small body size (Poore and Luginbuhl 2002). Their ability to graze, browse and climb enables them to select a wider range of nutritious plant material together with the structural components of their jaw which facilitates the selection process.

The most recent international publications of nutrient requirements for goats include the "Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants; Sheep, goats, cervids and new world camelids" National Research Council (NRC 2007) and the Nutrient Requirements of Domesticated Ruminants (CSIRO 2007). Although both publications offer a significant increase in recommendations and detail, CSIRO offers little information specific to goats and many of the NRC (2007) recommendations for goats have largely been generated from pen studies and questions remain as to their applicability under pastoral conditions.

Determination of the nutrient requirement for goats is complicated by the vastly different environments in which goats exist, the lack of practical application of recommendations in the literature and the extremes of genotypes (dairy, rangeland and Boer) used in feeding studies.

Norton (1984) in reviewing the nutrition of goats following the release of the Nutrient Requirements of Goats (NRC 1981) stated that although there are similarities between sheep, cattle and goats that the differences were possibly of greater consequence. These included differences in feed selection and water requirements, milk and carcase composition, physical activity and grazing habits, metabolic disorders and parasite infestation.

The aim of this review is to clarify the nutritional requirements for goats; to determine to what extent and why publications vary in their recommendations; to investigate if requirements differ between breeds of goat and to correlate recommendations with current industry practices. It is not intended to be a comprehensive feeding guide for goat producers, but to highlight key areas of deficiency in nutritional knowledge that may benefit from future industry investment.

The topics to be reviewed include the requirements of rangeland, intensive, dairy and fibre producing goats in terms of:

- Dry matter intake
- Metabolisable energy
- Crude protein
- Fibre
- Mineral and trace element nutrition
- Water quality and intake
- Pregnancy and lactation
- Weaner growth
- Depot nutrition
- Feedlot nutrition
- Nutritive value of rangeland plant species

# Dry matter intake

Dry matter intake is the major determinant of productivity of ruminants including goats across all environments however there are a range of factors that affect the provision and utilisation of nutrients for metabolic purposes; these include the digestibility of the plant material and the concentration of neutral detergent fibre (NDF), nutrient content of the feed on offer, the presence of anti-nutrient factors or secondary compounds such as tannins, the application of nitrogenous fertilisers, sensory factors including palatability, the water content of the forage (Black *et al.* 1987), the height and density of pasture, intake capacity such as stage of production or liveweight, digesta flow rates and efficiency of fermentation and digestion (Black 1990).

Goetsch *et al.* (2010) highlighted differences in breed, grazing management, type of vegetation and time of year; dietary components, group dynamics such as competition for feed or feeding space (Table 2) and stage of production as affecting the intake of goats. Mineral deficiencies and excesses have been found to reduce dry matter intake (Beede *et al.* 1984; Ternouth and Sevilla 1990).

Goats per per	n 6	8	10	12
Number of feeder visits	17.5	17.1	17.9	18.7
Number of meals	8.9	9	9.3	8.9
Feeder occupancy (min): per animal & per day	97.8	73.2	83	71.7
Feeder occupancy (min): per animal & per visit	5.8	4.4	5	3.8
Feeder occupancy (min): per animal & per meal	11.2	8.2	9.2	8.1
DMI (g/min)	14.6	24.9	21.5	23.1
Daily DMI (kg/d)	1.45	1.51	1.6	1.37
Growth rate (g/d)	156	167	181	136

Table 2 Effects of the number of Boer cross goats per pen or feeding station on feed intake, growth performance and feeding behaviour (Gipson et al. 2006)

The purpose of feed intake is to ensure animal requirements for energy, protein, fibre, vitamins and minerals are met however it should be noted that most animals are able to maintain condition on dry matter intakes less than they voluntarily consume (Harvey and Tobin 1982). However animals should not be relied upon to restrict intake according to nutrient need – an important consideration when setting stocking rates according to demand.

Where feed quality is high, stocking rates can be adjusted to reduce dry matter intake although it is unlikely that any restriction of voluntary intake will be observed until a feed shortage occurs. It is an important consideration for livestock managers, as when feed quality is low, dry matter intake will not necessarily increase to ensure daily nutrient requirements are satisfied. In the goat's favour is their inherent efficiency of NDF digestion compared with sheep and cattle (Norton 1984) as depicted in Table 3.

	She	Sheep		Goats	
Measurement	High	Low	High	Low	SEM
Dry matter intake (g/kg <sup>0.75</sup> /d)	47.8	31.9	49.5	32.6	2.8
NDF digestibility (%)	73.4	63.5	75.3	71.3	1.2
Rumen ammonia (mg N/I)	141	43	145	106	11

Table 3 Measurements of digestion in sheep and goats fed high (12.2% CP) and low (5.1% CP) Pangola grass hay (Adapted from Norton 1984)

When feeding sheep and goats prairie grass straw at (8.45% crude protein) Domingue *et al.* (1991b) observed that goats had the ability to maintain higher rumen ammonia concentrations than sheep (115 vs. 80gN/I); goats demonstrated higher apparent digestibility of lignin and increased fractional degradation rates of cellulose and lignin. These factors in combination with a higher proportion of smaller particulate matter in the rumen contents contributed to higher levels of voluntary intake of low quality straw.

Coleman *et al.* (2003), found that wether goats offered a range of hays had the highest intake (25g/kg LW) of lucerne hay and the lowest wheaten hay at 13.6g/kg LW; they observed that intake and digestibility were better related to rumination and retention time than to nutritive value and concluded that forage retention time and acid detergent fibre (ADF) were the best predictors of intake in goats. Currently no equation exists to easily predict intake based on these factors.

#### Intake and digestion – differences between goats, sheep and cattle

Although all ruminants, it is clear that the digestibility of organic matter differs between sheep, cattle and goats. Silanikove (2000) attributed the "superior digestion capacity" of goats to their rumen capacity and absorptive area, large salivary gland and their inherent ability to alter the volume of their foregut as required by environmental conditions. Digestibility of organic matter ADF and NDF was better in goats than sheep.

Digestibility of dry matter and NDF was found to be higher in mature cattle and goats than sheep (Reid *et al.* 1990) when fed a range of C3 and C4 grass and legume hays. Intake was highest for legumes with no difference between C3 and C4 grasses:

Dry matter intake:

- Cattle 92.6 g/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup> (P<0.01)
- Goats 68.6 g/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup>
- Sheep 65.8 g/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup>

NDF intake:

- Cattle 58.7 g/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup>
- Goats 42.6 g/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup>
- Sheep 39.6 g/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup>

The organic matter intake of Angora goats fed high quality sub clover hay was 68 g/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup> whereas the intake of Merino sheep was lower at 61g/ kg LW<sup>0.75</sup> (Doyle *et al.* 1984). When making assessments of intake due consideration should be given to the component of plant material being grazed such as leaf versus stems and the differences between feed types (Lachica and Aguilera 2003).

Larbi *et al.* (1991) reported West African Dwarf goats fed Napier grass consumed 32 and 54 g/kg  $LW^{0.75}$  whole plant and leaves respectively.

Doyle *et al.* (1984) concluded that differences in organic matter digestibility were less likely when sheep and goats consumed high quality forages, but noted that on lower quality diets, goats appeared to digest more plant cell wall material than sheep. Kids at 14 weeks were observed by Van *et al.* (2007) to have similar intakes of a high quality tropical diet (jackfruit / sugarcane/ concentrate) at 50 g/kg LW compared with lambs at 47 g/kg LW.

Goats have a higher relative intake of low quality fibrous feeds than sheep (56 vs 36 g/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup>) with an increased apparent digestibility (36.8 vs 32.6%). Although goats appear to be similar to sheep in time spent eating and ruminating, intake rate appears to be lower for goats in that they demonstrate a higher level of digestive efficiency (Van *et al.* 2002).

In comparative intake studies with goats and sheep fed lucerne chaff, (Domingue *et al.* 1991c) determined that goats demonstrated significantly higher levels of mastication efficiency (85 cf. 48%) and hence particle size reduction, than sheep respectively. Goats had significantly higher rates of saliva production and salivary secretion of nitrogen than sheep and higher levels of rumen ammonia production than sheep (Domingue *et al.* 1990). The superior digestibility of low quality roughages by goats may be attributable in part to their apparent high levels of rumen ammonia production expressed in Table 4 as irreversible loss rate (IRL).

	Season	Deer	Goats	Sheep	SEM
Total N intake (NI) (g/kg LW <sup>0.75</sup> per day)	S	1.90	1.95	1.43	0.08
	W	1.63	1.63	1.61	0.087
Rumen NH <sub>3</sub> -N kinetics					
NH <sub>3</sub> -N concentration (mg N/litre)	S	172	158	181	5.5
	W	110	165	172	6.3
NH₃-N pool size (mg N/g NI)	S	22.7	24.0	29.9	1.61
	W	10.4	22.2	29.1	1.38
NH₃-N outflow in winter (mg N/g NI)	S	86.4	56.5	69.4	4.64
		40.9	53.2	70.5	2.58
Irreversible loss rate (IRL) of $NH_3$ -N (mg N/g					
NI)	W	535	<i>692</i>	607	35.9
IRL - $NH_3$ -N outflow in water (mg N/g NI)	W	494	639	536	35.7
Bacterial N from NH <sub>3</sub> -N (%)	W	36.6	48.0	40.0	1.99
Bacterial N (% digesta NAN)	W	63.4	52.0	60.0	1.99
Total N in rumen digesta (% DM)	W	2.39	2.69	2.44	0.03
Total N in isolated rumen bacterial cells (% DM)	W	6.62	6.25	6.17	0.14
Rumen pH	S	6.57	6.54	6.42	0.05
	W	6.61	6.59	6.45	0.04

Table 4 Kinetics of ammonia ( $NH_3$ -N) production in the rumen of deer, goats and sheep fed on lucerne hay ad-libitum in winter together with the rumen NH3-N concentration, rumen NH3-N pool size and NH3-N outflow from the rumen in summer and winter (Domingue et al. 1991c)

S = summer; W = winter

#### Estimations of daily dry matter intake

Measurement or prediction of dry matter intake (DMI) is not an exact science which is a significantly limiting factor in nutritional management of grazing animals. Computer programs such as Grazfeed® base their predictions of intake around feed on offer and digestibility whereas NRC (2007) assumes intake as a proportion of liveweight. In both situations, minimal accounting is taken of the many factors that can and do influence intake. Luo *et al.* (2004a) developed voluntary feed intake predictions for goats however they are of limited value as they apply only to thermoneutral conditions where the goats were fed individually in pens or stalls. When evaluating feeding studies the effect of goat behavioural characteristics on research outcomes needs to be considered.

The majority of Australia's current goat population is located in the rangelands where goats are harvested mainly on an opportunistic basis and where nutritional management is largely controlled by the goat rather than the manager. Estimations of intake are largely based on the ability of the goat to select the most highly nutritious components of available plant material and on the rate of decline of key indicator species.

#### Dry matter intake - extensive environments

Predictions of intake of goats grazing Australia's rangelands (Figure 1) is largely impractical due to the diversity of plant species available across seasons, the ability of the goat to selectively graze, the concentration of secondary compounds in most species and the variation in nutritive value of plant material.



Figure 1 Distribution of rangeland goats in Australia (Source: <u>http://www.environment.gov.au</u>, 2008)

Woody plants (Papachristou *et al.* 2005) and shrubs contain a number of physical and chemical properties referred to as anti-nutritive factors or secondary compounds that significantly influence intake. In addition, many shrub species contain high concentrations of salts such as sodium and potassium which have been shown to significantly reduce dry matter intake, growth rate and wool production of Merino wethers (Masters *et al.* 2005) as highlighted in Table 5.

Na	К	Weaner Intake	LW gain	Clean wool growth
%	%	kg/day (as fed)	g/day	g/day
0.16	1.60	1.35	144	13.5
2.27	1.60	1.31	162	13.8
4.74	2.30	0.93	77	9.76
7.60	2.50	0.55	-12	8.6

Table 5 Effect of increasing sodium (Na) and potassium (K) concentrations on voluntary intake of Merino wether lambs (34kg LW) fed a diet of oats, lupins and oaten hay (adapted from Masters et al. 2005)

Tannin-complexing agents such as polyethylene glycol (PEG) have been observed to increase the daily intake of goats browsing on tannin rich plant species (Narvaez *et al.* 2011), however Moujahed *et al.* (2005) found that when supplementing *Acacia cyanophylla* based diet with PEG that although N retention was significantly improved, there was no increase in dry matter intake. Rogosic *et al.* (2008) observed that intake of Mediterranean shrub species was more related to the amount of feed on offer rather than the concentration of secondary compounds.

Retrospective measures of intake can be estimated in a pastoral environment via faecal NIRS, body condition scoring and disappearance of preferentially grazed or "indicator" species known to the grazier. It is useful for pastoralists to be familiar with the range in nutritive value (NV) of key indicator species such that as they decline in numbers, stocking rate strategies can be reviewed in line with productivity expectations and the avoidance of environmental degradation. Where it is profitable to do so, controlled grazing within fenced blocks can produce increased quantities of higher quality pasture; however this type of grazing management is not commonly found in rangeland systems.

#### Dry matter intake - intensive environments

The remaining goat population is found in the medium to high rainfall regions consisting of Boerbased meat goats, dairy and Angora goats. Many variations of cross breeds such as Boer x rangeland breeds also exist, primarily harvested for meat production. There are apparent differences in the daily dry matter intake recommendations for all these classes of goat (*NRC* 2007) which predominantly relate to liveweight and level of productivity. The application of these recommendations in this review will be largely limited to non-rangeland goats as management of intake across a pastoral landscape is an unrealistic and impractical task.

Dry matter intake of sheep is generally predicted on a dry sheep equivalent (dse) basis to facilitate the setting of stocking rates in high rainfall areas and in the wheat-sheep zone. This can be done by assessment of the amount of dry matter on offer plus the daily pasture growth rate minus the daily intake requirements of the class of animal grazing, although most producers choose to use a simplified dse rating system. Published dse ratings assume that goats consume the same amount of feed per unit of liveweight as sheep (Vincent 2005) however the evidence for this assumption does not appear to exist.

Account also needs to be taken of other factors that restrict intake such as the water and protein content and the neutral detergent fibre (NDF) concentration of the feed on offer. Van Saun published a guide to the intake potential of small ruminants based on NDF intake capacities (<u>http://vbs.psu.edu/extension/resources-repository/publications/SRTransition.pdf</u>) which is described in Table 6. As the fibre content of the feed increases and rate of passage slows accordingly it follows that intake rate will subsequently decrease.

Forage NDF	DMI	NDF Capacity (% of LW)				
		1.2	1	0.8	0.6	
38		3.16	2.63	2.11	1.58	
42	>	2.86	2.38	1.90	1.43	
44	f LV	2.61	2.27	1.74	1.36	
46	% of LW	2.73	2.17	1.82	1.30	
50	a	2.40	2.00	1.6	1.20	
54	te as	2.22	1.85	1.48	1.11	
58	Intake	2.07	1.72	1.38	1.03	
62	<u> </u>	1.94	1.61	1.29	0.97	
66		1.82	1.52	1.21	0.91	

Table 6 Predicted dry matter intake (DMI) as a percentage of live weight related to neutral detergent fibre (NDF) intake capacity (Saun no date, no date)

#### Dry matter intake - dairy goats

Studies with dairy goat breeds provide a different picture of dry matter intake where they have higher levels of productivity per unit of liveweight than meat or fibre producing goats, and where adaptation to concentrate diets is well advanced. As for dairy cows the main objective of a daily goat production system is to maximise intake and hence milk production.



Figure 2 Maltese dairy goats (Source: <u>http://eng.agraria.org/goat/maltese.htm</u>)

Dairy goats are more likely to be offered a highly concentrated diet with a choice of feedstuffs such as grain, hay plus or minus pasture to ensure intake potential is reached. Their intake is more akin to that of rangeland goats when good seasonal conditions prevail where they are able to select a balanced ration; this is in stark contrast to goats run in more intensive grazing systems where their diet is limited to one or two pasture species.

Maltese goats, depicted in (Fedele *et al.* 2002) given a free choice diet (barley, chick peas, beet pulp, broad beans, lucerne and pasture hay) under confined conditions, increased their intake by 14% above that of goats offered *ad-libitum* lucerne hay and barley (Fedele *et al.* 2002).

Further Goetsch *et al.* (2003) reported that Alpine weaner goats (Figure 3) also demonstrated a significant increase in intake and growth rate when offered free choice concentrate and forage compared with a total mixed ration of fixed proportions (Table 7).

	Treatment				
	25%C	50%C	75%C	FC	R
Concentrate intake (g/d)	165	341	497	588	395
Forage intake (g/d)	461	300	126	115	258
Total intake (g/d)	626	641	623	704	653
DMI as % of LW (% DM)	4.0%	4.1%	3.9%	4.5%	4.1%
CP intake (g/d)	88	105	116	133	111
ME intake (MJ/d)	6.7	7.5	7.8	8.96	7.78
CP:ME intake (g/MJ)	13.1	14.0	14.9	14.8	14.3
Daily growth rate (g/d)	53	71	81	105	73
Feed conversion ratio (g gain/g DMI)	11.8	9.0	7.7	6.7	8.9

Table 7 Effects of separate offering of forage and concentrate on feed intake and growth of Alpine doeling weaners at 3.5 months of age at 15.8kg LW for 112d (adapted from Goetsch et al. 2003)

25%C – 25% concentrate, 75% forage; 50%C – 50% concentrate, 50% forage; 75%C – 75% concentrate, 25%

forage; FC - free choice concentrate and forage; R - ad-libitum forage, restricted concentrate



Figure 3 British Alpine dairy goat (Source: <u>http://www.nzdgba.co.nz/</u>)

#### Dry matter intake - goat depots

As depots are predominantly used as containment areas for goats prior to ongoing transport and as a short stay facility, the focus of nutritional management is to minimise weight loss. Nutritional management should ideally be focused on rapid adaptation to a change in feed such that high quality, palatable, legume-dominant hay should be provided. Hay of high quality would minimise electrolyte loss from transport stress and ensure that the requirements of pregnant does were met; however legume hays or straws are not likely to be readily available within reasonable distance of the locations of many depots and will tend to be expensive. The cost-efficiency of improved nutritional depot management requires further investigation.

In most situations rumen bacterial populations require at least 10 days to fully adapt to a change in diet and as the time contained in depots is often limited to 7 days (P. Lynn pers comm. October 2011), it is likely that just as much of this time would have been spent adjusting to the environment as the diet (Figure 4). The belief that goats prefer a "high fibre diet" may lead to a diet of too low a quality being provided to depot goats which may be limiting dry matter intake. The assumption that oaten hay or straw is of high quality needs to be revised as the crude protein and energy concentrations of oaten hay, in particular, in most years, will be below the maintenance requirements of mature goats.



Figure 4 Goat depot, Cobar, NSW (Source: Ausgoat, 2011)

## Dry matter intake - feedlots

To some extent feed intake can be estimated within a feedlot situation, but as a group rather than on an individual basis. Where feed is available on an *ad-libitum* basis, assessment of daily DMI is more difficult however where goats are allocated a specified amount of feed at regular intervals estimations of intake may be more reliable.

It should be noted that the nutritional recommendations in NRC (2007) rely heavily on daily intake requirements being achieved in order to provide adequate concentrations of crude protein and metabolisable energy (ME), and the assumption that underlies these requirements is that intake will not be constrained, or that where feed quality is poor, that intake will increase to compensate; this is rarely the case. This is of particular importance in relation to small ruminants such as fibre producing goats or young kids. Their intake potential is limited by their rumen capacity such that they require a diet consisting of highly concentrated nutrients.

At small body weights the perceived preference of goats for a diet high in fibre will effectively limit their ability to increase intake and hence become more productive. This may be one of the limiting factors to their survival and current growth potential, which requires further investigation.

Daily dry matter intake can vary according to the diet formulation as demonstrated by Gipson *et al.* (2007); Table 8 highlights the substantial differences in daily dry matter intake of Boer cross wethers between different feeds.

Table 8 Effect of diet (pelleted vs loose mix; concentrate vs lucerne) on feeding time, DMI, growth rate and feed conversion of meat goats (F1 and F2 Boer cross) (Gipson et al. 2007)

Diet	Pelleted conc.	Loose conc.	Pelleted lucerne	Lucerne chaff
Feeder occupancy (min): per animal &				
per day	74	130	105	132
DMI (g/min)	24.6	12.9	22	13.7
Daily DMI (kg/d)	1.79	1.67	2.04	1.7
Growth rate (g/d)	212	205	190	157
Feed conversion ratio (FCR)	8.44	8.15	10.74	10.83

Although the pelleted concentrate may have been more costly to feed, the ability to turn off kids earlier and potentially increase profit margins is an important consideration.

#### Differences in dry matter intake between sheep and goats

Interestingly sheep have often been used as the nutritional model for goats however there is sufficient evidence in the literature that there are significant differences between them. Goats are more aggressive and competitive feeders compared with sheep and this behaviour appears to increase as group size and competition for feed increases (Devendra 1989; Van *et al.* 2007).

Goats appear to adjust more readily than sheep or cattle to seasonal and geographic variation (Lu 1988) whereas sheep reportedly eat more white clover than goats (Devendra 1989). Goats in fact may be more similar to deer than sheep and cattle as their browsing and foraging behaviour appear similar (Gasparotto 2010).

According to NRC (2007) grazing ruminants, where possible, will select feed of higher digestibility, protein content and fewer secondary compounds however this is in contrast with Clark *et al.* (1982) who noted that where goats were able to select either white clover or gorse bush they ate more gorse.

Differences in shrub consumption have been reported by Rogosic et al (2006) who found that goats consumed more than twice as much foliage as sheep. Goats are thought to prefer trees and shrubs whereas sheep prefer herbs and grass (Field 1979 cited in Devendra 1989; Devendra 1989) however prior knowledge and adaptation to feed resources will influence preference. In contrast (Silanikove 1996) reported that goats and sheep grazing in Mediterranean environments exhibited a preference for browse species over more nutritious grasses in spring.

Simiane *et al.* (1981 cited in Van 2006) found that the mean intake of goats was 17% higher than sheep at 65.3 and 55.8 g DM/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup> respectively; similarly Wahed, (1987 cited in Van 2006) reported a difference of 59.6 and 76.8 g DM/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup> between sheep and goats where intake for goats exceeded that of sheep by 29%. In contrast the differences cited above may be more a factor of dietary constituents as Santra *et al.* (1998), Hadjipanayiotou (1995) and Moujahed *et al.* (2005) found no differences in intake between sheep and goats.

It is likely that any differences between sheep and goats may be related to prior experience and adaptation rather than any inherent species differences per se.

#### Seasonal patterns of voluntary feed intake

Ruminants appear to have a distinctive pattern of circadian feed intake in response to photoperiod, or changes in day length, throughout the year.

Rhind *et al.* (2002) reported the seasonality of voluntary intake in a range of ruminant species where intake increased with day length however this effect appeared to be more pronounced in temperate and Mediterranean environments and in entire males than females. As feed intake is a major driver of productivity, intake depression at any time of the year may have a negative effect on productivity.

The same authors noted the complexity of the many interactive factors influencing voluntary intake including the effect of neuropeptides, hormones and the hypothalamus, and their extensive review highlighted areas to consider for future research. These included meal patterns and intake rate; metabolic signals; seasonality of gastrointestinal structure and function; hormonal signals, their effect and regulation. Further they suggest more information should be sought on melatonin target sites, leptin and leptin receptors.

Deer reportedly exhibit a similar pattern of seasonality of feed intake to goats which is depressed in winter (Domingue *et al.* 1990) and which peaks in spring (Webster *et al.* 1999). The winter decline in feed intake appears to be associated with a decrease in prolactin activity and an increase in testosterone production. Simpson *et al.* (1984) noted a cycle of intake, gonadal activity and growth that corresponded with the cycle of day length in sheep and red deer.

lason *et al.* (1994) investigated the effect of season on voluntary intake in three breeds of sheep and reported a significantly higher intake of all breeds in summer compared with winter; however of particular interest was their finding that the Scottish Blackface and Shetland breeds of sheep that are more seasonal in their reproductive characteristics, exhibited a greater seasonal variation in voluntary feed intake.

Male and female Cashmere goats were found to exhibit significant reproductive seasonality (Walkden-Brown *et al.* 1994b) however in contrast to the previously cited studies, these researchers noted a seasonal variation in feed intake that peaked rather than declined in winter and spring.

In a subsequent study Walkden-Brown *et al.* (1994a) housed domesticated rangeland bucks, three years of age, and fed them on either a high or low plane of nutrition. Both groups demonstrated a significant decline in voluntary feed intake in opposition to the photoperiodic reproductive cycle as depicted in Figure 6 and a subsequent loss of liveweight of between 7.6% (low quality diet) and 7.8% (high quality diet).



Figure 5 Monthly average voluntary feed intake of 3 year old Cashmere bucks fed pangola grass hay (o) or pelleted lucerne (•) The dashed curve was representative of photoperiod (–) (Walkden-Brown et al. 1994a)

Domingue *et al.* (1991c) found a small but insignificant reduction in DMI in winter for both deer and goats provided with *ad-libitum* access to lucerne hay (Table 9) whereas sheep increased DMI in winter compared with summer.

	Season	Deer	Goats	Sheep	SEM
Intake (mg/kg LW <sup>0.75</sup> per day)	S	1715	1883	1556	84
	W	1450	1749	1710	92
Apparent digestibility (%)	S	67.90	70.00	69.20	0.35
	W	63.00	72.30	67.00	0.72

Table 9 Nitrogen (N) intake, excretion and balance in deer, goats and sheep fed on lucerne hay ad-libitum in summer and winter (adapted from Domingue et al. 1991c)

S = summer; W = winter

Kawas and Andrade-Montemayer (2010) attributed reduced feed intake of Spanish wether goats during winter to characteristics of feed quality and availability which appears similar to the condition of winter stasis described by Australian producers intensively managing goats in high rainfall areas.

#### Winter weight stasis

Cessation or significant slowing of liveweight gain during winter has been identified as an area of concern by Australian goat producers and was investigated by Flint and Murray (2002); unfortunately the researchers used rats as the model for goats in their approach such that the relevance of their findings to goats remains unclear.

Lightweight Cashmere doe hoggets in New Zealand on high and low planes of nutrition (McCall *et al.* 1989) were observed to enter a period of winter live weight stasis from May 2<sup>nd</sup> in 1986 and from May 29<sup>th</sup> 1987. Although the cause of this period of stasis remains unknown it may be a photoperiodic response in doe hoggets as Norton (1984) reported similar findings.

Australian goat producers (Ramsay, Martin & Ryan pers comm. May 2011; P. Schuster pers comm. June 2011) have identified "winter stasis" as a significant issue affecting the productivity of their goat production systems. They described the syndrome as a combination of endoparasite load, infection, nutritional deficiencies and low dry matter intake during cold wet weather. These producers were confident that the condition could be alleviated to some extent by feeding out cereal hay *ad-libitum*. Ramsay also stated that his goats "did badly" when grazing cereal crops during winter however this could be attributed to nitrate toxicity or mineral deficiencies and may not be related to the syndrome of "winter stasis". In the absence of pasture analyses it is difficult to draw any conclusions at this stage.

It may be that what producers describe as winter stasis is a combination of factors that limit the productivity of all grazing ruminants during winter which include the high water content of the pasture which limits dry matter intake; protein intake in excess of requirements, up to 40% in some leguminous pasture and low intake of effective fibre particularly when grazing short pasture. It may also be a factor of limited feed on offer during winter when energy requirements of small ruminants are high and in the case of goats where they have limited insulation against cold conditions. In sheep and cattle production systems these effects as described above appear to be worse for sheep than cattle.

The syndrome of excessive N intake increasing demand for energy (ME) which cannot be met due to difficulty in meeting intake requirements due to the high water content of the pasture is becoming more accepted as a realistic hypothesis to explain the poor productivity of small ruminants grazing "improved" pastures, however scientific evidence is lacking and research is clearly warranted.

## For example:

A twin-bearing Boer doe at 60kg in late pregnancy requires 1.68kg DM per day, 13.43 MJ ME per day and 178grams of crude protein (NRC 2007).

Average nutritive value of high quality winter clover/perennial grass pasture:

- Dry matter content 14%
- Crude protein 28%
- ME 10.5

The doe must eat 1.27kg DM pasture to meet energy requirements; however at 14% DM she will need to consume 9 kg of wet pasture to achieve a dry matter intake of 1.27kg. Due to the space occupied by twin foetus' it is unlikely she will eat this amount.

Every kilogram of pasture consumed will provide 280g of crude protein so to meet daily protein demand she only requires 635 g DM.

Therefore if she reaches her daily DM target she will consume 470g crude protein, 292g in excess of requirements and if she falls short of 1.27 kg DMI per day she will be deficient of energy.

#### Influence of preference, selection and grazing behaviour on dry matter intake

Goats have been described by Sidahmed *et al.* (1983) as adaptive mixed feeders or mixed foragers (NRC 2007) that demonstrate seasonal differences in diet selection. There is general agreement among researchers that they are more selective than sheep (McGregor 2000) and appear more ecologically adapted to browse species with their split and mobile upper lip (Lu 1988), narrow pointed muzzle (Gordon and Illius 1988) and ability to stand on their hind legs.

These characteristics also enable goats to select the highest quality material from the pasture mix available (Poore and Luginbuhl 2002). Goats have evolved to consume a wide range of plant species both thorny and bitter and as such can effectively be employed to assist in weed management programs. Holst *et al.* (2004) observed that goats effectively grazed Scotch broom (Figure 6) at a plant density of 4% of ground cover but were less effective at 10% cover. Reliance on goats alone for weed control may not be effective with all plant species as 8% of broom seeds remained viable following ingestion.



Figure 6 Cytisus scoparius - Scotch broom (Source: <u>www.google.com;</u> PA Graham) Many weeds are high in NV particularly during the vegetative stage however weeds such as Scotch broom, artichoke and nodding thistles appear to increase in palatability more toward flowering (Holst *et al.* 2004).

Preference for forages appears to be driven predominantly by familiarity, smell and taste such that positive feedback from ingestion and subsequent digestion enhances ongoing consumption of particular forages.

Dumont *et al.* (1995) observed that goats were more selective in their grazing habits early in the day with a preference for browse over grass with the peak grazing activity period of Boer goats noted by Gipson (in Goetsch *et al.* 2010) to be at 0900 and 1400 hours. Van *et al.* (2005) reported that goats offered foliage hanging from a wall had increased dry matter intakes than those offered leaves fed via troughing; this finding was supported by Dziba *et al.* (2003b) who noted that although intake was similar between breeds (Boer vs Nguni), the height of the feed on offer had a significant effect on intake. In feeding trials with Boer cross wether goat kids Patterson *et al.* (2009) reported an increase in selectivity and refusals as the crude protein of the feed on offer declined; kids demonstrated preferential selection in favour of crude protein and NDF but against ADF.

Observations of the Outback Lakes SA in assessment of preference of grazing animals for arid plant species observed that preference changed with stage of growth (Jolly 2009). Similar observations were also made by Belovsky *et al.* (1999) who reported a positive relationship between DMI rate and preference for browse species. Pastoralists in the Lake Eyre region of South Australia reported that Buckbush (*Salsola kali*) was eaten readily from seedling through to reproductive stages of growth, but during seedset and dormancy, the species was not preferred by cattle or horses (Figure 7).





Swamp canegrass (*Eragrostis australasica*) was sought out readily by cattle and horses at all stages of growth (Figure 8) through to senescence however once dormant it was no longer preferentially grazed (Jolly 2009).



Figure 8 Swamp canegrass at various stages of growth– Dulkaninna Station, Birdsville Track, SA

Further observations of preferential selection of plant species by sheep and cattle were made in northern South Australia during an extended period of drought which revealed that most species were eaten readily (Figure 9) with the exception of some species of wattle which were only eaten as a last resort. The chemical diversity of plants may be influencing diet selection (Rogosic *et al.* 2008) such that animals are better able to avoid toxins and meet nutritional requirements.



Figure 9 Class of plant and species preferentially grazed in the Outback lakes region of SA (Helby, 2009)

Goats grazing in high rainfall intensive pasture systems have less opportunity to differentiate between species than in a range environment however McGregor (2000) noted that goats, although flexible and selective grazers, have a preference for green grass when it is available.

Goats run in pasture-based systems prefer grazing clover in the morning and grasses in the afternoon whereas bush goats have been observed to prefer grasses in the morning and bushes and shrubs in the afternoon (Solanki 1994).

Daily dry matter intake of Cashmere goats and Scottish Blackface sheep (Hadjigeorgiou *et al.* 2003) was positively correlated with preference for both ryegrass hay and barley straw; preference was negatively correlated with ADF and NDF. Fedele *et al.* (2002) noted that Maltese dairy goats offered free choice hay and concentrate diets demonstrated a preference for the concentrate portion of the ration over lucerne and wheaten hay.

Dry matter intake may be a factor of time spent grazing where breed differences have been reported (Fedele V 1993; Aharon H 2007; Beker *et al.* 2009); Forbes and Provenza (2000) attributed this difference to unfamiliarity with browse species. Aharon *et al.* (2007) observed that Boer goats grazed a greater diversity of plant species than indigenous goats and appeared to have a difference in preference across browse species. Indigenous goats spent 44% of observed daylight time grazing herbaceous species whereas Boer goats selected the same species for only 22% of the time.

#### Dietary choice and dry matter intake

Maltese dairy goats offered a free choice ration in late pregnancy (Fedele *et al.* 2002) were observed to increase intake of crude protein (12.6->16.4%CP), decrease their intake of starch (33.3->31%) as pregnancy advanced, and maintain the NDF concentration of their diet at 40%. However once lactation commenced, the chemical composition of the diet selected was reversed such that the crude protein decreased by up to four percentage units, starch intake increased by 2-3 percentage units and the NDF remained unchanged.

Manteca *et al.* (2008) proposed the theory that although diets presented to grazing animals are in most situations abundant and nutritious, that monocultures often contain toxins (phalaris; brassicas) and excesses of certain nutrients (clover; lucerne), they do not necessarily promote animal welfare.

As interactions occur between nutrients and toxins the various components of a diet can influence the intake of the total diet. Rangelands rich in diversity provide goats with the opportunity to select a diet that not only meets requirements but also minimises the amount of toxins ingested. As goats select the most highly digestible nutrients as a priority it follows that in prolonged dry seasons the presence and persistence of the most nutritious species is likely to be the most limiting factor to intake, productivity and hence welfare.

It is likely that rangeland goats have adapted well to their diverse diet and have also developed a level of "immunity" to many of the toxins present in the most persistent plant species and it is therefore suggested that successful adaptation of goats to a more intensive management system and monocultural diet may take many generations to achieve.

It is apparent that ruminants seek diet diversity even when nutrient requirements are met (Provenza 1996) and that aversions by animals are observed whether the feed contains toxins or is highly digestible. Provenza *et al.* (2003) noted that selective grazing allowed animals to better meet their nutrient requirements and regulate their intake of toxins.

Continuous grazing at low stocking densities, a common practice in Australia's rangelands, leads to a reduction in diet diversity due to the most highly nutritious species being preferentially grazed, allowing the less preferred species to become dominant. An increase in stocking density and grazing for short periods with long periods of rest encourages species diversity (Provenza *et al.* 2003).

#### Influence of secondary compounds on dry matter intake

Shrubs containing secondary compounds can have an adverse impact on animal health and productivity and a negative effect on organic matter intake (Rogosic *et al.* 2008). These plants are the dominant species across the arid lands of the world and have evolved with protective mechanisms against grazing pressure in order to survive.

Plant secondary compounds (PSC) include chemicals such as alkaloids, oxalates, glycosides and tannins. Effects of ingestion of PSC can negatively affect animal productivity and range from reduced weight gain to death and include reduction in intake, poisoning and bloat, abortion and interference with reproductive function. Flavonoid phenolic compounds directly interact with phytoestrogens and induce infertility similar to that seen with oestrogenic clovers (McDonald 1981).

Legume forages high in carbohydrates and protein may contain cyanogenic glycosides which will reduce intake (Provenza *et al.* 2003); white clover contains cyanogenic compounds and endophyte-infected tall fescue produces alkaloids (Thompson and Stuedemann 1993) which reduce the palatability of these species to grazing animals.

Fedele *et al.* (2005) investigated the presence of secondary metabolites in commonly grazed pasture species including ryegrass, medics and vetch and found that alcohols and ketones were the most prevalent compounds found in leaves during winter and spring. Concentration of volatile compounds increased as the plant developed with the monoterpenes being more abundant in winter and the sesquiterpenes in spring foliage.

Tannins, terpenes and saponins include the most common secondary compounds found in Mediterranean shrublands (Rogosic *et al.* 2008) where much of the goat nutrition research has been undertaken. Terpene compounds present in some browse species cause a reduction in palatability and appear to inhibit growth of rumen bacteria (Oh *et al.* 1968) and hence decrease the efficiency of protein digestion (Barbehenn and Constabel 2011).

Condensed tannins reduce carbohydrate fermentation and decrease fatty acid and ammonia production (Martinez *et al.* 2006); the nature of protein complexes changes the rate of starch digestion (Muir 2011). Tannins reduce the availability of minerals (Faithful 1984) such as iron and copper. When grazing salt tolerant plants such as some of the Atriplex spp., secondary compounds such as tannins and oxalates, betaine and proline appear to be absorbed but do not contribute to ME intake (Masters *et al.* 2001).

Secondary compounds serve to protect plants from overgrazing in many instances however some compounds ingested at low concentrations such as condensed tannins may potentially provide grazing animals with nutritional benefits. Condensed tannins are found in higher concentrations in herbaceous plants with long lived leaves (Muir 2011) and the lowest concentrations in rain-responsive desert annuals (Muir *et al.* 2009).

Condensed tannins (CT) are large molecules that bind to and precipitate proteins (Silanikove 1996; Muir 2011) and as such increase protein-use efficiency; condensed tannins also bind carbohydrates by inactivation of enzymatic activity in the digestive tract and have a negative effect on palatability, due to astringency and digestibility (Silanikove 1996). In contrast Austin *et al.* (1989) observed that the palatability of plants for goats appeared to be independent of CT concentration and suggested the proline-rich saliva of goats may negate the effects of CT.

It appears that goats can reasonably ingest 1.1-2.7 g/kg LW per day condensed tannins and 0.4-0.9 g/kg LW per day of soluble phenolics with no ill effects; goats fed tannin-rich browse (10-23g/head/day) did not exhibit any difference in metabolite concentrations which are sensitive indicators of damage to liver and kidneys, compared with those fed a cereal based diet. (Silanikove *et al.* 1996). CT concentrations in excess of 6% can depress DMI however levels between 2-4% can stimulate intake (Wang *et al.* 1996). Tannin concentrations above 5% have

been reported as reducing dry matter intake (Rogosic *et al.* 2008) and inhibiting enzymatic function (McLeod 1974).

As tannin concentrations in feeds are rarely reported, the practical application of this information may be limited, however it may provide an indication as to why some species are preferentially grazed and promote positive welfare benefits such as protection against parasite infestation, and why others are avoided.

Adaptation to a diet rich in tannins is reportedly an evolutionary process however Silanikove (1996) hypothesises that the rangeland goats' ability to detoxify tannins is linked to their capacity to efficiently digest lignin with both being phenolic compounds.

Muir (2011) questions if goats have adapted to CT or have plants developed CT as a protective mechanism from grazing animals however it may be a more likely hypothesis that plants developed CT to protect against insect invasion.

When lambs select feeds containing nitrates and or oxalates, they consume greater amounts of the feeds containing one of the compounds and less of feed containing both (Burritt and Provenza 1998). Villalba *et al.* (2011) reported that lambs appear to reduce their intake of plant secondary compounds by altering their foraging behaviour to avoid over ingestion of single compounds. Laycock (1974) hypothesised that adaptations of herbivores included a diversity of diet such that high levels of one toxin were avoided. Additional adaptive behaviour included the detection and avoidance of toxic plant species and an inherent ability to detoxify secondary compounds. Interestingly Laycock also noted that the ability of herbivores to effectively co-exist with poisonous plants varied across species, and appeared to be more apparent in species that were born into the environment.

It has been reported that goats appear to be able to more effectively detoxify secondary plant compounds than either sheep or cattle however the process of transformation and excretion of plant toxins may result in a depletion of amino acids and glucose (Foley et *al.* 1995).

It is apparent that certain toxins have complementary requirements for detoxification; for example sheep eat more sagebrush when supplemented with a protein source rather than a high energy supplement (Villalba *et al.* 2002). However supplements high in soluble carbohydrates appear to lower rumen pH which may subsequently inhibit detoxification (Provenza *et al.* 2003). Plant secondary compounds reduce energy availability and hence increase ME requirements (Kawas *et al.* 2010) of grazing ruminants, such that where appropriate, it is likely that productivity will increase in response to supplementation with molasses or cereal grains. It should be noted however that there have been anecdotal reports of thiamine (Vitamin B1) deficiency in sheep supplemented with molasses when grazing saltbushes.

Some positive effects of secondary plant compounds include the potential to increase intake due to detoxification of one compound by the other (Rogosic *et al.* 2008). Martinez *et al.* (2006) found that condensed tannins reduced the fermentation rate of wheat starch compared with corn starch and concluded CT could potentially play a role in the prevention of acidosis under feedlot conditions (Muir 2011). This proposal may have merit and is worthy of further investigation.

Polyethylene glycol (PEG), charcoal and calcium hydroxide have been added to the diet of ruminants grazing tanniferous diets with some success as PEG binds with tannins and diminishes their negative effects (Provenza 2006). Henkin *et al.* (2009) supplemented beef

cattle with PEG and observed an increase in their utilisation of shrub species known to contain high concentrations of tannins.

Inclusion of PEG in drinking water supplied to goats at 0.15% of liveweight was sufficient to inactivate the effects of tannins associated with Arctostaphylos spp. at 23% condensed tannins (Narvaez et al. 2011); however different concentrations of PEG that may be required according to the tannin level of browse species remain unclear. As recently published research (Belenguer et al. 2011) raises questions about the innocence of PEG to the rumen bacterial populations, it may be that PEG does not move beyond an academic consideration in terms of goat nutrition research. In addition, PEG is an expensive commodity and despite the above research outcomes it is unlikely to be cost-effectively implemented on a commercial scale.

Activated charcoal has been shown to reduce absorption of plant secondary compounds (Estell 2010) and to increase intake of shrubs as species diversity declined (Rogosic *et al.* 2006). Further calcium hydroxide can alleviate the effects of plant toxins (Rogosic *et al.* 2008) however as for PEG, it is unlikely that these products would be commercially viable options to increase dry matter intake of shrubs in a rangeland environment. Should the establishment of shrub species in more intensively grazed environments, as is currently being investigated by the Future Farm Industries CRC, be increasingly adopted, these supplementation strategies may become a more realistic option to improve dry matter intake.



Figure 10 Boer goat carcases (Courtesy: G. Reimers 2011)

#### Nutritive value of rangeland plant species

Although it has been suggested that goats are highly adapted to the often hostile pastoral environment, they tend to respond in much the same way as any grazing animal to adverse

seasonal conditions. The number of goats harvested from the rangelands varies according to seasonal conditions such that it must be assumed that the fertility of the breeding doe declines, and kid mortality increases in line with a decline in feed quality. However it is clear that goats have a unique ability to harvest the most highly nutritious components of plant material which in combination with their suggested capacity to modify and absorb lignin and detoxify plant secondary compounds, makes them ideally suited to the rangeland environment.

The nutritive value (NV) of all pastoral plant species varies widely across regions, between and within species and on a seasonal basis and the analytical methods currently in use for determination of digestibility and hence ME remain the subject of research and are far from settled.

Caution should be exercised in relation to the interpretation of published NV's as conversion equations from dry matter digestibility (DMD) and dry organic matter digestibility to ME have changed in recent years and is unlikely to be consistent between laboratories. Further the publication of single values for any nutrient should be disregarded due to the variation of NV's over time and location as previously described.

Shrub species in particular require an associated description with the NV such as leaf or stem or leaf plus 2mm stem to facilitate a quantifiable evaluation of the accuracy of the result, but importantly it is imperative that the part of the plant that is preferentially eaten is the one that is analysed for NV. A guide to the NV of a range of pastoral plant species can be found in Appendix 6.

Nutritive value data was collected of commonly grazed rangeland species between 2003 and 2008 by groups of pastoralists in the South Australian arid lands (CNEFAP, 2004; Outback Lakes Group, 2008). Dry organic matter digestibility (DOMD) ranged from 32.8%-73.2% with a median value across 200 samples of 61.1%. This contrasted with previously published data (McDonald and Ternouth 1979) where DOMD results for a range of browse species ranged from 29.7% - 67% . DOMD of 9 samples of Salsoli kali (Buckbush) analysed from the South Australian rangelands (range: 53.6-75.7%; median 60%) compared well with the average DOMD across 9 samples from Western Queensland (McDonald and Ternouth 1979).

Far greater differences were apparent between DOMD analyses of Acacia aneura (Mulga) from the Oodnadatta region of South Australia (range 50.5-53.2%; median 50.8%) compared with Western Queensland at an average value of 27.9% (McDonald and Ternouth 1979).

#### Nutritional management strategies

The nutritional management of rangeland goats appears limited to the implementation of grazing management strategies that maintain the biodiversity of plant species available as a feed resource for goat production. Identification by pastoralists and land managers of key indicator species, that is, species that goats preferentially graze, and their patterns of nutritive value will enable pastoralists to develop destocking policies which preserve biodiversity and optimise their goat production systems. It is important also that pastoralists are familiar with the botanical names of indicator species as many people refer to the same species by a different name; confusion can result when assessing the NV of indicator species if pastoralists and advisers are using different terminology.

This is likely to be the most practical and realistic management tool however additional retrospective tools such as monitoring the nutritive value of trapped goats' diet using faecal sampling (FNIRS) can also be implemented as a method of detecting a decline in diet quality. Measurement of forage yield across seasons and estimations of intake have been suggested by Norton (1984) as useful guidelines to assist in setting stocking rates.

Monitoring of body condition of harvested and released goats during yarding will provide an additional indication of nutritional status of rangeland goats.

Management of goat nutrition in a rangeland environment can only extend to:

- familiarisation of the seasonal change in nutritive value of key plant species
- identification of indicator species for early destocking and biodiversity and animal welfare purposes
- monitoring of body condition of drafts of goats when trapping or mustering
- analysis of faecal NIRS to determine current plane of nutrition (Landau et al. 2006)

#### Dry matter intake requirements of goats

The daily dry matter intake requirement of goats varies with breed, sex, class, stage of productivity, level of milk production, required level of weight gain, prospective birth weight of kids and growth potential. Dry matter intake where feeding is controlled can be adjusted according to the nutrient density of the diet to meet daily requirements for ME, crude protein, fibre, vitamins and minerals; however in an *ad-libitum* feeding situation goats cannot be relied upon to limit their intake where feed quality is high nor to increase intake to compensate for low quality feed on offer.

Recommendations for daily intake requirements of goats abound – from many internet sources (Appendix 1), university and goat websites to scientific, peer reviewed publications.

Where recommendations refer specifically to tropical goat production, they have not been incorporated into this review except in consideration of the NRC (1981) "Nutrient Requirements of Goats: Angora, Dairy and Meat Goats in Temperate and Tropical Countries". This publication has underpinned many of the published requirements and formed the basis of feeding experiments from 1981 until a significant review of goat nutrition resulted in the publication of NRC (2007).

Whilst there are alternative publications such as CSIRO (2007) and the Agriculture and Food Research Council (AFRC 1993), NRC is the most widely used set of nutrient requirements internationally due to their clarity and ease of implementation. Prior to publication of NRC (2007), international nutrition scientists reviewed the recent literature in order to compile a set of recommendations. An Australian member of the editorial committee for CSIRO (2007) was also a contributing author to NRC (2007) such that it might be assumed that there were some synergies between both publications.

Recommendations for dry matter intake requirements are largely based on intake as a percentage of body weight or live weight which varies significantly between genotypes of the same age (Table 10).

NRC (1981), while acknowledging that very little nutritional research specific to goats was available at the time of publication, placed a high level of importance on the effect of level of activity on intake requirements of goats, whereas NRC (2007) has largely refuted these
recommendations due to a lack of supporting data. Comparison of the two data sets is quite difficult as NRC (1981) includes an activity rating and bases DMI requirements on two different dietary ME concentrations. These concentrations allow for differences in pasture or dietary ME density.

Breed	Genotype	Mature Wt (kgs)	Author
Alpine (France)	Dairy	80-90	Fehr et al. (1976) cited by McGregor (1985)
Anglo-Nubian	Dual purpose	80-90	Going Into Goats (2006)
Angora	Fibre	60-80	Going Into Goats (2006)
Angora (Texas/Australia)	Fibre	50-60	Shelton & Huston (1966) cited by McGregor (1985)
Barbari (India)	Meat	35-45	Singh et al. (1980) cited by McGregor (1985)
Boer	Meat	100-110	Going Into Goats (2006)
Boer doe	Meat	60	Blackburn (1995)
Boer - Improved (Sth Africa)	Meat	100-110	Campbell cited by Naude & Hofmeyr (1981) cited by McGregor (1985)
Condoblin	Rangeland	80-100	Going Into Goats (2006)
Damascus (Cyprus)	Dairy	80-90	Louca et al. (1977) cited by McGregor (1985)
Kalahari	Desert	100-110	Going Into Goats (2006)
Kambing/Katjang (Malaysia & Indonesia)	Meat	25-30	Devendra (1967) cited by McGregor (1985)
Rangeland	Rangeland	45-80	Going Into Goats (2006)
Rangeland (Australia)	Rangeland	45-55	McGregor et al. (1982) cited by McGregor (1985)
Spanish doe	Meat	45	Blackburn (1995)
Saanan	Dairy	90-100	Going Into Goats (2006)
Saanen (Britain, Australia)	Dairy	90-100	McGregor (1980) cited by McGregor (1985)

Table 10 Mature liveweights of goat breeds in the literature

Intake requirements as recommended by NRC (1981) for goats at maintenance plus activity at a range of liveweights where the ME density of the diet is 8.37 MJ ME per kg DM are summarised in Table 11.

Similarly daily DMI based on a dietary ME density of 10.04MJ.kg DM with increasing allowances for activity above maintenance is presented in Table 12. Three activity ratings are equally applied to both sets of requirements. Where feed intake is controlled, such as in a feedlot or dairy, it may be reasonable to formulate rations to an ME concentration and control intake, however, under paddock conditions where the ME of the diet is likely to be closer to 10, the recommendations in Table 12 may be a more appropriate guide to requirements.

		Activity level										
					Low			Mediun	n		High	
LW	٨	/laintenar	nce		25%			50%		75%		
Kg	Kg	% LW	MJ/d	Kg	%LW	MJ/d	Kg	%LW	MJ/d	Kg	%LW	MJ/d
10	0.28	2.8%	2.34	0.36	3.6%	3.01	0.43	4.3%	3.60	0.50	5.0%	4.19
20	0.48	2.4%	4.02	0.60	3.0%	5.02	0.72	3.6%	6.03	0.84	4.2%	7.03
30	0.65	2.2%	5.44	0.81	2.7%	6.78	0.98	3.3%	8.20	1.14	3.8%	9.54
40	0.81	2.0%	6.78	1.01	2.5%	8.45	1.21	3.0%	10.13	1.41	3.5%	11.80
50	0.95	1.9%	7.95	1.19	2.4%	9.96	1.43	2.9%	11.97	1.67	3.3%	13.98
60	1.09	1.8%	9.12	1.36	2.3%	11.38	1.64	2.7%	13.73	1.92	3.2%	16.07
70	1.23	1.8%	10.30	1.54	2.2%	12.89	1.84	2.6%	15.40	2.14	3.1%	17.91
80	1.36	1.7%	11.38	1.70	2.1%	14.23	2.03	2.5%	16.99	2.37	3.0%	19.84
90	1.48	1.6%	12.39	1.85	2.1%	15.48	2.22	2.5%	18.58	2.59	2.9%	21.68
100	1.60	1.6%	13.39	2.00	2.0%	16.74	2.41	2.4%	20.17	2.81	2.8%	23.52

Table 11 Dry matter intake (kg/d) recommended for goats at maintenance and three levels of activity (low, medium and high) at a dietary ME concentration of 8.37 MJ/kg DM (adapted from NRC 1981)

Table 12 Dry matter intake (kg/d) recommended for goats at maintenance and three levels of activity (low, medium and high) at a dietary ME concentration of 10.04 MJ/kg DM (adapted from NRC 1981)

	Activity level											
					Low			Mediun	n		High	1
LW	٨	<b>Aaintena</b> r	nce		25%			50%			75%	<u>;</u>
Kg	Кд	% LW	MJ/d	Kg	%LW	MJ/d	Kg	%LW	MJ/d	Kg	%LW	MJ/d
10	0.24	2.4%	2.41	0.30	3.0%	3.01	0.36	3.6%	3.61	0.42	4%	4.22
20	0.40	2.0%	4.02	0.50	2.5%	5.02	0.60	3.0%	6.02	0.70	4%	7.03
30	0.54	1.8%	5.42	0.67	2.2%	6.73	0.81	2.7%	8.13	0.95	3%	9.54
40	0.67	1.7%	6.73	0.84	2.1%	8.43	1.01	2.5%	10.14	1.18	3%	11.85
50	0.79	1.6%	7.93	0.99	2.0%	9.94	1.19	2.4%	11.95	1.39	3%	13.96
60	0.91	1.5%	9.14	1.14	1.9%	11.45	1.37	2.3%	13.75	1.60	3%	16.06
70	1.02	1.5%	10.24	1.28	1.8%	12.85	1.53	2.2%	15.36	1.79	3%	17.97
80	1.13	1.4%	11.35	1.41	1.8%	14.16	1.69	2.1%	16.97	1.98	2%	19.88
90	1.23	1.4%	12.35	1.54	1.7%	15.46	1.85	2.1%	18.57	2.16	2%	21.69
100	1.34	1.3%	13.45	1.67	1.7%	16.77	2.01	2.0%	20.18	2.34	2%	23.49

Providing the ME density of the feed on offer is equivalent to a total of 8 ME, either in the paddock or as a formulated ration, the total daily DMI and energy requirement per NRC, 2007 for mature, non-dairy does have not changed significantly from NRC, 1981 for maintenance alone (Table 13); however there is no additional ME allowance for activity in these recommendations which is likely to be unrealistic for grazing goats.

Class – age	Breed	Class – production	LW	Fibre growth g/d	DMI % of LW	DMI kg/d	ME MJ/kg
Mature doe	Dairy	Maintenance	50		2.36	1.18	8.0
			60		2.25	1.35	8.0
			70		2.17	1.52	8.0
	Non-dairy	Maintenance	50		1.99	1.00	8.0
			60		1.90	1.14	8.0
			70		1.83	1.28	8.0
			80		1.77	1.42	8.0
	Angora	Maintenance	40	10	2.99	1.20	7.6
			50	10	2.76	1.38	7.6
			60	10	2.58	1.55	7.6

Table 13 Dry matter intake requirements (% of LW & kg/d) for three goat genotypes at maintenance, with an ME density of 7.6-8.0 ME (adapted from NRC 2007)

The NRC (1981) nutrient requirements for goats were largely based on treadmill studies according to Lachica *et al.* (1997) and on distances travelled by sheep across a slope (ARC 1980). Sahlu *et al.* (2004) suggests that access to grazing while walking may confound the increase in energy requirements attributed to walking long distances which is the basis for the lack of accounting for activity. There appears to be merit in the application of an activity factor to the maintenance requirements of goats in particular when grazing pastures under conditions of sparse vegetative cover. This will be discussed in more detail in the following section.

The reportedly suboptimal productivity of domesticated meat goats, particularly in high rainfall environments, would indicate that urgent validation of these recommendations is required to underpin the potential growth of the intensive meat goat industry.

# Conclusion

There are many recommendations for the nutrient requirements of goats however most of these publications have been reviewed as a component of NRC (2007); AFRC (1998) acknowledges that there was little research available on goats at the time of publication and CSIRO (2007) contains few references specific to goats.

Prediction or assessment of dry matter intake is a critically important component of ensuring the nutrient requirements of goats are met on a daily basis. The most comprehensive set of nutritional guidelines for goats was published by NRC in 2007 where the supply of nutrients such as protein and ME to the goat, are predominantly driven by an assumed level of dry matter intake. Thus the factors influencing intake require consideration when formulating diets for confined goats or when assessing the provision of nutrients from grazed pastures.

Predictions of intake within a rangeland environment are more difficult and seldom considered; however new technology such as faecal NIRS offers a method of estimation of the diet grazed by ruminants in range country for those who might want to avail themselves of this technology.

Retrospective measures of intake such as body condition score can be monitored at each mustering; this is usually done on a visual basis. The intake of rangeland goats is more likely to be significantly influenced by selection, preference and the presence of secondary compounds in plant material. As the more palatable or indicator plant species decline so productivity diminishes accordingly. Supplementary measures to alleviate the effects of secondary compounds are unlikely to be practical or cost-effective in pastoral areas. It is the responsibility of pastoralists, as well as in their best interests, to reduce goat populations and/or grazing pressure as key indicator species decline.

Assessment of feed on offer in pasture-based intensive environments is a simpler task and where stocking rates are high, prediction of daily dry matter intake is an important component of grazing management. Intake of goats confined within depots and feedlots requires monitoring, and consideration of NDF as a key to intake must be accounted for by producers and managers and their advisors.

Winter weight stasis has been raised by industry personnel as a significant factor limiting the productivity of goats however there is scant and variable supporting evidence of this phenomenon in the published literature. This issue requires investigation and quantification.

Offering goats a choice of feeds to increase intake has, as for sheep and lambs, produced a positive response in intake however the practicality and cost-effectiveness of such a measure other than in a goat dairy have not been clarified.

The intake requirements for goats have been extensively reviewed; the majority of published recommendations prior to 2007 have been based on NRC (1981). Comparison of more recent publications with NRC (1981) is difficult as all recommendations in that publication were assigned an "activity" rating where requirements were increased with an increasing level of unspecified activity. NRC (2007) requirements have largely been based on the recommendations of Sahlu *et al.* (2004) where all reference to activity has been removed on the basis that goats are likely to have access to feed while grazing and hence walking, unlike dairy cows that might be walking on laneways.

Before the nutrient requirements of NRC (2007) for dry matter intake can be implemented, these recommendations require validation.

#### Recommendations

- Clarify the dry matter intake requirements of all classes and genotypes of goat
- Determine the appropriateness or otherwise of the application of an activity rating for grazing goats
- Ensure pastoralists are familiar with their key indicator species and how to monitor their decline
- Ensure goat producers and managers of depots and intensive operations understand how to assess dry matter intake such that nutrient intake can be adjusted if dry matter intake is sub-optimal
- Investigate the phenomenon of winter stasis as a priority such that remedial measures can be implemented

# Energy requirements of goats

The energy content of the diet can be best described as the amount of energy released as a result of fermentation of dietary components by rumen microbes. Metabolisable energy (ME) is the energy available for maintenance, activity, milk production, pregnancy and weight gain. Energy is expressed as megajoules per day (MJ/d) or as megajoules per kilogram of dry matter (MJ/kg DM) referred to as energy density such that energy availability is determined by the amount of kilograms of feed ingested.

Daily energy demand increases with increased levels of productivity, however factors such as heat and cold stress, transport stress, shearing, disease and high salt intakes are certain to increase demand, but the degree of increase required for goats or differences among genotypes, has yet to be quantified. Estell (2010) hypothesised that ME requirements of rangeland goats may increase to facilitate detoxification of plant secondary metabolites and to allow for increased distances travelled in search of nutritious species. Under favourable seasonal conditions it is likely that rangeland goats select the most nutritious components of the plant species on offer in an effort to meet energy requirements; however where the range country is reduced to predominantly halophytic shrubs, energy requirements to sustain multiple pregnancies are unlikely to be met.

Small ruminants balance their relatively high energy requirements with an ability to increase voluntary intake of feeds higher in nutritive value as feeds high in cellulolytic fibre are bioenergetically inefficient. This creates a conundrum as both sheep and goats prefer a dietary NDF concentration of 40% which, unless the fibre source is highly digestible, will potentially limit total ME intake particularly of small ruminants. Caution should be exercised when assuming that ME intake from ingestion of low quality feeds can be overcome by an increase in dry matter intake, as this is often not the case.



Figure 11 Seasonal change in metabolisable energy (ME) of a range of pasture species under irrigation and rotationally grazed by dairy cows at Meningie, SA (Jolly, unpublished data)

When formulating diets for confined goats the aim is to meet daily nutrient requirements for ME; if the dietary intake is controlled or restricted it is important to ensure ME requirements are met and that intake rate is able to be achieved to that end. However where rations are made available to goats on an *ad-libitum* basis it is necessary to monitor daily intake of ration components to ensure that ME requirements are being met but not exceeded in order to constrain costs. There is general acceptance that maintenance of body condition and herd productivity is dependent on the amount of energy available from intake and digestion of the dry matter (Sachdeva *et al.* 1973) however the growth and milk production responses to ME intake alone appear less well defined.

Domesticated goats have high levels of productivity relative to their body weight and therefore require a diet high in ME density (Poore and Luginbuhl 2002). In southern Australia pasture quality remains high for a limited period despite the pasture appearing to be "green". ME concentration begins to decline from the onset of spring in most areas (Figure 11) as plants move toward their reproductive phase.



Figure 12 Oldman saltbush (Atriplex nummularia) Carrieton, SA

Salt intakes reportedly decrease energy use efficiency which Arieli *et al.* (1989) attributed to mineral metabolism in the rumen. ME values based on dry matter digestibility may not be indicative of the digestible plant material as up to 30% of the dry matter can be minerals which do not contribute to the energy value (Masters *et al.* 2007). Grazing animals absorb secondary compounds such as tannins, oxalates, betaine and proline from halophytic saltbushes; these compounds also do not contribute to ME intake (Masters *et al.* 2001) but require energy for the metabolic process of digestion and hence increase total ME requirement.

The degree to which the provision of shade and shelter alleviates an increase in ME demand for all classes of goat requires clarification. It has been suggested that an increase in  $ME_m$  requirement of between 7-25% may be required under conditions of heat stress (NRC 2007). Although the effects of heat and cold stress can be modulated by body condition, fibre length and time of shearing (NRC 2007), Boer producers report winter mortality rates of pre-weaned kids of up to 40% as being the norm. This would imply that despite access to high quality pastures, energy available for late pregnancy and lactation may have been suboptimal.

Ruminants tend to reduce feed intake under conditions of heat stress and to reduce metabolic heat production, however feed digestibility and hence the availability of ME is reduced under conditions of cold stress due to an increased rate of passage of feed through the digestive system (NRC 2007). Both of these metabolic responses are likely to result in ME intakes below requirements unless the feed on offer is of high quality.

# Inclusion of an activity allowance in nutrient requirements

Maintenance energy requirements when practically applied should account for "normal" activity of the grazing ruminant. These requirements are likely to increase significantly for domesticated goats grazing in hilly terrain or in the rangelands under prolonged dry conditions. Sahlu *et al.* (2004) suggested the energy cost per hour spent grazing plus walking was 5% per hour. CSIRO (1990) recommended an increase in daily ME intake for activity of 10-20% above that required for confined ruminants, and up to a 50% increase under extensive grazing conditions. Lachica and Aguilera (2003) proposed that "free-ranging" goats' energy requirements exceeded those of confined goats, however NRC (2007) and Sahlu *et al.* (2004) have suggested that further validation is required prior to adoption of these recommendations.

NRC (1981) published nutrient requirement tables for goats under conditions of minimal, low, medium and high activity where the following definitions apply:

- Minimal 25% above maintenance
  - Intensive management
  - o Tropical range
  - o Early pregnancy
- Medium 50% above maintenance
  - Semi-arid rangeland
  - o Slightly hilly pastures
  - o Early pregnancy
- High 75% above maintenance
  - Arid rangeland
  - Sparse vegetation
  - Mountainous pastures
  - Early pregnancy

Where energy expenditure has been reported it has varied widely. Lachica *et al.* (1999) found that goats travelling between 8.1-12.8 km, had expenditure 32-47% of an assumed ME<sub>m</sub> of 401kJ/kg LW <sup>0.75</sup>; however under similar conditions in a previous study, Lachica *et al.* (1997) had determined energy expenditure at 9-14% above an assumed maintenance requirement of 443kJ/kg LW <sup>0.75</sup>

In further work, Lachica and Aguilera (2003) reported the energy expenditure of pasture-based, yearling crossbred Boer goats with limited movement during summer was 43% of ME<sub>m</sub>.

Energy expenditure is influenced by pasture availability and increases with stocking rate. Investigation by Lachica and Aguilera (2003) of pasture-based yearling crossbred goats at low and high stocking rates, observed that at high stocking rates energy expenditure was 50% of maintenance and with high pasture availability 24% of  $ME_m$ .

CSIRO (2007) have provided recommended allowances for the energy expenditure of grazing ruminants based on calorimetric studies (CSIRO 2007) which are tabulated in Table 14 below.

The earlier work of Lachica and Aguilera (2003) highlights the marked effect that the physical form of the diet has on the energy cost of eating as detailed in Table 15. The longer the fibre the higher the energy cost of eating.

Activity	Energy cost per kg LW
Standing (compared with lying)	10 kj/d
Changing body position	0.26 kj
Walking - horizontal	2.6 kj/km
Walking - vertical	28 kj/km
Eating - prehension & chewing	2.5 kj/h
Ruminating	2 kj/h

Table 14 Energy cost of various physical activities by ruminant animals per kg liveweight (CSIRO 2007)

Table 15 Rate of ingestion and energy cost of eating in goats offered seven different feeds (Lachica and Aguilera 2003)

			Feed and physical form								
	Barley	Beans	Lucerne	Lucerne	Lucerne	Vetch	Olive				
	Grain Pelleted Chopped I hay hay		Fresh cut	Straw	Leaves & twigs						
Mean LW(kg)	37.50	37.90	38.00	38.30	41.20	38.40	35.10				
Dry matter intake (DMI) g	363.70	362.50	367.50	178.30	76.40	125.10	112.20				
Time spent eating (min)	3.70	9.50	6.60	12.50	12.60	16.70	13.90				
Rate of ingestion (g DM/kg LW/min)	2.64	1.21	1.59	0.38	0.15	0.20	0.24				
Energy cost of eating:											
J/kg/g DM	1.45	1.65	2.24	4.75	7.08	8.20	11.78				
J/kg/min	143.80	75.80	135.90	69.80	44.60	63.90	97.80				
J/g DOM	63.60	78.00	179.60	348.80	492.20	606.20	735.2				
%ME	0.40	0.50	1.20	2.20	3.20	3.90	4.70				

Sutton and Alderman (2000) in a review of the energy requirements of pregnant and lactating dairy goats for AFRC concluded that the recommendations for ME remained uncertain; this factor is highlighted by the variation in estimates of the cost of activity from three sources which is summarised in Table 16.

Table 16 Estimates of the cost of activit	v as % above maintenance	(Sutton and Alderman 2000)

	NRC (1981)	Morand-Fehr (1987)	AFRC (1998)
Pasture	25	10-20	19
Good range		30-50	25
Poor range	50	50-80	93
Mountainous	75		108

#### Recommended daily ME requirements of goats

McGregor (2005) proposed a range of 267-485 kJ ME/kg LW <sup>0.75</sup> for maintenance of goat liveweight under drought conditions should be considered and that the most appropriate value of 404.7 kJ ME/kg LW <sup>0.75</sup> should be applied; but for what class of goat under what conditions was not clear and the range in itself is vast. These recommendations were made on the basis of indoor studies of rangeland goats (Ash and Norton 1987; Dunshea 1987); (a derivation from Norton 1982; cited in McGregor 2005). It is assumed many of the ME maintenance recommendations of McGregor (2005) were derived from CSIRO (1990) however this publication contains few references for goats and is clear in the assumption that the maintenance metabolism of goats are similar to sheep; this conclusion is far from agreed.

A factor of 0.422 -0.7 MJME/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup> for maintenance was recommended in NRC (1981) however in the 2007 edition and based on the work of Sahlu *et al.* (2004) this recommendation had been significantly increased to ME<sub>m</sub>: 0.423 - 0.624MJME/kg LW<sup>0.75</sup>.

NRC (2007) provides the most detailed basis for the nutrient requirements of goats based on the work of Sahlu *et al.* (2004) and co-workers which include consideration of genotype differences. A downward adjustment factor for maintenance ME requirements of 20% has been suggested for goats on a low plane of nutrition for a prolonged period. This adjustment can be factored in to an online goat nutrient requirement system (<u>http://www2.luresext.edu/GOATS/research/nutreqgoats.html</u>) which was developed in support of the recommendations of Sahlu *et al.* (2004). This web tool may be useful for field use when conducting validation studies of goat nutritive requirements.

Goats may have lower daily requirements for ME than other ruminants as evidenced by Schmidt *et al.* (1935) who reported the conversion of dietary energy into weight gain in goats was less than for other ruminants (cited in Morand-Fehr *et al.* 1982); Silanikove (1996) commented that desert breeds of goat such as the Bedouin were able to respond to a reduction in feed availability by reducing their energy requirements by up to 65%, a finding which may have some relevance to Australian rangeland goats under prolonged dry conditions that are also well adapted to their environment.

The energy requirements recommended in NRC, 2007 are largely based on studies by (Sahlu *et al.* 2004) with goats in confinement and hence may require some uncertain degree of refinement for range conditions. It is likely that these refinements will vary according to the amount of feed on offer while grazing for example, rangeland vs high rainfall pasture systems.

NRC (1981) recommendations were based on few studies with predominantly tropical goats and a range of breeds not commonly found in Australia. The applicability of this data to Australian range and pastoral conditions remains unclear. This section of the report will review the energy requirements of mature does of three genotypes whereas the requirements of kids will be reviewed as a component of growth potential and requirements specific to stages of pregnancy will be reviewed later in this report.

Nutrition of the doe in late pregnancy is likely to be of equal significance to kid survival as the nutrition of ewes during the same period is to lamb survival. During the last 60 days of pregnancy foetal growth in the lamb accelerates and nutrient requirements increase accordingly. The nutrient density of the diet needs to increase during this time as there may be limitations on the doe's capacity to increase forage intake due to the increased space occupied by the gravid uterus.

Daily energy requirements in the Going Into Goats Guide (2006) closely reflect those in NRC (1981) as outlined in Table 17 however NRC (1981) included a fixed increase in ME of 5.48 MJ/day in late pregnancy above maintenance requirements to account for 6% fat corrected milk (fcm) during late pregnancy; a correction factor of 5.94 MJ/d above maintenance was applied in the Going Into Goats Guide. The origins of the latter correction appear to be based on recommendations by Stubbs and Abud (2002) however the reasons for the discrepancy with NRC (1981) remain unclear. There was no increase in ME requirements to account for multiple pregnancies until NRC (2007). As multiple pregnancies are common in goats, particularly domesticated meat and dairy goats, NRC (2007) recommendations may be a more appropriate guide.

		IG Guide, NRC 1981 2006				NRC, 2007 (errata)					
		Late pre	egnancy		Late pregnancy						
	Mainte	enance	Mainte	enance		Non-dairy	/		Dairy		
	6% fcm	5.94		5.48	single	twins	triplets	single	twins	triplets	
LW (kg)											
10	2.27		2.38								
20	3.82		4.01					7.19	8.20		
30	5.18	11.12	5.44	10.92	8.45	9.66	10.30	9.45	10.67	11.30	
40	6.43	12.37	6.73	12.21	10.25	11.59	12.47	11.15	12.85	13.73	
50	7.60	13.54	7.99	13.47	11.89	13.43	14.31	13.35	14.94	15.82	
60	8.71	14.65	9.16	14.64	13.43	15.23	16.15	15.15	16.95	17.83	
70	9.78	15.72	10.25	15.73	14.98	16.82	17.91	16.87	18.75	19.80	
80	10.81	16.75	11.34	16.82	16.36	18.54	19.63	18.46	20.63	21.72	
90	11.80	17.74	12.38	17.86	17.70	20.04	21.30	20.00	22.35	23.60	
100	12.78	18.72	13.43	18.91			vida) abava				

Table 17 Differences in daily ME requirements recommended for goats during late pregnancy; Going into Goats Guide (GIG) (2006); NRC (1981) and adapted from NRC (2007)

Additional 5.48 MJ per 6% fat (NRC 1981) and 5.94 (Going Into Goats Guide) above MEm

Although the liveweight of Angora goats is more likely to be closer to 50kg, the reference weight of 60kg was chosen in the example in Table 18 for the purpose of comparing the nutrient requirements (NRC 2007) of three genotypes, non-dairy, dairy and Angora, in late pregnancy.

	Pregnancy	Stage of		LW	Fibre				
Genotype	status	pregnancy	LW	change	growth	DMI	DMI	ME	ME
				g/d	g/d	% of LW	kg/d	MJ/d	MJ/kg
Non-dairy	Single	Late	60	86		2.80	1.68	13.43	8.0
	Twin	Late	60	143		2.54	1.52	15.23	10.0
	Triplet	Late	60	186		2.69	1.61	16.15	10.0
Dairy	Single	Late	60	86		3.15	1.89	15.15	8.0
	Twin	Late	60	143		2.82	1.69	16.95	10.0
	Triplet	Late	60	163		2.97	1.78	17.83	10.0
Angora	Single	Late	60	86	10	3.52	2.11	16.11	7.6
	Twin	Late	60	143	10	3.90	2.34	17.91	7.7

Table 18 Daily dry matter intake (DMI) and energy requirements according to pregnancy status of three goat genotypes weighing 60 kg in late pregnancy (Adapted from NRC 2007)

As the energy demand of late pregnancy increase from singles to multiples, so the daily ME requirement increases, which appears a logical assumption. In the case of a twin pregnancy recommendations for intake have been decreased presumably to allow for increased space occupied by the pregnancy, and as such ME density of the available feed must increase. This recommendation appears logical however an increase in DMI in late pregnancy to meet the increased ME demand of triplets appears nonsensical. The recommendations for Angora does in late pregnancy require validation as it appears to be assumed that intake will increase with increased demand of multiple pregnancy in order to meet ME demand; this is not likely to be the case in practise.

Differences in recommendations across genotypes of goat are highlighted in Table 18. These should be accounted for when formulating rations or when assessing the suitability of pasture for late pregnancy. Many book values of pasture quality quote ME values of 11-12 ME for green pasture however in reality these concentrations are more often closer to 10 ME.

Nutrient requirements sourced from websites seldom cite the origins of their information and differ from the published literature; this can be a source of confusion for industry personnel seeking facts about nutrition. Table 19 is indicative of the type of information where intake or pregnancy status is not provided such that the value of the data is limited. The recommended energy requirement of 9.82 MJ/kg DM for a high producing doe aligns with NRC (2007) but is significantly lower than the ME concentration recommended by Coffey (Table 20).

	ME (MJ ME/kg DM)
Late Gestation	9.06
Lactating Doe	9.06
High Producing Doe	9.82

Table 19 Energy requirements of meat goats during late pregnancy and lactation (adapted from www.sheepandgoat.com/articles/meatgoat.htm)

Coffey (2006) suggests that lactating dairy does require an ME density in their diet of 10.7 and mature does of unstated genotype, 10.4 ME the details of which are summarised in Table 20. At the recommended DMI of 3.04 kg this would provide a daily ME intake of 32.5 MJ ME which is a 35% increase above the recommendations of NRC (2007) summarised in Table 21 and which appears excessive.

CLASS OF GOAT	Liveweight kg	Feed intake kg DM/d	ME MJ ME/kg DM
Dairy doe - lactation	60.7	3.04	10.7
3yr old doe	44.5	2.03	10.4

Table 20 Feed intake and energy requirements of goats during lactation (adapted from Coffey 2006)

Beverley & Moore (2008) recommended increased ME requirements for lactating Boer goats per level of daily milk production as follows:

- 2 litres per day 19 MJ/d
- 3 litres per day 24 MJ/d
- 4 litres per day 30 MJ/d

These recommendations at high levels of milk production appear more closely aligned to those of Coffey than to NRC (2007).

The NRC (2007) recommendations for does in early lactation consisting of a range of genotypes detailed in Table 21 are curious; dairy does most commonly have access to concentrate feeds such as grains that are highly concentrated sources of ME such that it is unlikely that the ME density of their diet would ever approximate 8 ME during lactation.

Again the assumption is made that dairy does will compensate for the low ME by consuming 4.61% of their liveweight in dry matter in order to meet energy requirements. At an ME density of 8 MJ/kg DM it is unlikely that dairy goats would consume 4.6% of liveweight as to do so would require the NDF of the diet to be lower than 30%; this is not a likely scenario. Smaller ruminants require access to a diet that is higher in ME such as recommended in Table 21 for Angora does at 30kg with kids at foot. This is a more realistic recommendation.

Table 21 Energy requirements of a mature doe with twin kids at foot in early lactation (adapted from NRC 2007)

Twins: early lactation	LW	LW change g/d	Fibre growth g/d	DMI % of LW	DMI kg/d	ME MJ/d	ME MJ/kg
Dairy	50	-45		4.61	2.31	18.46	8.0
Non-dairy	50	-50		3.08	1.54	12.93	8.0
Angora	30	-38	10	3.22	0.96	11.59	12.07
Angora	50	-50	10	2.96	1.48	14.77	10.0

Poore and Luginbuhl (2002) reviewed the nutrient requirements of Angora goats and NRC (1981) and produced a table of recommendations for lactating meat does which are summarised in Table 22. The liveweights would indicate that these requirements are for Angora or rangeland does rather than meat does however they do not compare well with NRC (2007). A 30kg Angora doe with twins at foot in early lactation according to NRC (2007) has a daily energy requirement of 13.9 MJ at an intake of 1.25 kg DM.

	Live weight	Dry matter intake	ME	ME
CLASS OF GOAT	kg	DMI kg∕d	MJ/d	MJ ME/kg DM
Doe - lactating low production	32.4	1.82	16.4	9.06
Doe - lactating high production	32.4	2	19.6	9.8

Table 22 Daily nutrient requirements for meat producing goats (adapted from Poore and Luginbuhl 2002)

Although NRC (2007) has published the most recent and comprehensive set of nutrient guidelines for goats, they appear to be significantly lower in their recommendations than the previous edition of 1981. The lack of accounting for activity, particularly under Australian conditions, as goats are a highly active animal is cause for concern as previously discussed.

NRC (2007) has also significantly lowered the nutrient recommendations for growing lambs from the previous publication in 1985 however there has been a large amount of research published over that 25 year period. Field experience has determined that in the case of light lambs the NRC (2007) requirements are suboptimal and weight loss has been observed where Merino lambs were expected to gain 100 g/day (Dickson & Jolly, unpublished) according to the recommendations. The statement in NRC (2007) *"in some cases diets having greater or lesser concentrations of energy would be more appropriate"* provides an indication as to the degree of confidence in their recommendations.

Goat producers appear keen to receive accurate and applicable nutritional information and guidance to increase the productivity of their operations and to reduce mortality rates, particularly during winter and post weaning. The producers interviewed as a component of this review did not appear to have a high level of understanding about nutrition, the value of feed analyses or ration formulation; these issues were approached on an ad-hoc basis compared with beef and lamb producers.

# Conclusion

As ME intake is entirely dependent upon daily dry matter intakes being achieved, ensuring this is the case is an imperative in the nutritional management of goats.

Energy requirements of goats are complex due to the variation between genotypes and the lack of knowledge about the productivity potential of each genotype under a broad range of Australian conditions. In addition ME requirements vary with activity level and the protein content of the diet. As goats are managed in the rangelands, in high rainfall and low rainfall farming country and in depots; kids are weaned onto range and intensive pastoral systems as well as feedlots, the differences in their energy requirements may be significant. It is likely that the high kid mortality rates and sub-optimal reproductive rates of intensively managed does are in part due to a lack of available ME; this requires further investigation.

It may be logical to conclude that the energy requirement of mature does varies between genotypes and stage of production, however the reasons for the variation in recommendations between publications remains unclear. There remains sufficient doubt about the accuracy of published energy requirements and their relevance to Australian domesticated and bush goats to warrant further research.

The information to be found on the internet is conflicting, confusing and of little benefit to anyone that does not have a good understanding of nutrition. The published nutrient requirements for goats require nutritional expertise for interpretation and implementation despite being a well set out and comprehensive set of guidelines.

There appears to be general agreeance that to base energy requirements of goats of a range of genotypes on those derivations for sheep and/or cattle may not be sound practise and the inclusion or otherwise of an activity allowance in ME recommendations requires review and resolution.

#### Recommendations

- Determine the energy requirements for mature goats under field conditions validation of NRC, 2007 recommendations
- Validations should include a range of genotypes, pastures, supplements and liveweights
- Determine an appropriate activity rating for ME above maintenance for grazing goats of different genotypes where appropriate
- Develop a user-friendly, practical set of ME guidelines for goat producers and their advisors
- Develop education programs for goat producers to improve their understanding of goat nutrition and management

# Protein requirements of goats

Protein is ingested in the feed of goats as nitrogen, approximately 80% of which under intensive grazing situations is utilised by the rumen microbes during fermentation and results in the production of microbial protein. The remainder (20%) escapes fermentation and is absorbed as amino acids via the small intestine and is referred to as undegradable protein (UDP), by-pass or escape protein.

In addressing the nutrient requirements of goats under individual sections it is important to note that goats require a balance of protein, energy, fibre and minerals to optimise their level of productivity and that nutrients should not be considered independent of each other. Daily requirement for protein is dependent on the energy density of the diet and the weight, age and stage of productivity of the animal (Oddy pers comm. September 2006). Animals maintain a balance of energy and protein that meet their nutritional requirements where the feed on offer permits them to do so (Provenza *et al.* 2003).

Oddy, (2006 unpublished) proposed the relationships depicted in Table 23 between energy density and crude protein (CP) be considered to ensure rumen microbial protein production is not limited by N availability. These relationships have yet to be tested for goats.

M/D	Degradability of protein in rumen							
N/ D	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.9				
9	13.5%	11.6%	10.1%	9.0%				
10	15.0%	12.9%	11.3%	10.0%				
11	16.5%	14.1%	12.4%	11.0%				
12	18.0%	15.4%	13.5%	12.0%				
13	19.5%	16.7%	14.6%	13.0%				

Table 23 Recommended energy density (M/D = MJ ME/kg DM) and crude protein (%) levels in the diet to ensure rumen microbial protein production is not limited by N availability (Oddy 2006 unpub.)

It is considered to be more accurate to determine dietary protein requirements on a metabolisable protein basis rather than by crude protein however it is unlikely that the target audience of this review or the subsequent edition of the *Going into Goats Guide* would be able to make practical use of that information. For that reason, this section will address protein requirements on a crude protein (N x 6.25) basis. When formulating rations or considering the nutritive value of pasture and its likelihood of meeting animal requirements, account should be taken of total daily protein requirements (grams per head per day). Consideration of protein provision on a percentage basis assumes a level of dry matter intake that may or may not be realistic. For example if a doe required a DMI of 950grams per day of pasture at 7.9% crude protein, this would provide her with 75 grams of CP for the day; however if other factors such as salt or fibre limited her intake to 500 grams DMI per day she would only receive 39.5 grams of CP per day.

Minimum crude protein levels in the diets of goats of 6-8.5% will vary with age (Patterson *et al.* 2009) however the critical level for microbial activity has been identified as being 6% (Van Niekerk and Casey 1988). Lu (2011) observed that animals on protein-deficient diets produce less antibody immunoglobulin IgA which is thought to supress worm growth and reproductive capacity and may act as a mechanism of resistance (Strain and Stear 2001).

Adequate dietary protein increases resilience of goats to endoparasites and disease such that the synthesis of antibodies may be limited by the availability of amino acids; The maintenance of an enhanced state of immunity has been largely attributed to intake of protein with a protein deficiency being described as increasing susceptibility to endoparasites (Lu 2011). Although an increase in dietary protein intake has been reported to result in a reduction in faecal worm egg count (Max *et al.* 2007; T. Young pers comm. November 2006) it is evident from the goat producers currently running goats in high rainfall country that the availability of high protein pastures is not a panacea for worm control alone.

Excessive ammonia production following microbial fermentation of high protein feeds causes a reduction in dry matter intake (Cooper *et al.* 1995; Francis 2002). Intake of N in excess of requirements appears to be as detrimental to goats as it is to sheep and cattle as evidenced by severe laminitis (J. Gilbert pers. comm. October 2011), urinary calculi (Gasparotto 2010), ruminal acidosis and red gut (Figure 13).





The maximum tolerable level of rumen degradable protein needs to be established for goats. Severe lameness is a commonplace observation in sheep in the Western Districts of Victoria during winter where pasture crude protein levels can be excessively high (>30%); 25% of pasturebased Boer and Boer cross does at Dorrigo, NSW and up to 60% of bucks become acutely lame when given access to high protein pasture. The addition of cottonseed to a feedlot ration at Dorrigo, NSW resulted in the acute onset of lameness and laminitis (J. Gilbert pers. comm. October 2011) in Boer kids.

Although it is important to eliminate alternative causes of lameness such as foot angle, mineral deficiencies and footrot, currently lameness appears to be a major constraint to the productivity of goats in medium to high rainfall environments, the causes of which require determination and remediation.

Producers in these regions have expressed increasing frustration at the significant economic losses they are experiencing due to scouring and lameness and indicated that the ongoing management costs are not sustainable.

Nutritional management such as that employed in the sheep industry including the provision of straw and low protein cereal grain supplements may alleviate the symptoms however it is important that these remedial measures are cost-efficient. This has yet to be determined.

It appears likely that there is an opportunity for selection of genotypes within the Boer population resistant to the detrimental effects of high performance pastures such that in one herd there were significant numbers of does and kids observed that were healthy and apparently unaffected (S. Jolly pers. comm. October 2011) where others were severely lame.

Condensed tannins (CT) found in many leguminous plant species effectively bind protein in the rumen under conditions of neutral pH; the inclusion of tanniferous plants within high rainfall farming systems may increase N-use efficiency by increasing the percentage of forage protein that passes through to the large intestine as UDP or bypass protein (Muir 2011). However CT:protein complexes are fractured under conditions of low pH (McAllister *et al.* 2005) which are often found in the rumen of animals grazing lush pasture (Wales *et al.* 2004) therefore animals grazing tanniferous plants within intensive pasture systems may not realise similar benefits.

Intake of salt tolerant species such as saltbushes decreases forage digestibility as a result of an increase in the rate of digesta flow; this allows a greater proportion of dietary protein to be digested in the small intestine (Franklin-McEvoy 2002).

#### Recommended daily protein requirements for goats

Differences between the protein requirements for goats published by NRC (1981, 2007) may be explained by differences in accounting for activity. As well, the protein requirements of goats published in NRC (1981) did not account for the differences in protein degradability in the rumen and small intestine however NRC (2007) accounts for protein intake and digestibility as well as microbial and feed protein available at the small intestine.

	Going Into Goats 2006	NRC 1981	NRC 2007
	Maintenance & early pregnancy at Maintenance low activity		Non-dairy, maintenance
Liveweight (kg)	Cr	ude protein (g/d)	
10	33	22	
20	55	38	36
30	74	51	49
40	93	63	61
50	110	75	71
60	126	86	82
70	141	96	92
80	156	106	101
90	170	116	111
100	184	126	

Table 24 Comparison of daily crude protein requirements (g/d) for goats as recommended by the Going Into Goats guide (2006), NRC (1981, 2007) for maintenance and early pregnancy

As for energy the reasons for differences in requirements for protein between publications is not always clear. The maintenance protein requirements published in the *Going Into Goats Guide* reflect NRC (1981) recommendations for maintenance plus medium activity. NRC (1981) did not account for increased requirements above maintenance during early pregnancy and the recommendations outlined in Table 24 are reflective of those required at low levels of activity. Although NRC (2007) removed all accounting for activity, their recommendations for early pregnancy were above the 1981 recommendations for maintenance for all classes of goat (Table 25). The reason for this adjustment remains unclear.

Interestingly NRC (2007) recommends an increase in protein required as pregnancy advances to a peak in early lactation however for single pregnancies protein requirements are higher in late pregnancy than in early lactation (Table 25). Further, ME requirements recommended in NRC (2007) markedly decline from late pregnancy to lactation. Although fat reserves are mobilised to assist in the provision of additional energy during early lactation it seems unusual not to recommend dietary requirements that might minimise that effect. Particularly as the condition that does are in at the point of kidding is not specified and in practice may not be accounted.

The dietary protein concentration of sheep is limited during late pregnancy in an attempt to reduce the incidence of dystocia which is perceived to be a foetal growth response to high protein intake. The protein requirement of both dairy cows and ewes (NRC 2007) increases with advancing stage of pregnancy and peaks during early lactation, therefore the reason for a decline in protein and ME requirements recommended for goats from late pregnancy to early lactation is difficult to explain.

Class	LW	LW change	DMI		1I ME		Crude Protein	
	kg	g/d	% of LW	kg/d	MJ/d	MJ/kg	g/d	%
Maintenance	60		1.9	1.14	9.12	8	82	7.20%
Joining	60		2.09	1.25	10	8	90	7.20%
Early pregnancy - single	60	21	2.24	1.57	12.6	8	137	8.70%
Early pregnancy - twins	60	36	2.38	1.43	11.4	8	140	9.80%
Early pregnancy - triplets	60	47	2.47	1.48	11.9	8	150	10.10%
Late pregnancy - single	60	86	3.15	1.89	15.2	8	187	9.90%
Late pregnancy - twins	60	143	2.54	1.52	15.2	10	206	13.50%
Late pregnancy - triplets	60	186	2.69	1.61	16.2	10	228	14.10%
Early lactation - single	60	-28	2.58	1.55	12.4	8	172	11.10%
Early lactation - twins	60	-55	2.91	1.75	14	8	207	11.90%
Early lactation - triplets	60	-83	3.04	1.82	14.6	8	261	14.30%
Late lactation - single	60	22	2.4	1.44	11.6	8	130	9.00%
Late lactation - twins	60	44	2.79	1.67	13.4	8	166	9.90%
Late lactation - triplets	60	66	3.11	1.89	14.9	8	196	10.50%

Table 25 Dry matter intake (DMI), crude protein and energy (ME) requirements for mature, non-dairy does for maintenance, joining and at all stages of pregnancy and lactation (adapted from NRC 2007)

It is not possible to compare NRC (2007) protein requirements for goats with those published in 1981 as the scales used were different. The current recommendations provide significantly more detail for all classes of doe at a constant level of fat concentration (4% fcm), whereas in 1981 requirements were adjusted for fat corrected milk concentrations between 2.5 and 6% (NRC 1981). CSIRO (2007) suggest that goats' milk is more similar to the milk of Holstein-Friesian cows rather than sheep and as such a fcm factor of 3.2% may be more appropriate.

Daily dry matter intake, protein and energy requirements of goats from various authors are summarised in Table 26. Poore and Luginbuhl (2002) from the University of Kentucky, USA and <u>www.sheepandgoat.com</u> where, with the exception of does in late pregnancy, protein requirements are substantially higher than NRC (2007) recommendations.

Table 26 highlights the variation in recommendations between authors in dietary protein concentration for lactating goats of 12-14.5% crude protein where the derivations of their recommendations are not always clear. Similarly, the daily protein recommendations of Nsahlai *et al.* (2004) and Greyling *et al.* (2004) in Table 26 for lactating Boer does are significantly different with no apparent basis for these differences.

		LW	DMI	Prote	in (CP)	ME		Authors
Genotype	Class of goat	kg	DMI kg/d	% of DM	g/d	MJ ME/kg DM	MJ/d	
Dairy doe		61	3.04	12	353	10.72		Adapted from Coffey, 2006
Dairy doe				15-18			24	McGregor, 2005
Doe	early pregnancy	32	1.82	10	182	9.06		Poore & Luginbuhl, 2002
Doe	late pregnancy			11		9.06		adapted from www.sheepandgoat.com
Doe	lactation			11		9.06		adapted from www.sheepandgoat.com
Doe	lactating - low production	32	1.82	11	200	9.06		Poore & Luginbuhl, 2002
Doe	lactating - high production			14		9.82		adapted from www.sheepandgoat.com
Doe	lactating - high production	32	2	14	280	9.8		Poore & Luginbuhl, 2002
Angora doe	early lactation - twins	30	0.96	14.5	140	11.59		Adapted from NRC, 2007
Boer	lactating	45			107		18.2	Nsahlai et al. 2004
Boer	lactating	45	1.6	14	224*	8.9		Greyling et al. 2004
Indigenous	lactating	32	1	14	140*	8.9		Greyling et al. 2004
Indigenous	lactating	32			84.3		14.6	Nsahlai et al. 2004
Unspecified	lactating					4.9-5.2		Nsahlai <i>et al.</i> 2004

Table 26 Liveweight, dry matter intake (DMI), Crude Protein and ME requirements of pregnant and
lactating does from various sources

\*values calculated from DMI and protein percent

As the protein content of any diet, be it grazing pasture or supplementary feed, is the most expensive consideration, it is important to determine with some degree of accuracy the protein requirements of goats.

This may not be a simple task as Sahlu *et al.* (1993) reported no difference between Nubian, Alpine or Angora goats in N utilisation when fed pellets containing 9-21% crude protein.

#### Seasonal change in protein availability

Seasonal decline in pasture nitrogen concentrations presents challenges for goat producers in southern Australia. In most grazing systems, matching supply with demand for lactation means that by the time kids are weaned pasture quality has declined below daily requirements. Weaner kids have high requirements for protein for growth and development, often in excess of protein supply, such that the risk of light weight weaner mortality is high and in the absence of high quality feed post weaning, supplementation is required. Legume crops and pastures retain their protein value for longer periods than cereals and grasses; specialist summer crops such as brassicas and pastures such as lucerne and chicory can alleviate the gap in feed quality over summer and autumn.

Cereals are more frequently being utilised as a source of pasture feed for sheep, cattle and goats during winter and spring however analysis of plant tissue shows a typical decline in protein concentration as the plants approach reproduction (Figure 14).



Jun-07 Aug-06 Aug-06 Sep-06 Oct-06 Oct-06 Oct-06 Nov-06 Nov

# Figure 14 Seasonal changes in crude protein values of selected crop and pasture species tested at Minnipa, SA (Jolly, unpublished)

Perennial pastures decline more slowly in crude protein toward flowering and seed set (*Figure 15*) however annual pastures show similar rates of declines to cereals as depicted in Figure 16. Although perennial pastures have a slower rate of decline in NV, they have lower dry matter production during winter than the annual grasses such as hybrid ryegrasses. The annual hybrids are more likely to have excessive concentrations of protein available in winter.





Although the trends are similar, there are differences between annual grass species in their seasonal rate of decline in protein concentration and in their response to rotational grazing which is highlighted in Figure 16. Despite rotational grazing and irrigation the seasonal variation in protein concentration is evident.



Figure 16 Seasonal changes in crude protein concentration of a range of pasture species rotationally grazed under irrigation at Meningie, SA in 2000/2001 (Jolly, unpublished)

For the realisation of genetic potential it is important for producers to ensure that pasture quality aligns with nutrient demand of grazing goats where it is practical to do so. Analysis of the nutritive value of pasture at critical times of demand such as during late pregnancy, lactation and pre-weaning will facilitate decision-making about appropriate and cost-effective levels of supplementation and/or allocation of pasture to meet requirements.

#### Crude protein provided by rangeland plant species

Historically, pastoral shrub species have been thought to be non-limiting in protein supply for range goats however this may not be the case. Although goats are highly selective grazers, the high salt load of halophytic shrubs such as saltbushes are likely to disrupt microbial protein supply to the small intestine due to the highly saline rumen environment. Research into this topic is ongoing at CSIRO, WA. Recent and incomplete unpublished work by Costin & Dickson (Productive Nutrition) has demonstrated a 20% increase in the weaning rates of ewes grazing saltbush supplemented with lupins when compared with oats. The implication may be that although the saltbush supply was unlimited it failed to fully meet protein requirements of the ewes. What is clear to date however, is that supplementation with a high protein source such as lupins while grazing saltbush did not appear to induce any symptoms of excessive protein intake in the ewes or their progeny.

It should be noted that supply of microbial protein to the intestine is dependent on the amount of energy available for microbial protein synthesis (AFRC 1998) and hence where ME is limiting as it is from many halophytic plants, the availability of digestible protein is likely to be limited.

Location	Feed type	Site	Date	CP %	ME
Booderoo	Saltbush (RSB)	Plot 10	8/03/2011	13.90	9.9
Booderoo	Saltbush (OMSB)	Plot 10	8/03/2011	17.70	11.4
Booderoo	Saltbush (OMSB)	Plot 6	8/03/2011	16.80	11.4
Booderoo	Saltbush (OMSB)	Plot 14	8/03/2011	14.00	11.4
Booderoo	Saltbush (OMSB)	Plot 14	8/03/2011	13.70	9.6
Carrieton	Saltbush	Flat	7/04/2010	18.20	10.7
Carrieton	Saltbush	Flat	8/03/2011	23.10	11.2
Carrieton	Saltbush	Flat	15/04/2011	21.60	11.5
Carrieton	Saltbush	Hills	10/03/2010	20.80	11.8
Carrieton	Saltbush	Hills	8/03/2011	23.90	11.2
Carrieton	Saltbush	Hills	15/04/2011	22.20	11.7
Point Pass	Saltbush	Site 1	16/04/2010	10.60	11.1
Point Pass	Saltbush	Site 1	14/04/2011	16.70	11.7
Point Pass	Saltbush	Site 2	14/04/2011	18.10	11.5
Point Pass	Saltbush	Site 2	16/04/2010	13.90	11.2
Carrieton	Saltbush	Flat	9/09/2010	19.90	11.5
Point Pass	Saltbush	Site 1	9/09/2010	18.30	11.9
Point Pass	Saltbush	Site 2	9/09/2010	17.40	11.7
Carrieton	Saltbush	Flat	16/11/2010	20.00	10.9

Table 27 Seasonal change in crude protein (CP %) concentration and metabolisable energy (ME) of
saltbush at 3 sites in South Australia (Costin & Dickson, unpublished)

RSB River Saltbush; OMSB Oldman Saltbush

Serial analysis of saltbush at three sites in South Australia in 2010 / 2011, depicted in Table 27 demonstrates the variation in NV of saltbush leaves within and between seasons. Although a useful source of crude protein for goats, saltbush cannot be relied upon to consistently meet the protein requirements of productive goats.

#### Urea as a protein source for goats

There have been anecdotal reports of poor responses to urea in rations fed to sheep and goats compared with cattle however there is little supporting evidence to be found in the published literature. Following rapid introduction of urea to goats, ammonia toxicity may limit a productive response. The maximum level of urea in the diet of sheep and goats should not exceed 1% of the total diet.

A reduction in weight gain of young goats was reported when the proportion of urea in the concentrate component of the diet exceeded 2.3% (Haryu *et al.* 1975); where 40% of the nitrogen concentration of a diet was supplied by urea, Staub (1974) noted that male kids had lower protein efficiency and live weight gain.

The addition of urea to grain rations may reduce the palatability of the feed (Staub 1974) which may not be desirable in the case of early weaned kids at low liveweight. Urea should not be included in the diet of pre-ruminants as the rumen needs to be fully developed and fermentation processes functional for effective utilisation of urea.

In contrast however Hungerford (1990) and Harmeyer and Martens (1980) suggest that urea is used just as efficiently by goats as it is by sheep and cattle. McGregor *et al.* (1982) found that Angora and rangeland goats fed 68.6% oats and 30% Lucerne chaff (CP 11.1%) performed better than those fed oats with 1.4% urea (CP 12.4%); kid ADG 175g/d<sup>-1</sup> vs 118g/d<sup>-1</sup>.

# Conclusion

Protein requirements increase with increasing level of productivity such that the requirements for goats in early lactation and weaner kids are higher than for goats at maintenance. Pastures tend to provide high concentrations of crude protein to grazing goats during vegetative growth however it is apparent that with some exceptions, Boer goats in medium to high rainfall regions are not well adapted to these conditions.

If the goat industry is to expand in higher rainfall areas, the significant health impediment to productivity in these regions, part of which may be attributable to high protein intake, requires urgent investigation and resolution. Introduction of halophytic species such as saltbush into these environments may be worthy of further investigation to potentially alleviate the effects of excessive rumen degradable protein. Further, producers may benefit in the short term from education programs in goat nutrition so as to better manage these health issues. Conversely rangeland goats are unlikely to experience excesses of dietary crude protein and have a wider range of feed options from which to select.

Urea may be a useful protein source for addition to kid feedlot rations or for use in supplementary rations for goat depots however its efficacy and cost-efficiency is yet to be determined.

The recommendations for protein requirements for various goat genotypes in the literature vary significantly however NRC (2007) has published the most comprehensive guide which requires validation under Australian conditions. In addition, the application of an activity allowance for protein requirements requires determination.

#### Recommendations

- Clarify the protein requirements of goats including variation across genotypes where appropriate
- Determine the cause(s) of lameness in medium to high rainfall regions
- Investigate the role of excessive dietary protein in the poor productivity of Boer goats and their crosses in medium to high rainfall areas
- Develop education programs for goat producers in nutrition and health management
- Investigate the cost-effectiveness of urea inclusion as a protein source in the supplementary feed rations of weaned kids and confined goats
- Consider embryo transfer and artificial insemination programs to hasten the increase of well adapted Boer and Boer cross genetics in medium to high rainfall regions



# Fibre requirements of goats

Ruminants require fibre in their diet to stimulate the growth and development of the rumen during the pre-weaning phase, and once weaned, to stimulate rumen motility (CSIRO 1990). Fibrous feeds stimulate saliva production which provide natural buffering (maintenance of rumen pH) of the rumen environment. Chewing is stimulated by particle length and particle size, the aim being to reduce the particle size to facilitate digestive processes. At a laboratory level, structural

and non-structural carbohydrates (Figure 17) is measured and reported as acid detergent fibre (ADF) for cereal grains or neutral detergent fibre (NDF) for roughages such as hay, straw, almond hulls or silage. Physically effective NDF (peNDF) increases with particle length and in a study by Zhao *et al.* (2011) goats appeared to prefer a particle length of >8mm.

NDF consists of the slowly digested fibrous portion of the plant; the cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin which is most of the cell wall material. As dietary NDF and peNDF increase, dry matter intake declines (Robinson *et al.* 1998; Zhao *et al.* 2011); both NDF and peNDF can be used as a guide to dry matter intake in ration formulation where the nutritive values of dietary components are known.

As total dietary NDF increases with plant maturity, voluntary intake tends to decline (Robinson *et al.* 1998) irrespective of whether or not the plant material is still green in colour.

ADF is a sub-fraction of NDF and consists primarily of lignin and cellulose and is negatively correlated with digestibility (Dalton 2005).



Figure 17 Structural and non-structural carbohydrate components of plants (van Saun, vbs.psu.edu/extension/focus.../goats/nutrition)

Neither ADF nor NDF provide an accurate measure of the effectiveness of the fibre in the diet, and although NDF of long fibre can provide an indication, once that fibre is processed into pellet form, the usefulness of NDF as a predictive measure of intake is negated. The minimum NDF intake required to maintain rumen health varies according to the starch concentration of the total diet (Harmison *et al.* 1997) but is generally considered to be 30% of the dry matter. The preferred dietary concentration of NDF selected by sheep is 40% of the dietary DM (Francis 2002). Following studies that compared the intake differences of C3 and C4 grass and legume hays

between cattle, sheep and goats, Reid *et al.* (1990) concluded that goats more effectively digested NDF than sheep.

There appear to be two opposing schools of thought about the ability of goats to efficiently digest fibrous material. Van Soest (1982) attributes their success in harsh environments to their inherent ability to select leaves and stems of higher quality in conjunction with a higher rate of digesta flow and a smaller gut than goats run in "softer" environments. Devendra (1989) attributes their resilience in range environments to their greater efficiency of digestion with a longer mean retention time of ruminal digesta.

There is little doubt that in most environments where goats thrive the available feed is predominantly fibrous, lignified, often low in protein and contains secondary compounds (Silanikove 1996). Bedouin goats (Figure 18) have been shown to extensively modify, degrade and absorb lignin from low quality roughage to facilitate fermentation of structural carbohydrates (Silanikove 1986) however no such studies have been conducted on Boer or rangeland goats under Australian conditions.



Figure 18 Bedouin goats (Source: http://www.nationalgeographicstock.com)

The rumen volume of Bedouin goats at 20% of body mass greatly exceeds that of sheep which may account for their longer mean retention time of rumen digesta (Watson and Norton 1982), higher fermentation rate and hence increased feed intake and digestibility. It is likely that the Australian rangeland goat has undergone similar adaptation even if not to the same extent as its desert-adapted Bedouin counterpart.

However Boer goats appear to select a diet more akin to sheep. Solaiman *et al.* (2001) investigated feed intake of forage and concentrate and growth performance of Boer and Kiko (New Zealand dairy/feral cross) kids (Figure 19).



Figure 19 Kiko goat (Source: http://www.ansi.okstate.edu)

They found that Boer kids preferred a diet of less hay (23.1%) and more grain (76.9%) than their Kiko counterparts. This proportion is very similar to that found in weaned or feedlot lambs.

Goats' superior digestive ability appears limited to forage with an organic matter digestibility of less than 60% as no differences have been reported with high quality feed (Devendra 1989). The ratio of DOMD: NDF may be a useful guide to the prediction of intake for goats (



*Figure 20*) such that Meissner and Paulsmeier (1995) reported that the ratio correlated highly with organic matter intake.



Figure 20 The relationship between intake and the ratio of DOMD:NDF for sheep • ( $R^2$ =0.97), cattle  $\Delta$  (R2=0.98), & goats  $\Diamond$  (R2=0.97), (Meissner and Paulsmeier 1995)

High carbohydrate diets where intake of effective fibre is limited will potentially induce acidosis in all ruminants; this includes highly digestible pastures as well as high grain feedlot or containment diets.

Acidosis has been studied more in dairy goats within intensive production systems where grain supplementation is commonplace and where goats are at higher risk of acidosis. On high grain diets the risk of acidosis can be assessed by measuring the ratio of non-fibre carbohydrates (NFC) to NDF; in dairy cows the preferred ratio is < 1.63 (Han *et al.* 2011) however Zhao *et al.* (2011) investigated an acidosis risk ratio of peNDF to rumen degradable starch and determined that a ratio in excess of 0.88 did not induce acidosis in crossbred and dairy goats.

All these factors are assessable by Australian feed laboratories such that some degree of prediction of risk can be assessed.

McGregor (2000) in "Goat Notes" states that research has demonstrated that the roughage requirements of young sheep on wheat based diets was no more than 2% and that goats maximised intake at between 13-34% roughage in the diet. However the comparative diets, the conditions under which these observations were made or the productive responses achieved were not provided.

McGregor (2000) also reported that goats will preferentially select the most highly digestible components of plant material as their mobile upper lip allows them to access these between thistles and sharp twigs, unlike sheep and cattle. However he concluded that given a choice, goats tend to select high quality pasture ahead of browse. This is in contrast with Correa (2009) who reported that goats preferred to eat bushy plants and "effectively digested coarse, fibrous feeds".

It should be noted that is often not clear to what genotype of goat the author is referring such that inherent differences may be present and comparisons irrelevant; the observations of McGregor (2000) appear more likely to relate to Angora goats whereas Correa (2009) was referring to "meat goats" of unspecified genotype.

Further challenging the assumption that goats must have a relatively high proportion of roughage or long fibre in their diet was a study by Patterson *et al.* (2009) which demonstrated growth rates in Boer cross wethers of 245.6 g/day when fed a complete pellet at 18% crude protein and 31% neutral detergent fibre (NDF).

More recently Silva *et al.* (2011) fed Boer x Saanen and Saanen goats and reported that a progressive increase in NDF from 49-69% resulted in a decrease in feeding, chewing and rumination efficiency and an increase in chewing time.

Branco *et al.* (2010b) observed when feeding dairy goats that NDF intake was maintained at 1.2% of liveweight and that optimum efficiency of utilisation of ME for milk production was measured at a dietary NDF concentration of 35%. Further research demonstrated optimum efficiency of microbial protein synthesis was recorded at 29.57% NDF (Branco *et al.* 2010a).

There is evidence that sheep, cattle and goats born in lush pastured environments struggle to adapt to a rangeland environment however animals native to that environment thrive. Successful adaptation of rangeland goats to the pastoral areas of Australia is clearly evident such that they have a demonstrated ability to select feed of high nutritive value when seasonal conditions are favourable and adjust to a highly fibrous diet during drought.

The adaptation of goats to high rainfall environments has provided more of a challenge, some of which may be attributable to a lack of effective fibre in their diet however the NDF concentration in perennial and annual pastures, cereals and fodder crops seldom falls below 30% and is often closer to 40%; the preferred level for goats and sheep. Samples of nutritive values of vegetative pastures including NDF are listed in

Table 28 below. It is difficult therefore to conclude that the health challenges faced by goats including high worm burdens, lameness and scouring are attributable to a deficiency of fibre in the diet.

Goats held in depots prior to transport to markets are provided with hay or straw on an *ad-libitum* basis in order to minimise weight loss. Conserved forage is rarely tested for nutritive value nor assessed for intake potential prior to feeding which could make the difference between weight gain and loss. It would be preferable to offer high quality hay to encourage intake however it may not always be cost-effective to do so; this requires further investigation and determination.

Small ruminants require high quality roughage in order to maximise nutrient intake whereas larger ruminants such as cattle can more readily compensate for low quality fibre by increasing intake.

Weaned kids have high nutrient requirements therefore the provision of straw or low quality hay in their diets as a fibre source is unlikely to optimise growth potential. Fibre sources for productive goats should include legume hays that contain highly digestible nutrients.

Sample description	DM %	CP % of DM	ADF	NDF % of DM	DMD %	DOMD %	Est ME MJ/kg DM
Clover/Ryegrass	9.7	29.3		45.2	75.6		11.1
Fescue/ cocksfoot/ Phalaris/clover	12.4	19.2	30.5	46.4	64.6	61.6	9.5
Clover/ryegrass	14.3	21.0	27.0	41.8	69.6	65.7	10.5
Clover/ryegrass	14.7	29.7	26.0	35.8	70.3		10.5
Clover/ryegrass	14.9	22.7	42.4	63.1	57.5	55.6	8.3
Clover/ryegrass	14.9	26.9	39.2	65.4	60.0	57.7	8.7
Clover/ryegrass	15.1	21.8	40.0	54.4	58.6	56.5	8.5
Clover/ryegrass	15.3	33.1	18.2	27.4	75.1		11.3
Clover/ryegrass	15.4	25.9	26.0	38.0	68.9	65.2	10.2
Clover/cocksfoot/ryegrass	15.4	30.7	19.7	34.1	72.4	68.2	10.8
Clover/ryegrass	16.2	24.7		49.6	68.5		9.9
Clover/ryegrass	16.2	30.5	18.8	30.6	73.9		11.1
Clover/ryegrass	17.2	30.9	20.2	32.0	72.9		10.9
Fescue/ cocksfoot/ Phalaris/clover	17.7	27.0	34.1	69.7	64.1	61.1	9.4
Clover/ryegrass	18.0	21.2	27.1	42.4	67.1	63.7	9.9
Clover/ryegrass	19.2	24.6	24.9	41.2	68.3	64.7	10.4
Clover/ryegrass	19.4	19.2	23.4	38.7	69.6	65.8	10.4
Clover/ryegrass	19.7	25.3	30.7	44.5	66.7		9.9
Medic / grass	20.0	22.6	29.6	46.3	65.0	61.9	9.6
Cocksfoot/Clover	25.0	9.4		65.0			9.4
Cocksfoot/phalaris	26.1	13.7	34.5	74.4	54.5	53.0	7.8

Table 28 Nutritive value of vegetative pasture samples highlighting the variation in NDF concentration (Productive Nutrition database)

# Pelleted diets

Pelleted diets provide significant challenges for goats particularly in terms of adaptation (Gherardi and Johnson 1995). Ruminants are particularly sensitive to smell and what appeals to humans such as molasses may not readily appeal to goats; a period of adaptation is always required to a change in feed. Although hay-based pellets reduce the risk of acidosis, the NDF concentration cannot be relied upon to provide a source of "effective" dietary fibre to stimulate rumination. Hay or straw is finely ground prior to pelleting which reduces the effectiveness of the roughage in stimulation of saliva production on which goats are highly dependent for the maintenance of rumen pH and effective digestion of nutrients.

The palatability of pellets varies widely according to pelleting processes and ingredient selection and subsequent difficulties encountered by producers feeding pelleted diets in containment have included an increase in shy feeders (McGregor 2005). Consistency of feeding value of hay-based pellets is difficult to control as every bale of hay is not analysed for nutritive value prior to pelleting. Stockfeed manufacturers that produce a formulated pellet which is more likely to be grain rather than hay-based, and use a wide range of feedstuffs to achieve the same formulation; some of these feedstuffs can change the taste and smell of each batch of pellets.

The physiology of the current Australian bush and Boer goat would suggest that palatable, effective fibre is an essential dietary component and where this is denied, a high percentage of "shy feeders" suffering inanition will continue to be a challenge for the industry.

The formulation of pelleted diets is a complex science; pellets should be formulated to meet the requirements of the animal to be fed and to complement alternative sources of feed where the pellets do not make up the total diet. Unfortunately this is rarely the case. Assessment of the efficacy of a pellet formulated to a particular ME or protein level is not possible if the nutritive value of alternative feeds on offer remain unknown. Where it is practical to do so feeds should be analysed for nutritive value to ensure the ration is meeting requirements.

Pellets have been well recognised as a cause of nutritional disorders such as urolithiasis or calculi (Shahrom and Zamri-Saad 2011) and refusals due to low palatability or neophobia are relatively common. In young or light goats with limited body weight reserves, it is important to encourage intake by the provision of palatable, quality roughage, high enough in essential nutrients to encourage intake during the adaptation process to pellets; legume hays and occasionally high quality straws provide a reliable starting point. It should be noted that in dry years the nutritive value of straws can equal that of hay.

Gherardi and Johnson (1995) and McGregor (2005) reported significant weight loss following the provision of good quality hay during the introductory period to pellets however the nutritive value of the hay was not provided and how the assessment of quality was made was not clear.

# Conclusion

Many goat industry personnel believe that all goats require access to a source of fibre at all times however the quality of the fibre source will in many cases determine productivity outcomes. Goats apparently efficiently digest most forms of roughage in comparison to sheep and cattle however if the roughage source is the only feed available as in hay, straw or silage, and the nutritive value of that feed fails to meet the requirements, it is likely that productivity will decline accordingly.

Low quality fibre sources will limit intake potential which is critically important in terms of goats being able to meet protein and energy requirements. In order to optimise voluntary feed intake the smaller the ruminant the higher quality the roughage source should be.

Pelleted diets provide a safer feeding option if the pellets are hay-based, which should not be assumed, however pelleted diets cannot be relied upon as a source of *effective* fibre. Where rapid adaptation to a change in feed is required, such as post weaning or in depots for short term confinement, the palatability of the roughage source is the most important characteristic to be considered. Assumptions about the NDF concentration or quality of fibre sources such as hay, silage or pasture will inevitability result in sub-optimal productivity, and feed testing should be encouraged in the goat industry.

Rangeland goats will selectively graze available plant material in order to meet their roughage requirements and unless access to feed is limited by prolonged drought or overstocking it is unlikely that access to roughage will limit their productivity.

#### Recommendations

• Develop education programs for goat producers and their advisors to improve their understanding of the fibre requirements of goats and how to apply that knowledge to their enterprises



Courtesy: G Reimers 2011

# Mineral and Vitamin nutrition of goats

The mineral requirement of goats has been reviewed extensively Devendra (1971), Kessler (1991), Haenlein (1980, 1987, 1991, 1992) and NRC (1981, 2007). Recommended daily requirements have been determined experimentally using predominantly dairy breeds including Saanan and Alpine goats (Haenlein and Anke 2011). Previous requirements were mostly extrapolated from sheep and cattle (NRC 1981; AFRC 1991) however major advances have been made over the last five years in the determination of requirements specific to goats. It appears that the mineral requirements of goats may be higher than for sheep (NRC 2007) of equivalent body weight (Table 29) although it is not entirely clear if their requirements are higher due to a higher tolerance, lower rate of absorption, storage capacity or an increased need. NRC (2007) differentiates between meat and milk goats and Angora goats in their mineral requirements.

			Liveweight						
			20 kg @ 1	.00g/d	30 kg @ 2	200g/d			
Element	Symbol		Lambs	Kids	Lambs	Kids			
Sodium	Na	g/d	0.4	0.58	0.6	0.96			
Chloride	Cl	g/d	0.3	0.68	0.5	1.08			
Potassium	К	g/d	2.9	3.3	4.8	5.2			
Magnesium	Mg	g/d	0.6	0.55	1	0.93			
Sulphur	S	g/d	1.1	1.8	2	2.7			
Cobalt	Со	mg/d	0.13	0.07	0.22	0.12			
Copper	Cu	mg/d	3.1	17	5.5	26			
Iodine	I	mg/d	0.3	0.34	0.5	0.52			
Iron	Fe	mg/d	32	34	62	67			
Manganese	Mn	mg/d	12	12	21	21			
Selenium <sup>f</sup>	Se	mg/d	0.09	0.48	0.18	0.66			
Zinc	Zn	mg/d	13	11	24	21			

Table 29 Macro and micro mineral requirements of growing lambs and meat and milk kids (NRC 2007)

<sup>f</sup> selenium absorption coefficient 0.3 applicable to forage diets

The main source of minerals for goats is from either grazed pastures, shrubs or crops, in both rangeland and intensive production systems however sodium, chlorine, magnesium, sulphur, iron, manganese and iodine can also be provided by the water supply to varying degrees. The pH of the soil and water supply will affect the availability of minerals as will the type and stage of growth of the pasture. Cereals tend to be deficient in calcium and sodium whereas leguminous plants contain higher concentrations of minerals than grasses, even when dry (Underwood and Suttle 1999).

Goats grazing cereal stubbles or foraging for medic seed over summer and autumn or during drought ingest significant amounts of minerals from soil however high concentrations of iron in many soils may reduce absorption of these minerals.

Assessment of the mineral status of goats requires determination of the mineral status of their feed, (with appropriate consideration of selective grazing) and water, knowledge of the interactions between minerals and the daily requirements of each class of goat. The mineral content of improved pastures within a district should no longer be taken as the norm for individual properties as changing fertiliser practices in combination with intensification of

livestock production has produced mineral deficiencies not previously suspected in those areas. An application of lime to increase soil pH alters the availability of selected minerals which in turn may reduce the availability of others.

Daily requirements vary with age, species, genotype, sex, level of productivity and activity and significant differences between species have now been reported (Haenlein and Anke 2011).

The mineral status of rangeland goats has not been widely investigated nor reported however a three year study by the Outback Lakes SA (<u>www.productivenutrition.com.au</u>) demonstrated a wide variation in the concentration of minerals between species and properties. No correlations were found between plant mineral status, seasons and mineral concentration however where cattle were found to have high serum concentrations of GSHPx, an indicator of selenium status, there was a higher proportion of preferentially grazed plants that were high in selenium. Phosphorus, zinc and copper deficiencies in plant tissue were widespread as were high concentrations of iron, cobalt and manganese. The concentrations of phosphorus, potassium, magnesium and sulphur decreased with increasing plant maturity whereas iron and cobalt concentrations increased.

Plants with salt tolerance that thrive in arid and semi-arid environments reportedly accumulate sulphur and selenium (Masters *et al.* 2007) and field studies <u>http://www.productivenutrition.</u> <u>com.au/facts.html#bestpracticenutritionalmanagement</u>) of the nutritive value and mineral concentration in such plants support these findings.

n	Species	Common name	Strengths	Weaknesses
4	Atriplex nummularia	Old man saltbush	High CP, ME	xs Cl, K, Mg, Na. Low NDF
7	Atriplex sp.	Annual saltbush	High CP	xs Cl, K, Mg, Na
12	Atriplex vesicaria	Bladder saltbush	High ME	xs Cl, Fe, K, Mg, Na. Low P, Zn
10	Carrichtera annua	Ward's weed	High CP, Ca	xs Fe
3	Maireana georgii	Sanity bluebush	High CP	xs Cl, Na. Low P, Zn
8	Maireana pyramidata	Black bluebush	High CP, Ca	xs Cl, Fe, Mg, Na. Low P, Zn
12	Maireana sedifolia	Pearl bluebush	High CP	xs Cl, Na. Low P, Zn
9	Medicago sp.	Medic	High CP, Ca	xs Al, Cu, Fe
3	Myoporum platyoarpum	Sugar wood	High ME	xs Cu. Low NDF, P, Zn
7	Rhagodia sp.	Rhagodia	High CP, Ca	xs Cl, K, Mg, Na. Low P, Zn
4	Sclerolaena ch., dia., eria.	Copperburr	High CP, ME, Ca	xs Cl, Fe, Na. Low P, Zn
3	Sclerolaena obliquicuspis	Limestone copperburr	High Ca	xs Na, Fe, NDF. Low P, Zn
4	Sisymbrium erysimoides	Mustard weed	High CP, ME, Ca	xs Fe, K, Na. Low NDF, P
6	Soliva pterosperma	Bindii	Low ME	xs NDF, Al, Cu, Fe, Na. Low P
6	Stipa sp.	Speargrass	Low ME	xs NDF. Low P, S, Zn
1	Tetragonia tetragonoides	Spinach	High CP, ME, Ca	xs Al, Cu, Fe, K, Na. Low NDF

Table 30 Relative nutritional strengths and weaknesses of pastoral plant species analysed across northern South Australia (Franklin-McEvoy and Jolly 2005)

In an earlier field study, Franklin-McEvoy (2005) analysed the nutritive value of pastoral plant species across northern South Australia which are summarised in Table 30; this work highlighted some of the factors about the mineral status of selected plant species that pastoralists identified as being key indicator species. Phosphorus and zinc deficiencies were prevalent whereas sodium, potassium and iron were generally present in amounts above animal requirements.

Daily requirements for copper and zinc differ between species and breeds of animal (Haenlein and Anke 2011) and as a further complication, plant tissues accumulate different concentrations of some trace elements as detailed in Table 31. These values will be representative of the soils in which the plants have been grown and should not be taken as absolutes.

	Copper	Zinc
Red clover	10	38
Lucerne	9	33
Mixed grasses	9	88
Maize green chop	8	63
Beet leaf silage	19	173
Maize silage	8	
Fodder beets	8	54
Rye	5	48
Barley	5	30
Wheat	4	39
Oats	3	45
Corn	2	
Brewer's grain	21	
Wheat bran	15	82
Rye bran	13	
Beet pulp	10	
Straw	3	

Table 31 Average contents (mg/kg DM) of copper and zinc in typical feeds for goats (Anke and Szentmihalyi 1986; Anke et al. 1993; cited in Haenlein and Anke 2011)

# Determination of mineral deficiencies in grazed plants

There is a plethora of information about the *average* nutritive value of various plant species however these values have limited relevance to individual situations. Producers should be encouraged to determine the mineral profile of their pastures at critical times of the year such as joining, pre kidding and weaning to ensure that the pasture or feed on offer is meeting the requirements of the particular class of goat.

It is apparent in high rainfall areas that mineral nutrition is of critical importance to goat survival and productivity however few producers appear to have a complete understanding of the deficiencies that exist, the correct method of detection or how to manage them.
Deficiencies can be induced from an interaction between minerals which may not be immediately obvious, for example; plant concentrations of copper may be within the normal range for a particular class of goat however if the concentration of sulphur, iron and molybdenum are high, it is likely that a copper deficiency will ensue. Similarly, where plant concentrations of potassium are high, magnesium and calcium can be rendered unavailable to the grazing animal despite being present in normal concentrations.

#### Detection of mineral deficiencies in goats

It is important to analyse the appropriate animal tissue to accurately detect a deficiency. Heinlein and Anke (2011) have determined the indicator tissues most likely to accumulate minerals and therefore to provide a reliable source of information. Tissue analysis is an expensive process, therefore it is important to ensure the correct tissue is sampled when a deficiency is suspected.

Different indicator tissues are required for analysis depending on the mineral of interest for example; ribs, for detection of zinc deficiency; blood or hair to detect deficiencies of molybdenum, selenium and iodine; liver analysis for detection of copper, manganese, cadmium and lead deficiencies. The appropriate indicator tissues for analysis are highlighted in Table 32.

Table 32 Indicator tissues for the detection of deficiency status in ruminants (Adapted from Anke et al.	
1988 cited in; Haenlein and Anke 2011)	

Tissue	Cu	Mn	Zn	Мо	Se	I
Liver	***	***	0	***	**	***
Kidneys	0	*	0	**	*	***
Brain	***	0	0	*	0	0
Ribs	0	0	***	*	0	0
Blood serum	*	0	0	***	***	***
Hair	*	*	*	***	**	***

Indicator tissues with \*\*\* (best), \*\* (medium), \*(low) or 0 no reliability for detection of deficiency

A Boer goat producer on the east coast of Australia has kindly provided the results of a 4 year study of mineral deficiencies carried out on his property; these results and comparative reference ranges are summarised in Table 33.

Table 33 Recommended reference ranges for blood calcium, phosphorus, potassium, copper and selenium for goats and results from Boer and Boer cross goats averaged over a 4 year period at Dorrigo NSW (Courtesy: J. Gilbert October 2011)

	Recomm	nended		Results	
	Underwood & Suttle (1999) & Puls(1989)	Goat average (source unknown)	Home bred (av.)	Grain diet (av.)	Bought in goats (av.)
	Bloo µmc				
Calcium	1.5-2.25(s)	2.2-3.1	2.1	2.3	2.3
Phosphorus	1.3-1.9 (s)	1.2-4.4	2.2	2.6	2.5
Potassium	3-6(s)	3.5-6.7	8	n/a	n/a
Copper	6-10	9-25	12	16	12
Selenium Values for sheep (s)	150-250	40-300	18	400	240

Values for sheep (s)

Unfortunately some of the analyses are not appropriate detection mechanisms for particular trace minerals. For example, copper deficiency is rarely detected with any degree of accuracy in blood samples – liver sampling is far more accurate as copper is stored in the liver. However recent work by Zervas *et al.* (1990) has raised questions about the ability of the goat to store copper in the liver; this requires further investigation. There is evidence of chronic and severe copper deficiency in goats on this property despite the recent introduction of routine mineral drenching; if the recommendations of NRC (2007) are accurate and the copper requirements for goats are significantly higher than for sheep, an increase in the rate of copper supplementation may be warranted.

In contrast, the selenium results are quite interesting where blood tests are generally highly accurate. The bought in and grain fed goats had normal selenium status which may indicate the purchased goats had been treated for selenium deficiency previously or came from a selenium-rich environment.

Cereal grains are known to be concentrated sources of selenium (Ensminger *et al.* 1990) which would account for the higher status of the grain fed goats. No comparative pasture samples were taken to determine selenium availability from the pasture-based diet for the home bred goats but one could assume a deficiency of selenium or an excess of sulphur may have been evident in the pasture.

Unless a severe deficiency of calcium and phosphorus was present blood tests are not reliable indicators of their status as normal homeostatic mechanisms attempt to continually mobilise these elements in order to maintain normal serum levels. The high serum level of potassium would be expected from animals grazing pastures inherently high in the mineral.

The cooperating goat producer has observed significant improvement in productivity of the goat herd following administration of the mineral drench detailed in Table 34 to his herd.

		Dose rate per hea	ad per 6 weeks
	Grams per litre	Does	Kids
Concentration	mg/ml	mg/ 10mls	mg/5mls
Magnesium	4.5	45	22.5
Cobalt	2	20	10
Selenium	2.1	21	10.5
Sulphur	26.7	267	133.5
Copper	3.6	36	18
Zinc	7.5	75	37.5
Manganese	5.1	51	25.5
Iodine	0.12	1.2	0.6
Sugars	42	420	210
Crude Protein	305	3050	1525
Kelp	110	1100	550
PEG	100	1000	500
Vit A	1.125	11.25	5.625
Vit D	7.5	75	37.5
Vit E	10	100	50

Table 34 Mineral-Plus drench (TNN Industries) administered to does in late pregnancy (Courtesy: J. Gilbert	
2011)	

The retention rate of copper sulphate in sheep and cattle as administered as an oral drench is approximately 2 weeks (Judson 2002).

Further blood testing was carried out to determine physiological responses to the mineral drench; these are detailed in Table 35. Selenium status had significantly improved however despite seemingly high doses of copper serum, copper status did not markedly increase. Liver tests may have revealed a clearer picture.

Table 35 Recommended reference ranges for blood calcium, phosphorus, copper and selenium for goats
and results from Boer and Boer cross goats 4 weeks after drenching with TNN Mineral-Plus at Dorrigo
NSW (Courtesy: J. Gilbert October 2011)

	Reference r	Reference ranges		Results (29/9/2010)			
	Underwood & Suttle (1999) & Puls(1989)	Goat average (TNN)	Kids	Does - mid pregnancy	Does - late pregnancy	Bucks	
	Blood (mmol/l)			Blood (mmol/l)			
Calcium	1.5-2.25(s)	2.2-3.1	2.19	2.34	2.23	2.42	
Phosphorus	1.3-1.9 (s)	1.2-4.4	1.57	2.1	1.4	1.5	
Copper	6-10	9-25	18.5	18.83	15.15	13.6	
Selenium	150-250	40-300	347	239	165.8	137	

Accurate determination of mineral deficiencies, taking account of deficiencies induced secondary to interactions is not a simple task and as well it can be an expensive process. Many producers opt instead to take a "shotgun" approach to mineral supplementation which unfortunately is actively encouraged by product salespeople.

As the effects of mineral deficiencies can be severe and in some cases have a significantly negative effect on productivity and hence profitability, and excesses of certain trace elements may be cumulative and fatal, producers should be encouraged to identify specific deficiencies within their own properties and to treat them accordingly.



Figure 21 Severe selenium deficiency is common in lambs and kids (Source: <u>http://www.infobarrel.com/Selenium\_Deficiency\_in\_Livestock</u>)

The signs and symptoms of mineral deficiencies in young goats are summarised in Table 36 as a guide. In addition, the function, manifestation and likelihood of mineral deficiencies occurring in sheep (Masters and White 1996) are summarised in Appendix 1 for interest.

#### Treatment of mineral deficiencies

Once a deficiency has been identified there may be a range of prophylactic or treatment options available; independent advice should be sought and the most cost-effective option implemented.

There are a vast range of mineral preparations available on the market, many of which do not contain sufficient mineral concentrations to adequately alleviate a severe deficiency. The reason for this is to avoid toxicity in animals that are not deficient as many products are sold by people with little knowledge of mineral nutrition or the mineral status of the property of the purchaser. Conversely, mineral drenches contain very high levels of trace minerals such that they require administration once every 6 weeks; the risk of toxicity when using these preparations has been evident in some sheep populations.

Producers and marketers alike appear to believe in the case of mineral nutrition that "more is better" or that "it can't hurt" however this is not always the case. Minerals such as iodine and cobalt have a wide margin for error but copper and selenium are highly toxic elements when administered in excess. Goats have a significantly higher tolerance to copper than sheep (Zervas *et al.* 1990) such that sheep store 6-9 times the amount of copper in the liver than goats. The toxic level of copper for goats has not been established.

Mineral deficiencies such as cobalt, copper or selenium can be treated with intra-ruminal capsules, mineral drenches, loose licks and blocks or by injection however care should be taken when feeding supplements designed for cattle as these may contain levels of minerals at toxic levels for goats. Rumen boluses or "bullets" have been shown to be highly effective in the prevention of copper, cobalt and selenium deficiency in sheep (Zervas *et al.* 1988), however there is some anecdotal suggestion that slow release selenium capsules failed to maintain adequate serum levels in treated goats for the recommended period of time (J. Gilbert pers. comm. October 2011).

Water medication is a popular method of supplementation in some areas, however with the exception of selenium, most mineral deficiencies peak in spring when foraging ruminants are inclined to drink less water.

Calcium deficiency is commonly found when stock have been grazing rangeland plants high in oxalates, or following long periods of stubble grazing or cereal grain supplementation. Calcium supplementation can be provided cost-effectively in the form of a loose lick of finely ground limestone with 10% salt added as an attractant. Unfortunately the use of salt as an appetiser has less effect in range country where goats have access to salty species.

Kawas and Andrade-Montemayer (2010) recommend the provision of lick blocks for supplementation of urea and molasses for goats browsing low quality feed, however although this type of supplementation is likely to assist in the maintenance of body condition in non-lactating animals, blocks are unlikely to provide sufficient protein or energy to support productive activity or to adequately address severe mineral deficiencies.

	Ca	Р	Mg	Se	к	S	Fe	Cu	Мо	Со	Zn	Mn	I	NaCl
Reduced growth rate	Х	х	х	-	х	-	Х	х	х	x	х	х	х	х
Inappetance	x	х	х	-	х	х	Х	х	х	x	х	-	х	х
Low reproductive rates	x	х	-	х	-	х	х	х	-	х	-	х	х	-
Weak offspring	x	х	-	х	-	-	х	-	-	-	-	х	х	х
Low milk production	x	х	-	-	х	-	-	х	-	х	х	-	х	х
Other effects:														
Alopecia											x		х	
Anaemia							х	x		x				
Ataxia				х				x		x		x		
Cachexie								х		х	х			
Cardiac problems				х										
Dermatitis											х			
Diarrhoea				х						х				
Dyspnoea				х										
Oestrus irregular												х		
Goitre													х	
Heat stress					х									
Hoof deformation											х			
Milk fever	x		х											
Osteophagia		х												
Pica								х		х				
Rough hair														х
Skeletal deformation								x			x	х		
Spontaneous fracture								x						
Staring								x			x	х	х	
Stillbirth								х						
Tetany			х											
Weak, dull						х								
White muscle disease.				х										

Table 36 Symptoms of mineral deficiencies in young goats (Haenlein, 2011); positive (x); negative (-)

#### Mineral requirements of goats

#### Macro minerals

#### **Calcium and Phosphorus**

Calcium is required in the diet of kids for bone growth and development, muscle function and to reduce the incidence of urinary calculi. Calcium and phosphorus are required in the diet at a ratio of 2:1 to prevent calculi formation in bucks and male kids particularly if being supplemented with grain. Grain rations are inherently deficient in calcium and high in phosphorus such that calcium supplementation is essential unless legume hay or silage is a major component of the diet. Leguminous pastures are rich in calcium in contrast to grass dominant pastures which can be deficient.

Phosphorus deficiency is not a common finding in intensive grazing systems however it is inherent in native pasture systems such as found in the rangelands. Phosphorus deficiency has been reported to reduce intake in goats by between 10 and 50% (Ternouth 1991).

Sources of calcium include finely ground limestone (35-38% calcium), which is typically the most cost-effective source, gypsum (23% calcium; 18% sulphur) and dicalcium phosphate (22% calcium; 18% phosphorus). Dicalcium phosphate is seldom required in the diet as phosphorus is rarely a limiting factor unless by-products are being fed. Care needs to be taken if providing gypsum on an *ad-libitum* basis as excessive intake of sulphur can induce a selenium deficiency.

#### Sodium

As cereal grains, particularly wheat, tend to be inherently low in sodium, grain based finishing rations require additional sodium. Sodium can be provided as sodium chloride (salt), sodium bicarbonate or sodium bentonite at an addition rate of 1% of the total diet. A deficiency of salt in the diet can result in a reduction in dry matter intake and hence, growth rate (Underwood and Suttle 1999). The inclusion of sodium in the diet of kids on high grain diets, also provides a buffering effect against ruminal acidosis by increasing rumen outflow rate and hence the pH of rumen fluid. The addition of salt to the diet stimulates water intake which assists in the prevention of urinary calculi.

#### Potassium

Diets containing urea may require supplementation with potassium. Sources of potassium include potassium chloride or potassium iodide, which is frequently used by stockfeed manufacturers in prepared feeds as a supplemental source of iodine and potassium.

A deficiency of potassium may depress growth rates of kids secondary to reduced dry matter intake although care should be taken with supplementation as dietary potassium in excess can reduce the absorption of magnesium. The strength of a potassium: magnesium antagonism study in goats suggested that the requirements for goats may be more aligned to that of sheep, than cattle (Schonewille *et al.* 1997 cited in; Suttle 2010).

#### Magnesium

Supplemental magnesium is seldom required other than where goats are grazing improved pastures during autumn around the 'break of the season', where on individual properties, magnesium deficiency can occur. Magnesium deficiency can also occur in response to high levels of rumen ammonia on high protein diets, which is more likely to occur on pasture-based finishing

systems than in feedlots. Sources of magnesium include magnesium oxide (54% magnesium), calcium magnesium carbonate (dolomite – 8-12.5% magnesium) or magnesium sulphate (10% magnesium).

Signs of magnesium deficiency include excessive salivation, rigidity of the limbs, inappetance and death (NRC 1985).

### Sulphur

Additional sulphur is required to complement urea where it is used as a source of non-protein nitrogen. The recommended ratio of urea to sulphur for cattle lies between 10:1 and 13:1; this ratio is required to facilitate synthesis of microbial protein (O'Reagain and McMeniman 2002), however it is unclear if the ratio for goats is the same. High levels of dietary sulphur may reduce the availability of selenium.

#### Micro minerals or trace elements or trace minerals

The most economically important trace minerals (also commonly referred to as trace elements) for small ruminants include selenium, cobalt, copper and zinc. Deficiencies of any or all of these, has been shown to result in a depression in growth rate and dry matter intake of lambs (Lee *et al.* 2002).

Goats grazing spring pastures in southern Australia may be deficient in one or all of the above trace elements and require supplementation. However, care should be exercised, particularly in terms of copper supplementation as the potential risk of toxicity is high, and the margin for error low. Goats grazing in the cereal zones over the summer period may have ingested *Heliotropium europaeum* (potato weed) containing hepatotoxic alkaloids that can cause copper accumulation in the liver.

Cereal grains are generally low in selenium, therefore supplementation is recommended for goats on long term, high grain rations, although care should be exercised if supplementing from additional sources such as inclusions in drenches and vaccinations. Many commonly grazed plant species in the pastoral areas of South Australia are known to be high in selenium and lambs grazing those species have been found to have high serum activity of glutathione peroxidase, an indicator of selenium status (Jolly 2003 unpub.). Suttle (2010) suggests that the selenium requirement for goats may be halfway between that of sheep and cattle however NRC (2007) recommends five times the daily selenium requirements for kids than lambs.

Copper deficiency presents in neonatal kids as "swayback" or congenital ataxia due to inefficient synthesis of the myelin sheath during foetal development. Copper deficiency may also cause chronic scouring and infertility and is prevalent in many areas of Australia from the rangelands to high rainfall areas. Copper deficiency in pastoral shrub species in north east Mexico is also prevalent (Haenlein and Fahmy 1999). Despite reporting that goats require between 14 and 28 mg copper per head per day, Poore and Luginbuhl (2002) suggest that the copper requirements for goats have not been clearly defined. Dairy goats and Boer crosses appear less susceptible to copper toxicity than sheep (Zervas *et al.* 1990; Solaiman *et al.* 2001; Poore and Luginbuhl 2002) such that NRC (2007) suggests the toxic level for goats may be similar to cattle at 40 mg/kg. Haenlein and Anke (2011) report that although toxicity symptoms have been noted in sheep at 10-20 mg Cu/kg DM, goats retain 6-9 times less copper in their livers than lambs implying differences in utilisation and tolerance of toxicity than lambs (Zervas *et al.* 1990).

Copper absorption is influenced by the sulphur, iron and molybdenum concentration in the diet and the absorption levels where sulphur and molybdenum concentrations are within normal limits are detailed in Table 37. Deficiencies are increasingly found in regions where acid soils have been extensively limed which as soil pH increases, increases the availability of molybdenum. Interactions with, and antagonism from these minerals will determine the daily copper requirements of goats which Kessler (1991 cited in NRC 2007) determined to be 8-10 mg/kg DM.

Dietary sulphur	Dietary molybdenum	Copper absorption
g/kg	mg/kg	%
1.5	1	5.15
2	1	4.65
2.5	1	4.2
1.5	1.5	5.03
2	1.5	4.51
2.5	1.5	4.04
1.5	2	4.91
2	2	4.36
2.5	2	3.88
Mean copper absorpti	on, %	4.53
Standard deviation		0.5

 Table 37 Copper absorption in ruminants based on normal concentrations of molybdenum and sulphur in the diet (Suttle and McLauchlin 1976)

Cobalt deficiency is relatively common in weaned spring drop lambs in high rainfall areas, and in young ruminants fed grain-based finishing rations. Cobalt is required by rumen micro-organisms for the synthesis of Vitamin  $B_{12}$  (CSIRO 1990). Symptoms include suboptimal growth rates in young stock and watery eyes. Supplementation can be provided in the form of slow release cobalt capsules or as injectable Vitamin  $B_{12}$ . It is important to determine the need for supplementation with Vitamin  $B_{12}$  as it is widely promoted as being beneficial to livestock however when purchased as a component of vaccinations, it will double the cost.

Goats grazing either the pastoral areas of southern Australia or in the wheat-sheep zone may be at risk of zinc deficiency and may require additional zinc in their diet. Extensive analysis of improved pastures and shrubs from the South Australian pastoral zone (Jolly 2003 unpub) has revealed widespread zinc deficiency. Extensive areas of the cropping zone now is zinc deficient (P. March pers. comm. September 2006), which has been attributed to the long term use of chlorsulphuron herbicides in wheat crops (Osborne and Robson 1992).

Symptoms of zinc deficiency may include reduced dry matter intake, skeletal and reproductive disorders and abnormalities of the skin. The recommended daily intake of zinc for goats varies from between 37 and 52 mg/kg DM (Suttle 2010) and 50 mg/kg DM (AFRC 1997). Zinc can be applied to pastures as a component of a fertiliser blend or directly supplemented as zinc sulphate via water medication.

Of lesser importance are the trace elements manganese, iron and iodine however iodine deficiency is more commonly seen in the higher rainfall, mountainous areas of Victoria and Tasmania. According to The Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and Environment in Tasmania, goat kids are highly susceptible to iodine deficiency and attribute their high mortality rate to cold stress secondary to the deficiency.

Pregnant does deficient in iodine are more prone to producing weak and/or stillborn kids or in less severe cases, kids with evidence of goitre. As iodine deficiency reduces an animal's capacity to withstand cold stress, it may be a more important factor involved in the high mortality rates of kids in high rainfall areas than has previously been considered.

Under seasonal conditions that promote rapid pasture growth, iodine deficiency is more likely to occur. Iodine deficiency has been shown to significantly reduce fertility and body weight gain (Table 38), increase abortion rates and mortality of newborn dairy goat kids (Haenlein and Anke 2011). Goats grazing brassica crops or *Leucaena* species (Pattanaik *et al.* 2011) have increased susceptibility to an induced deficiency (Underwood and Suttle 1999) due to the presence of goitrogens that reduce the availability of iodine.

The commercial cost of testing pasture for iodine concentration is currently in excess of \$100 per sample however if supplementation can significantly reduce kid mortality, testing is likely to be a worthy investment.

Drenching with 20 g potassium iodide in 1 litre water given at 10 mls per 20 kg liveweight 4 weeks pre mating, 6-8 weeks pre kidding and again 2 weeks before kidding commences has been suggested as a reliable prophylactic in known iodine deficient regions (http://boergoat.une.edu.au/technical%20articles/issue15 cobalt selenium iodine.pdf).

	l-deficient go	ats (n=19)		Control goats	s (n=18)
	(0.04 mg I)	(0.06 mg I)	(0.11 mg I)	(0.40 mg I)	(0.63 mg l)
Success of $1^{st}$ insemination %	27***	40*	36	73	80
Conception rate, %	79 ns	77	85	83	83
Abortion rate, %	47**	20	18	0	0
Length of pregnancy, days	158**	156	152	152	151
Mortality of born kids, %	83*	-	42	5	-
BW gain, g/day					
1-84 days	90*	-	-	123	-
85-262 days	71*	-	-	105	-
I content					
Milk, 14 <sup>th</sup> day, nmol/L	39***	-	-	1823	-
Hair, 50 <sup>th</sup> day, µg/kg DM	165**	-	-	540	-
Uterus, μg/kg DM	75**	80	100	300	350
Lungs, µg/kg DM	40**	50	100	375	410
Liver, µg/kg DM	40**	50	90	175	200
Pancreas, µg/kg DM	62**	62	73	297	297
Brain µg∕kg DM	30**	40	50	75	102
Kidneys, μg/kg DM	50**	75	100	250	301
Heart, μg/kg DM	30**	50	90	120	162

Table 38 Effects of I-deficient ration (mg I/kg DM) on reproduction and tissue contents of goats (adapted from Groppel et al. 1990 cited in Haenlein and Anke 2011)

Ns = P > 0.05; - = no data

\*\*\* P < 0.001

<sup>\*</sup> P < 0.05

<sup>\*\*</sup> P < 0.01

Manganese deficiency is not commonly seen in ruminants in Australia but there are small known pockets of prevalence where calves and lambs have been born with skeletal deformities. Suttle (2010) states that "data on manganese deficiency in goats are meagre and their minimum requirements ill-defined".

#### Vitamin deficiencies

Free ranging goats with access to green feed are unlikely to experience severe vitamin deficiencies.

Vitamin A is essential for effective vision and immune cell function and deficiency symptoms include night blindness, depression in growth rate and an increase in susceptibility to disease. Goats can be at risk of a deficiency of Vitamin A resulting in reduced feed intake and growth rate or body weight gain, once liver stores are depleted. Liver stores will provide adequate amounts of Vitamin A for approximately three to six months after the disappearance of green feed. Vitamin A metabolism and tolerance of a deficiency is thought to be the same for sheep as goats (Donoghue *et al.* 1983) however there is no definitive proof of this. Vitamin A requirements increase when kids are fed high grain diets, grazing toxic plants or recovering from severe parasite infestation.

Vitamin B1 or thiamine deficiency (polioencephalomalacia) has been reported in Victoria in pasture-based goats following a sudden change in feed (Thomas *et al.* 1987); feeding mouldy hay or silage can also precipitate the disease. A change in diet may stimulate production of thiaminases in the rumen which effectively "tie up" thiamine. Vitamin B1 deficiency is not uncommon in grain supplemented goats in Western Australia over summer and autumn or in Queensland goats grazing bracken fern (Hungerford 1990).

Goats are generally found lying on their side with legs rigidly extended with nystagmus (rotating eyeballs) and aimlessly gazing about (Hungerford 1990). The condition can be avoided by a gradual change in feed, or by the addition of a prophylactic dose of thiamine added to a mineral concentrate. Alternatively 750-1000 mgs of thiamine hydrochloride powder may be administered as an oral drench (Hungerford 1990).

Vitamin  $B_{12}$  deficiency is caused by a lack of cobalt in the diet. Vitamin  $B_{12}$  plays an essential role in the conversion of sugars and starches into glucose (Hungerford 1990) and signs of a deficiency include poor growth, listlessness, scaly ears, inappetance, weight loss and anaemia. The vitamin  $B_{12}$  requirements of sheep are not well defined in the literature, however recent evidence suggests that goats requirements for Vitamin  $B_{12}$  is comparable with that of sheep (NRC 2007) and that the minimum requirements for sheep are adequate for goats.

The Vitamin D requirements for goats have not been reviewed since the publication of NRC (1981) where the recommendations were extrapolated from the requirements for sheep and cattle. Lambs backgrounded on pasture reportedly have sufficient stores of Vitamin D to last for 6-15 weeks (CSIRO 1990). Vitamin D deficiency is unlikely to be found in free ranging goats however goats grazing forage cereals for extended periods may have young kids that are at risk of developing rickets.

Vitamin E acts as an antioxidant removing free radicals and protecting the integrity of cell membranes in a complementary activity with selenium (CSIRO 1990). Signs of Vitamin E deficiency include stiffness of gait, although bright and alert (Hungerford 1990), and myopathy or muscle wasting (CSIRO 1990).

Vitamin E deficiency has been frequently reported in sheep in Queensland grazing bracken fern and in Western Australian lambs grazing wheat stubbles for prolonged periods over summer and autumn; however there is some disagreement as to the accuracy of the diagnosis.

The mineral requirements of goats has largely been determined from a few studies of dairy goats and extrapolated from dairy cattle and sheep such that accurate information remains elusive. NRC (2007) provides the most detailed set of recommendations for all classes of goat that they suggest require validation.

There is evidence that goat producers in medium to high rainfall areas are incurring serious productivity losses (Table 39) which may or may not be attributable to mineral or trace element deficiencies; this requires urgent attention if the domesticated goat industry is to prosper.

Season	2009	2010	
	% of herd - 5	00 does	
Joining to scanning	5	3	
Does dry at scanning	23	24	
Does dry at marking	19	17	
Dead at birth	14	12	
Deaths: birth to weaning	24	29	

Table 39 Production losses of Boer goats through the breeding cycle (Courtesy: C. Ramsay October 2011)

Although these productivity losses are similar to anecdotal reports for sheep, the gross margins from intensive sheep production systems are reportedly higher than for goats and are therefore more able to overcome the financial losses.

# Conclusion

Mineral deficiencies have the potential to result in significant production losses either due to morbidity or mortality and it is clear that the requirements for goats require further clarification. However in the meantime producers would benefit from establishing the extent of deficiencies on their own properties, such that remedial programs can be implemented and assessed; avoidance of the "shotgun" approach should be encouraged such that any supplementation strategies are soundly based and implemented cost-effectively.

Soil, plant and animal investigations to determine the extent of deficiencies appear justified in productive environments however monitoring of faecal material via FNIRS technology where calibrations exist for the detection of any deficiencies in rangeland systems may be more appropriate.

There is little doubt that following season 2010-2011 during which time many areas of southern Australia experienced above average rainfall, mineral deficiencies have been more evident. However goat producers appear likely to benefit from research programs directed toward the effects and remediation of copper, cobalt, selenium and iodine deficiencies on goat production across a range of genotypes in high rainfall environments.

#### Recommended further research

- Verify the daily mineral requirements of domesticated goats
- Determine the links between copper deficiency, lameness and scouring in goats
- Determine the daily requirement of copper supplementation for goats
- Verify the length of activity of 3 year selenium capsules in goats
- Determine the relationship between production losses and mineral deficiencies in medium to high rainfall areas

#### Water requirements of goats

Water requirements of goats vary with breed, genotype (Olsson *et al.* no date no date), and stage of productivity; environmental conditions and dietary factors such as dry matter intake, feed composition and secondary metabolites present in plant species affect water requirements (Estell 2010). Daily water intake of goats is reportedly approximately 3 times dry matter intake (Giger-Reverdin and Gihad 1991) and can be as high as 4 litres per kg dry matter intake (INRA 1978).

Water intake as a proportion of milk yield varies from 1.28 litres/kg milk (Giger-Reverdin and Gihad 1991) to 1.43 litres/kg milk (Morand-Fehr and Sauvant 1978 cited in NRC 1981) however McGregor (2005) asserts that NRC (1981) recommendations for water requirements are outdated. McGregor (2005) recommends between 4-9 litres of water per goat per day and 1 litre per kg milk produced for lactating does.

Goats grazing in arid environments tend to have lower water requirements due to adaptive mechanisms for water regulation; Silanikove (1989) attributed this reduced requirement to a lower energy demand as an increase in energy demand is strongly associated with an increase in water use (Macfarlane and Howard 1966). Khan *et al.* (1978) observed after 4 days of water deprivation goats were better adapted than sheep or cattle in the central arid zone of India where Barmer goats (Figure 22) lost weight at the rate of 1.5% per day, Merino sheep at 4-5% and cattle at 8% of liveweight per day.



Figure 22 A Barmer goat (Khan et al. 1978)

McGregor (1986) observed that Angora wether goats grazing dry pastures during summer had a 50% higher water intake than fine wool Merino wethers however in 2004 McGregor reported that goats drank less water than sheep when shade was provided.

Goats appear to prefer saline water up to 12,500 mg/I TDS and Boer goats (Casey and Niekerk 1988) have higher water use than Angora goats (McGregor 2003). Water intake per unit of dry matter intake is lower in goats than sheep (Devendra 1989) and the water economy or turnover rate is more efficient in goats.

In contrast Alamer (2011) reported that Aardi goats in Saudi Arabia had lower water intakes than Awassi sheep during winter but higher intakes in summer however goats that have evolved in dry environments appear to have lower water requirements than their temperate counterparts (NRC 2007). (Silanikove 1989) attributed this characteristic to their lower ME requirements.

(NRC 2007) concluded that under similar environmental conditions, water intake of goats exceeded that of sheep; it therefore appears that the variation in requirements across breeds, genotypes and environments might create difficulties in transposition of recommendations across all goats.

Highly mineralised water affects the voluntary intake of all livestock and any depression in water intake is usually accompanied with a decrease in dry matter intake (NRC 2007). In addition it has been reported that water consumption of sheep and goats increases threefold when fed a high salt diet (Arieli *et al.* 1989; Giger-Reverdin and Gihad 1991; Masters *et al.* 2005).

Water intake may be influenced by feeding methods such that Devendra (1989) reported the daily water intake of goats fed *ad-libitum* averaged 3.5litres/kg DM. This reflected a consumption of 6% of body weight in winter which increased to 9% in summer.

#### Water quality

The water requirements of goats, predominantly Angora goats, has been extensively reviewed by McGregor (2004, 2005) where the emphasis of the research was clearly focused on the management of goats under drought conditions and their intake of saline water. Table 38 summarises the recommendations of total dissolved solids (TDS) tolerance levels for sheep and goats from three sources however the origins of these recommendations remain unclear. Scarlett (2002 cited in McGregor 2005) suggests that where stock have access to halophytic plants that the salinity levels in the water supply should be reduced by 30%; although where goats have access to bore water of low quality it is often not feasible to dilute the salinity to any degree. It should not be assumed however that water quality in the rangelands is of low quality as in many areas the water is potable.

Growth rate of lambs is supressed when the salinity of drinking water exceeds 3500ppm (CSIRO 1990) and as goat kids tend to be significantly smaller than lambs, the recommendations in Table 40 may need to be treated with caution. A publication from DPI Victoria (2010) states that water with an EC of <5800 (3700 TDS) is suitable for all classes of livestock however the origins of this recommendation remain unclear.

The tolerance of goats to saline water is likely to be dependent on whether they were born into the environment or introduced, with the former more likely to show greater levels of tolerance.

	Sheep (Court 2002)	Goat (Scarlett, 2002)	NRC, (2007)
		TDS, mg/l	
Class of animal			
Young	5000	7000	2000 - 4900
Dry adult	10000	14000	
Lactating female	5000	10000	

Table 40 Suggested maximum desirable level of total dissolved solids (TDS) in water available to sheep and goats (adapted from McGregor 2005; NRC 2007)

Results from a survey of 31 goat producers conducted by McGregor (2004) suggested that goats generally survived well on saline water up to 11,000 mg/l TDS and at higher levels some dilution factor was required such as access to lush pasture or blending with higher quality water.

#### Conclusion

The tolerance of goats to saline water without a detrimental effect on productivity will depend on their level of adaptation, age, diet and stage of productivity or class. Saline water will initially increase DM intake however when the tolerance level is reached intake depression will follow. Where possible and if appropriate, dilution of saline water to a tolerable or productive level is recommended.

Where optimal levels of productivity are required it is important to ensure that an adequate supply of clean, high quality water is available at all times.

#### Recommendations for further research

There does not appear to be any requirements for further research into the water requirements of goats.

# Nutrient requirements of reproductive goats

#### Nutrition and ovulation

There are a range of factors that influence reproductive behaviour of small ruminants which include day length, socio-sexual cues and energy balance (Blache *et al.* 2008); hence nutrition is a potent driver of reproductive capacity.

Goats are dependent on their energy balance being positive or slightly negative during the reproductive cycle in order to meet the energetic demand of reproduction. Increasing energy intake increases the reproductive capacity of goats (Sachdeva *et al.* 1973) however it appears as if both the timing and level of energy increase are equally important (Blache *et al.* 2008). Key times along the reproductive axis where nutritional supplements may have a positive effect on reproduction are highlighted in Figure 23.



Figure 23 Strategic feeding periods during the reproductive cycle that may affect reproductive success of the herd (Blache et al. 2008 modified after Martin 2004)

Between 5-8 days of feeding energy and protein supplements such as lupin grain (Oldham and Lindsay 1984) has been shown to increase ovulation rates of ewes as has more recent work investigating the effect of different pasture types on ovulatory responses (Figure 24).



Figure 24 Mean ovulation rate per ewe grazing a range of pastures 2006-2008 (Robertson and Friend 2010)

However in contrast Acero-Camelo *et al.* (2008) noted no reproductive responses to flushing meat goats with concentrates prior to mating. As with any form of supplementation it is important that it complements the nutritive value of the base diet such that the nutrient requirements of the animal are met and not exceeded. Where this is not the case responses to supplementation may differ.

Damascan goats have reportedly responded to glucose injections with a significant increase (P> 0.05) in oestrus activity (Salem *et al.* 2011) which implies that the provision of an energy source such as cereal grain pre joining may produce similar ovulatory responses in goats as ewes. Pakistani Kosta does demonstrated significant responses to an increase in dietary ME to 9.2 MJ/kg DM (Aritonang 2009) in terms of feed efficiency, liveweight gain, birth weight and weaning weight; in addition, reproductive performance improved with earlier onset of puberty, shorter pregnancy and increased litter size.

Dairy goats fed low to medium energy levels during the dry period have improved reproductive rates and milk production (Lee *et al.* 2003) and increased fecundity and twinning rates (Kusina *et al.* 2001). Focus feeding strategies are currently under investigation by Blache and Martin (2009) in sheep and goats in Mediterranean regions.

It is well accepted that ovulation increases concurrently with body weight in sheep and a similar relationship has been reported in Saanen goats during the breeding season in Turkey (Serin *et al.* 2010) such that these authors recommend feeding high energy supplements to goats in lower condition pre joining. Mellado *et al.* (2005) observed that litter size and birth weight of crossbred goats were influenced by liveweight of does at mating and that lactation concurrent with pregnancy resulted in a significant depressive effect on reproductive success.

In earlier work Mellado *et al.* (2004) reported significant effects of low body condition, age, polledness and low magnesium and calcium intakes at joining on reproductive rate of cross bred does under range conditions.

Although the focus of reproductive success is more likely to be on the female the contribution of the male should not be ignored however it is often given less attention; Martin *et al.* (2010) in a review of the interactions between nutrition and reproduction in the male ruminant, commented that a reduction in feed intake profoundly affected sperm production, and that energy intake was likely to be more important than protein intake in remediation. In contrast, Abi-Saab *et al.* (1997) observed male kids fed a high protein diet (18%) from 28 days of age had significantly higher semen volume, sperm viability and concentration which remained significant at 7 months of age, than those on a 12% protein diet.

# Nutrition during gestation

The relationship between nutrition and embryo survival may differ between sheep and goats as progesterone is produced by the corpus luteum in goats and by the uterus in pregnant sheep, and it is progesterone that maintains the pregnancy. Excessively high nutritional inputs post joining have reduced progesterone production (Parr *et al.* 1987; Landau and Molle 1997) and increased embryo loss (Gunn 1983) in sheep however it is not known if the effects are similar in goats (Blache *et al.* 2008). A restriction in dry matter intake to 25% of maintenance requirements can have a detrimental effect on embryonic development (Parr and Williams 1982) in sheep and should be avoided for the first 30 days after breeding when most embryonic losses occur (Schoenian 2011).

The abortion rate in goats can be affected by feeding low quality roughage such that Hussain *et al.* (1996) reported a significant increase in the abortion rate of does fed a low quality diet between days 90-120 of pregnancy. Diseases such as toxoplasmosis and campylobacter should also be considered as potential causes of abortion however their effects are more commonly seen in late pregnancy.

There is a plethora of evidence in sheep that poor nutrition during pregnancy negatively affects the reproductive potential of the progeny (Blache *et al.* 2008) however although Squires (1981) observed that ewes appeared more sensitive to under-nutrition than does under rangeland conditions, there is little similar work published for goats.

#### Nutrition in late pregnancy and early lactation

Foetal growth accelerates significantly in sheep during the last 60 days of gestation (Figure 25) and as such, nutrient requirements also increase. It is unlikely that increased demand will be met by an increase in intake alone as in the case of multiple pregnancies, the gravid uterus occupies an increasing amount of space within the peritoneal cavity, reducing the capacity of the rumen to expand.



# Figure 25 Foetal weight, placental growth and vascular development patterns in Merino ewes (Source: <u>http://www.agric.wa.gov.au/PC\_91913.htm</u>)

It is important for the nutrient density of the feed on offer to increase during late pregnancy to align with demand and alleviate the imperative to increase intake as previously described.

Theoretical application of intake recommendations in a grazing situation can be misleading as goats will not necessarily increase or limit their daily dry matter intake to meet energy demand. The NDF concentration of the pasture will significantly influence intake regardless of demand and there are no guarantees that goats will limit their intake of a high quality pasture to align with daily requirements. Application of dry sheep equivalent (dse) ratings to set stocking rates are based on an assumption of dry matter intake increasing with demand however this is often not the case in practise.

As pregnancy advances feed quality has a far greater effect on litter weight, milk yield and lactation length than the quantity of feed on offer (Frileux *et al.* 2003) however differences between genotypes have been reported; Sibanda *et al.* (1999) noted that Matabele does

appeared to be resistant to nutritional stress in late pregnancy as an important characteristic of their adaptation to range conditions.

The changing nutrient requirements during pregnancy and into early lactation are reflected in the recommendations by NRC (2007) summarised for a twin-bearing, non-dairy doe at 60 kg liveweight in Table 41. As previously discussed the reason for the decline in nutrient density recommendations during lactation compared with late pregnancy are difficult to explain. Increasing ME and protein intake in early lactation will limit the mobilisation of body fat and protein, minimise body weight loss and enhance the doe's reproductive capacity after kidding. Hamel and Cote (2009) reported the intake of does increased by up to 40% during lactation above that of non-lactating goats whereas NRC (2007) suggest an increase closer to 15 percent.

			DMI		ME		Crude protein	
		LW	% LW kg MJ/kg/d	MJ/kg	g/d	% of		
		(kg)	70 L V V	DM/d	wij/ky/u	DM	y/u	DM
Twin pregr	nancy							
Gestation	Early	60	2.38%	1.43	11.42	8	140	9.3%
	Late	60	2.54%	1.52	15.23	10	206	13.6%
	Early lactation	60	2.91%	1.75	13.97	8	207	11.8%

Table 41 Recommended daily intake (DMI) and energy requirement for a 60kg non-dairy, twin-bearing doe in early and late pregnancy and early lactation (adapted from NRC 2007)

As pregnancy advances, increasing the nutrient density of the diet (MJ/kg DM) assists in overcoming the potential limit in dry matter intake that occurs due to the increasing size of the gravid uterus. However these recommendations fail to account for does grazing high quality pasture where the ME density of the feed on offer may be as high as 12 MJ ME/kg DM and, as such, intake is not required to increase for nutrient requirements to be met. Similarly daily protein recommendations assume a given level of intake, but also fail to account for a pasture that may be as high as 30% crude protein. It is the responsibility of the person using these guidelines to properly account for these variations.

The nutrient requirements of goats appear to vary between genotypes according to NRC (2007) and summarised in Table 42.

Table 42 Variation in dry matter intake (DMI), crude protein and energy (ME) requirements for three different genotypes of goat at 50 kg liveweight in early lactation with twin kids at foot (adapted from NRC 2007)

-	LW	DMI	Crude protein	Crude protein	ME
Genotype	kg	DMI kg/d	gms/d	%DM	MJ/d
Dairy doe	50	2.30	305	13.2	18.46
Non-dairy doe	50	1.54	202	13.1	12.30
Angora doe	50	1.48	205	13.9	14.77

As dairy does are likely to have significantly higher output of milk production than meat or fibreproducing does, their intake, protein and energy requirements are likely to be similarly increased. The differences between the requirements of a meat doe and a fleece producing doe, although insignificant, remain unclear. Again, the assumption behind these recommendations is that these does will be grazing low quality pasture with an ME density of 8 MJ.kg DM and a crude protein concentration of 13-14% which may occur more frequently under range conditions. In more intensive grazing situations does with kids at foot would be more likely to be grazing pastures of significantly higher quality.

It is also important to be reminded at this point that these recommendations should be treated with caution as they do not include any allowance for activity. The recommendations may be applicable to dairy does however it is not likely that rangeland or domesticated meat or fibre producing does will be managed in confinement for long periods and may require an adjustment for activity.

# Conclusion

Although recent publications and reviews refer to sheep and goats in their recommendations for nutrition in pregnancy much of the work contained in this section has been developed from experimental sheep. It appears that some variation in recommendations may be required for different genotypes of goats however the evidence is not convincing nor is the premise on which they are based.

It would appear logical that requirements would increase with advancing pregnancy as for all other ruminants; however the degree of increase remains largely untested. It would seem reasonable in the meantime to apply the same nutritional strategies for reproduction to intensively managed goats as for sheep to stimulate ovulation and account for increasing nutritional demand of the growing foetus(s).

The exclusion of an activity account in all NRC (2007) recommendations remains a concern which requires addressing if productivity of the Australian domesticated goat is to increase in the near future.

#### Recommended further research

- Validation of the nutrient requirements for reproductive does of all genotypes as considered appropriate
- Investigation of an appropriate activity rating to be applied to all nutrient recommendations for pregnancy and lactation
- Development of a set of comprehensive and practical set of nutrient guidelines for reproductive does for use by the goat industry
- Application and validation of the current and well researched nutritional strategies for ewes as they may apply to goats

# Nutrition of weaned kids

Nutrition of the doe during pregnancy has a significant effect on the birth weight, survival rate and early vigour of kids (Aregheore and Lungu 1997); similarly, lambs that have been subjected to a period of nutritional restriction during foetal life exhibit suboptimal development of the small and large intestine (Trahair *et al.* 1997), deposit less bone, less muscle and more fat to weaning (Greenwood *et al.* 1998; Greenwood and Bell 2003) and have reduced reproductive performance over their lifetime (Rhind *et al.* 1998). These effects should be similarly considered for goats.

# Early weaning

Kids can be weaned as young as 5 weeks of age or at a minimum live weight of 8.5 kg provided they have access to concentrate feed (grain) pre weaning and are consuming a minimum of 30 grams of concentrate per head per day (Morand-Fehr 1981; Lu and Potchoiba 1988). Male kids appear to be more susceptible to 'weaning shock", defined as weight loss post-weaning, than their female counterparts, therefore it is recommended that male kids are not weaned before 7 weeks of age. The greater the degree of weaning shock, the lower the compensatory growth response at 5-7 months (Morand-Fehr et *al.* 1982).

Lu and Potchoiba (1988) reported that liveweight at 16 weeks of age was significantly higher in dairy goats kids weaned at 8-10 weeks of age (Table 43) as opposed to those weaned between 4-6 weeks however weaning shock is likely to be significantly reduced by weaning according to weight rather than age.

	Weaning weight, kg					
	8	9	10	11		
n	6	6	7	8		
Days on milk	31	35	42	49		
Total milk intake, kg	38.5	48.9	55.0	68.1		
Dry matter intake, kg	35.9	42.6	33.9	35.7		
Weight gain, g/d	123	150	136	150		

Table 43 Effect of weaning weight on milk intake, weight gain and dry matter intake of dairy goat kids (from Teh et al. 1984 citied in Lu and Potchoiba 1988)

Palma and Galina (1995) investigated the effect of early (10 kg LW) and partial weaning to 15 kg LW of dairy kids and found the early weaned group grew at 98 g/d and the partially weaned (provided with an extra 30 days of milk) grew at 120 g/d, but at a 33% cost disadvantage. Both groups had achieved mating weight (60% of mature weight) by 8 months of age.

# Rumen development

Rumen development from birth to weaning determines dry matter intake potential and the ability of the weaned kid to absorb nutrients. Post weaning productivity and survival is more likely to be optimised if weaning is delayed until the completion of rumen development and the post weaning diet is sufficiently concentrated to meet the requirements of kids of relatively low body weights.

The development of the rumen is characterised by weight and hence capacity in terms of future dry matter intake potential and internal papillae growth which influences absorption of volatile fatty acids (VFA) from carbohydrate fermentation (Tamate *et al.* 1962). Amaral *et al.* (2005) investigated the morphological characteristics of rumen development in response to pre weaning

supplementation of Saanan goat kids fed different diets and found that kids fed a pelleted total ration compared with a ground or extruded total ration had significantly higher dry matter intakes pre and post weaning, higher weight gain and significantly advanced rumen development by 60 days of age.

Although the development of rumen papillae increased with increasing age, those kids fed the pelleted diet (PGR) had significantly increased papillae development (Figure 26). More advanced rumen development and hence increased DMI potential resulted in a 46.7% increase in live weight gain.



Figure 26 Photomicrography of the ruminal dorsal sac of Saanan kids at 60 days of age fed a ground total ration (GTR-A), pelleted total ration (PTR-B) or extruded total ration (ETR-C) (Amaral et al. 2005)

Kratochvil *et al.* (1996) investigated the weights of various organs of male Korean goat kids between 24 – 75 days of age and reported maximal rumen growth between 24 and 42 days with an increasing weight trend between 61 and 75 days of age. During the same period abomasal weight decreased concurrently.

Mgasa *et al.* (1994) reported enhanced development of the rumen papillae in male goat kids fed concentrated lucerne pellets in comparison with green forage pellets and concluded that the structural development of the reticulorumen is significantly influenced by the diet.

Ruminal VFA concentration may be indicative of the completion of rumen development. Muhsen (2009) reported that butyrate, propionate and acetate concentrations in week old kids increased steadily to 15 weeks of age whereupon they stabilised.

#### Weaning rates of goat kids

Young ruminants of low body weight face significant challenges to survival in intensive pasturebased systems. Lambing, calving and kidding are generally timed to match the time of highest feed production and quality; such that by the time weaning occurs, pasture quality has passed its peak nutritive value (Figure 27).



Figure 27 Changes in dry matter digestibility of a range of pasture grasses (NRC 2007 adapted from Radcliffe & Cochrane, 1970)

Use of brassica species, legume crops and ripened cereals can alleviate the decline in quality feed for weaners however determination of the cost-effectiveness of these systems for goat production requires investigation.

Weaners of all species with low body weights and hence low intake potential require a supply of highly concentrated nutrients to overcome these constraints; however it is evident that even where supplementation is provided weaning rates of goat kids remain suboptimal relative to birth rates (Table 44).

	Breed of Sire								
		Boer			Kiko		Sp	banish	
Breed of			-			-			
Dam	Born	Weaned	Wean%	Born	Weaned	Wean%	Born	Weaned	Wean%
Boer	152	98	64%	160	100	63%	141	96	68%
Kiko	169	128	76%	217	166	76%	187	149	80%
Spanish	176	151	86%	176	149	85%	169	136	80%

# Table 44 Number of kids born and weaned among sire breed x dam breed combinations (adapted from Browning and Leite-Browning 2011)

In Australia (C. Ramsay pers comm. October 2011) and in the US (Browning and Leite-Browning 2011) there is a limited gene pool from which to select goats with enhanced survival characteristics. Browning and Leite-Browning (2011) conducted a long term study of three goat genotypes and 1547 kids over a six year period where they evaluated the genetic effects on pre weaning kid performance.

Their investigation concentrated on three goat breeds common to the US which included:

- Boer breed from semi-arid South Africa and selected for improved growth characteristics
- Kiko New Zealand composite (dairy x "feral") selected for tolerance to humid environments
- Spanish meat goat naturally selected within semi-arid Texas

The goats had access to cool season tall fescue and warm season bermudagrass pastures and were supplemented with orchardgrass hay. Does were supplemented with a 16% protein, 10.8 ME pellet from kidding to weaning and average annual rainfall was 1200mm. Does were kidded at pasture and provided with access to shelter and kids were weaned at 3 months of age.



Figure 28 Weaning weights (90-day adjusted) for kids within significant 3 way interaction of sire breed x dam breed x birth month. B = Boer; K = Kiko; S = Spanish. <sup>a-c</sup> Least squares means (+/- SE) for kid (sire breed x dam breed) genotypes within March-born group not sharing common letter differ (P<0.01). <sup>xy</sup>Least squares means (+/- SE) for kid (sire breed x dam breed) genotypes within May-born group not sharing common letter differ (P<0.05). <sup>\*\*\*</sup>Least squares means (+/- SE) for month within kid genotype differ (P<0.001). (Browning and Leite-Browning 2011)

Sire breed effect for weaning weight was not significant however maternal breed effect was highly significant (P<0.0001) with the Kiko effect strongly positive (P<0.0001) and the Boer effect negative (P<0.0003).

		Breed of Dam					
Litter size	Boer	Kiko	Spanish				
Single	85.7 +/-5.1 <sup>ab</sup>	96.1 +/-1.8 ª	92.5 +/-3.7 ab				
Twin	56.1 +/-7.1°	81.0 +/-4.4 b	85.9 +/-3.6 ab				
Triplet	58.1 +/-9.1 °	58.6 +/-9.1 °	81.0 +/-6.6 bc				

Table 45 Pre-weaning kid survival rates within dam breed x birth litter size interaction (Browning and Leite-Browning 2011)

a-c least squares means (+/- SE) within column or row not sharing a common superscript differ (P<0.05)

There was no sire effect on pre weaning kid survival rate however the maternal breed effect was highly significant (P<0.0005) with Kiko and Spanish dams having higher kid survival rates than Boers. The inferior ability of Boer does to raise kids to weaning is not an unusual finding across a range of comparative studies conducted in South Africa (Browning and Leite-Browning 2011). It has been suggested that Boer goat selection under optimal nutritional conditions for increased growth rates may result in suboptimal performance under more challenging conditions (James 2009; Wilson 2009). The current gross margins for goat enterprises may preclude cost-effective supplementation to improve Boer goat progeny survival and it may be that introduction and/or selection of more environmentally resilient genetics are required to underpin the growth of Australian intensive goat meat production.

Although kids have similar birth weights to lambs (2.5-4kg) they have less insulation than lambs (Jordan 2011) and a lower metabolic rate per unit of liveweight (Müller and McCutcheon 1991). Faurie *et al.* (2004) concluded thermoregulatory mechanisms support rectal temperature recovery immediately post-partum in lambs and it is these mechanisms that activate brown fat tissue for thermogenesis. Behavioural mechanisms such as suckling stimulate metabolic and digestive processes which have a significant effect on recovery of neonatal body temperature (Mercer and Jessen 1979).



# Figure 29 Rectal temperature dynamic in Toggenburg kids during the first 36h of neonatal life (Aleksiev 2009)

Aleksiev (2009) recorded rectal temperature of Toggenburg kids during the first 36 hours of life under controlled conditions where ambient temperatures were between 1.7° to 6.4°C (Figure 29). These authors concluded that kids had well expressed thermoregulatory ability with rapid activation of heat generation and retention mechanisms.

In more recent work (Ninan *et al.* 2011) determined some baseline parameters for lambs and kids and reported significantly low rectal temperatures for both species at birth; these were 39.1°C and 38.87°C respectively which concurs with the findings of Aleksiev (2009). It appears that kids have similar temperature behaviour to lambs immediately after birth and are therefore not more likely to die of cold stress.

#### Post weaning growth potential of kids

It appears that goats have similar growth potential to lambs from birth to weaning (Van Niekerk and Casey 1988; Poore and Luginbuhl 2002; Solaiman *et al.* 2011) however there are many reports of sub-optimal growth rates (Haas 1978; Singh *et al.* 1980; Louca *et al.* 1982; Morand-Fehr *et al.* 1986; Barry and Godke 1997; Luo *et al.* 2004c). There appears to be a general consensus across the published literature that kids grow slower than lambs however it is difficult to assess these claims when details of comparative diets are not provided.

Although Louca *et al.* (1982) commented that growth rates of lambs (300-450 g/d) exceed that of kids (150-270 g/d), sustained growth rates of lambs of 300-450 g/d are not commonly seen in Australian sheep flocks post weaning and where such growth rates are achieved, they are usually short term (Jolly and Wallace 2007). Van Niekerk and Casey (1988) reported that Boer goats under optimal conditions average 200 g/day and under extensive subtropical conditions, 176g/day. Post weaning growth potential appears to be higher for Boer kids (150-250 g/d) and their crosses than for dairy kids at 160-220 g/d (Morand-Fehr *et al.* 1986). Growth rate of weaned lambs under pasture based conditions in southern Australia average 250 g/d (Jolly and Wallace 2007).

Heritability estimates for growth rate to weaning of 0.68 (Restall *et al.* 1984) for rangeland goats; for mature weight of Anglo-Nubian goats at 18 months of 0.28 (Sousa *et al.* 2011) and live weight of goats at 7 months of age at 0.69 (McDowell and Bove 1977) indicates that improvement is possible from genetic selection.

There is evidence of highly selected and supplemented Boer goats achieving growth rates in excess of 250 g/d and up to 400 g/d (Gilbert, and Ramsay, unpublished data) indicating the potential to grow as well as lambs and Australian producers have recorded post weaning growth rates as high as 400 g/d under feedlot conditions. Much of the gross margin from lamb and cattle feedlots arises from compensatory gain; the animals are purchased at a relatively low liveweight after having experienced a period of slow growth which is significantly accelerated in response to a high plane of nutrition; it has been suggested that kids do not express compensatory rates of gain comparable with cattle (Louca *et al.* 1982) or sheep (McDowell and Bove 1977).

It is important when assessing the growth potential of kids that it is done in context of the quality of the available feed such that (McGregor 1996) found when Cashmere kids grazing winter pasture were supplemented barley straw there was no improvement in weight gain. Cashmere kids at 24 kg liveweight require a diet that is energy dense whereas the NDF of barley straw would effectively reduce the energy density of the kids' total daily intake. This example highlights the need to ensure that any supplements provided complement the available feed so as to meet nutrient requirements.

In more recent work McGregor *et al.* (2010) fed 260 g/d lupin/barley grain mix to weaned Angora kids grazing pasture and reported a growth response of 59 g/head per day; unless mortality rates were significantly improved such a small response is unlikely to be cost-efficient.

Patterson *et al.* (2009) offered Boer goat kids a range of hays *ad-libitum* and measured the nutritive value of the hay residues; hay not eaten was significantly lower in crude protein and ME than hay selected (Table 46).

Table 46 Hay selected and refused by Boer goat kids on a dry matter basis (adapted from Patterson et al.2009)

Constituent - hay	СР	NDF	ADF
Tifton-85 Bermuda grass	6.8	78.2	45.1
Tifton-85 refusals (83.3% +/- 9.9)	1.9	47.5	47.4
Sorghum-Sudan	8.3	73.7	47.9
Sorghum-Sudan refusals (77.3% +/- 5.2)	2.7	43.9	53.5
Coastal Bermuda grass	12.2	65.3	37.5
Coastal refusals (69.5% +/- 12.1)	5.9	40.4	42.2

When Boer kids were offered a concentrate pellet at 1% of body weight in addition to the hay described in Table 46, growth rates significantly improved (Figure 30). Kids fed the concentrate pellet alone clearly demonstrated their growth potential, apparently limited only by nutrition.



Figure 30 Average daily gain (g/d) of goats consuming coastal Bermuda grass (CB), Tifton-85 (T), or sorghum-Sudan grass (SS) alone or supplemented at 1% of BW (+) with a commercially available 18% CP goat ration (C). Bars with asterisk are different (P<0.05) from C. (Patterson et al. 2009)

The ability of weaner kids to efficiently convert feed to liveweight gain is the most important factor in determining profitability however producers do not yet have a selection index available to use as a selection tool. There is little published data on feed conversion ratios of weaned kids with the exception of work by Ueckermann (1969) who fed two groups of Boer goat kids (slaughter weight 31.8kg; slaughter weight 45.4kg) three different rations and found that feed conversion ratio (FCR) was more efficient at higher levels of dietary concentrate inclusion (Table 47).

Slaughter weight (kg)	Ration	Ratio	FCR
31.8	Roughage:concentrate	60:40	8.6:1
	Roughage:concentrate	40:60	8.1:1
	Roughage: total	100:0	10.3:1
45.4	Roughage:concentrate	60:40	9.5:1
	Roughage:concentrate	40:60	9.5:1
	Roughage: total	100:0	13.2:1

Table 47 Feed conversion ratios of Boer goat kids fed different levels of forage and concentrates at two
slaughter weights (Ueckermann 1969)

Machen *et al.* (no date) suggest that the expected range of feed efficiency for goats should be between 6-8:1 however the origins of this recommendation remain unclear.

The growth potential of goat kids appears to be equal to that of lambs in response to the provision of high quality forage and concentrates, however the response needs to be cost effective and will vary according to market signals for milk, meat and fibre.

The growth rate of kids pre and post weaning is influenced by many factors including breed, sex, maternal nutrition and the physical and chemical characteristics of the diet (Lu and Potchoiba 1988). However the relationship between dietary protein, energy and growth rate appear similar to lambs (Jolly and Wallace 2007) in that those relationships are difficult to determine. Comparison of many published studies is constrained by a lack of information about the concentration of nutrients in the diet, the age or weight of the kids, inherent differences between individual animals, breed differences and differences in the physical form of the ration. Growth rate data reviewed as a component of this review is summarised in Appendix 2: Summary of feeding trials reviewed, listed by author.

It would seem logical that for any breed of weaned kid that where maternal nutrition has been adequate and weaner feed is well balanced for NDF to facilitate maximal dry matter intake and optimise rumen function that genetic potential for growth should be realised. Where goats have been selected for milk production potential, growth potential post weaning may be slower than in breeds such as Boers selected for high growth rate potential; and where feed quality is limiting growth would be expected to be slower, regardless of genetic potential than where weaner kids were given access to high quality pasture and/or supplements. Whether there are differences between kids and lambs in terms of their efficiency of digestion is questionable as there are conflicting opinions between authors; McGregor (2000) states that goats are more efficient than sheep however Jordan (2011) disagrees.

#### Nutrient requirements of weaned kids

NRC (2007) provides a detailed summary of the nutrient requirements for kids and differentiates between dairy, Boer, indigenous local (assumed to be equivalent to Australian rangeland, but may not be) and Angora. Daily requirements vary according to current or target liveweight, rate of daily gain, gender and are too extensive to list within this review; however Table 48 provides an extract to highlight the differences.

Genotype	Liveweight	Growth rate	Fibre growth rate	DMI	DMI	NDF limit	СР	ME
	kg	g/d	g/d	kg/d	% LW	%	g/d	MJ/d
Dairy	20	200		0.73	3.7%	33%	130	9.66
Boer Indigenous	20	200		0.66	3.3%	36%	163	8.91
local	20	200		0.62	3.1%	39%	130	8.24
Angora	20	40	8	0.74	3.7%	32%	84	7.45
Dairy	30	200		1.14	3.8%	32%	145	11.47
Boer Indigenous	30	200		1.04	3.5%	35%	179	10.42
local	30	200		0.97	3.2%	37%	145	9.75
Angora	30	40	8	0.91	3.0%	40%	100	9.12

Table 48 Daily dry matter intakes (DMI), dietary NDF tolerance, crude protein, protein (CP) and energy (ME) of four goat genotypes at 20 and 30kg LW growing at 200g/d (adapted from NRC 2007)

This author would urge caution in the application of these recommendations without prior validation as NRC (2007) states quite clearly that no validation of their requirements has been undertaken. There may be significant risk in the application of these recommendations where weaned kids are of low body weight as evidenced by the application of the NRC (2007) requirements to Merino wethers at 20 kg LW growing at 100 g/d. These lambs were lot fed according to NRC (2007) and proceeded to lose weight over a period of 30 days after which time the ration was significantly adjusted.

In order to meet daily nutrient requirements all these classes of kids require a daily intake of 3-3.8% of body weight; to achieve this level of intake dietary NDF would need to be restricted to 32-40% of dry matter. Where the pasture NDF exceeds the recommended limit, supplementation with a low fibre concentrate would be required for growth potential to be realised.

Prieto *et al.* (2000) reported that for crossbred and Spanish kids between 17.6 and 19.4 kg initial body weight, fed in confinement for 30 weeks *ad-libitum* (Table 49); there appeared to be no significant advantage in increasing the crude protein level of the diet above 14% and no benefit in feeding additional bypass protein (UDP). Interestingly growth rates of kids within this study ranged between 79 and 115 g/d with no significant increase in growth rate above 14% crude protein however it was apparent that as the protein level of the experimental diets increased, the corresponding ME was reduced which may have accounted for the lack of growth response to the higher protein diets. Morand-Fehr *et al.* (1986) reported that weaned dairy kids fed a high fat concentrate diet, which would have provided a high level of ME, had a higher weight gain than those on a low fat diet.

Table 49 Effects of dietary protein concentration on average daily gain of crossbred Boer and Spanish goat wethers from 4 months of age with a staring weight of 17.6 kg for the Boer cross and 19.4 kg for the Spanish kids (adapted from Prieto et al. 2000)

	Boer x Spanish			Spanish					
Crude protein concentration				/				/	
(% DM)	10.20%	14.20%	18.30%	23.50%	10.20%	14.20%	18.30%	23.50%	
ME concentration (MJ ME/kg DM)	10.80	10.79	10.75	10.60	10.80	10.79	10.75	10.60	SE
Weeks									
1-6	47	91	45	122	59	68	63	77	18.7
7-12	113	124	118	109	78	59	103	80	12.9
13-18	20	63	38	61	44	45	63	55	12.4
19-24	106	101	87	132	40	67	69	57	22.5
24-30	106	151	156	150	145	132	108	156	23.3
1-30	79	106	89	115	73	74	81	85	7.5

Tanabe *et al.* (1975 cited in Morand-Fehr 1982) demonstrated that kids at 8 weeks (11.5 kg LW) required a dietary crude protein concentration of at least 16 percent, and from 180 – 210 days of age (30 kg LW) that a protein concentration of 17.5% resulted in a 25% increase in weight gain over a diet of 8.3% crude protein (Beede *et al.* 1979).

The experience of goat producers in New South Wales of growth rates of Boer kids post weaning is summarised below (Table 50). Clearly this data provides an indication of the growth potential of weaned Boer kids which should not be surprising as Boer genetics have predominantly been selected for their growth potential.

Table 50 Growth rates of weaned Boer goat kids in NSW, 2009 (Courtesy: C Ramsay & J. Gilbert October	
2011)	

	Paddock	Feedlot
Annual rainfall, mm	560*	1375**
	Locati	on
Growth rate, g/d	Bethungra, NSW	Dorrigo, NSW
	2009	2010
>300	12%	10%
250-300	21%	5%
200-250	47%	29%
150-200	15%	23%
<150	5%	34%

\*Winter dominant rainfall; \*\*summer & autumn rainfall

The post weaning growth rate of Angora kids is more focused on survival and growth to joining where the minimum joining weight is recommended to be 25 kg LW (Snyman 2007). Growth rates of Angora kids post weaning in many environments are well below potential (Nicoll *et al.* 1989) however these can be significantly improved with supplementation (Snyman 2007). Snyman (2007) investigated the performance of South African Angora goat kids from birth to 8

months of age between 2000 and 2004 across 12 production systems; the results are depicted in Table 51.

Trait	Number of records	Average	CV%
Birth weight (kg)	16644	3.2	16
Weaning weight (kg)	15510	17.6	20.3
ADG - birth to weaning (g/d)	15510	113	24.4
Weight at 8 months (kg)	7721	22.9	16.6
ADG - weaning to 8 months (g/d)	7721	40	56.7
12 month weight (kg)	3140	20.7	16.1
ADG - 8 - 12 months (g/d)	3140	9	231
16 month weight (kg)	2914	24.6	16.4
ADG - 12 - 16 months	2135	30	55
Body weight pre joining (kg)	1914	26.9	12.5
Body weight at scanning (kg)	1914	30.6	12.5
Number of kids scanned	1914	0.78	59.5
Number of kids born	1914	0.73	69.7
Number of kids weaned	1914	0.58	98.1
Weight of kids weaned / ewe mated (kg)	1914	9.4	89.5

Table 51 Body weights and growth rates of South African Angora kids studied over 4 years grazing veld, supplemented and unsupplemented (Snyman 2007)

The pastures of the South African veld are typically low in phosphorus, sodium and crude protein for 8 months of the year (van Pletzan 2009) which is similar to grass dominant, unimproved pastures in Australia. Kids raised on improved pastures without supplementation were found to be the heaviest at weaning and at 8 months of age compared with the lightest kids unsupplemented and reared on veld. Growth rates were reflective of environment and supplementary feeding practices. Although the growth potential of Angora kids may be significantly higher than those reported in this study it may not always be cost-efficient to supplement to increase growth rates pre joining.

Amaral *et al.* (2005) fed Saanen male kids from birth to 60 days of age three rations detailed in Table 52. Kids were weaned at 45 days of age and those fed the pelleted total ration had a 45.7% higher weight gain than those fed the ground and extruded rations.

Table 52 Dry matter intake (DMI) and weight gain of Saanen kids fed a ground total ration (GTR), pelleted
total ration (PTR) or extruded total ration (ETR) (adapted from Amaral et al. 2005)

	Total ration				
	GTR	PTR	ETR		
Birth weight (kg)	3.4 a	3.4 a	3.6 a		
Weight at 60 days of age (kg)	9.0 b	13.2 a	10.4 b		
Total DMI weaning (kg)	7.5 b	10.0 a	8.0 b		
Total DMI post weaning (kg)	8.7 b	10.5a	8.08 b		
Weight gain to weaning	3.6 b	6.0 a	4.4 b		
Growth rate: birth to weaning @ 45d (g/d)	80	133	98		
Post weaning weight gain (kg)	2.0 b	3.8 a	2.4 b		
Post weaning growth rate: 45-60d (g/d)	133	253	160		

Means in the same row with different letters differ by Tukey's HSD (P<0.05)

# Lot feeding kids

The most important consideration when lot feeding kids is the gross margin budget or potential profitability. Genetic potential for rapid growth to minimise time spent in the feedlot, high sale value of the finished kids and minimisation of disease will ensure gross margins are optimised, however profitability will vary with each situation and is not guaranteed.

Feedlotting weaned kids should not be any more difficult than lot feeding lambs providing the 5 freedoms that apply to the welfare of lambs are considered. These include freedom from:

- hunger and thirst
- discomfort
- pain, injury or disease
- fear and distress, and
- freedom to express normal behaviour

Provision of high quality feed once weaned, and introduction to the feedlot ration prior to weaning, generally facilitates a smooth transition to the feedlot environment. The principles of lot feeding are similar to those recommended for lambs and a comprehensive guide can be found at <u>www.productivenutrition.com.au</u>.

Machen *et al.* (no date) lot fed Boer x Spanish goats of unspecified age for 63 days (Table 53) and recorded weight gains of between 126-146 g/day.

Feed	Initial	Final	ADG,	Feed	Feed	Feed:
Group	Wt.,	Wt.,		Intake,	Intake,	Gain (FCR)
	kg	kg	kg/d	kg/hd/d	% BW	
1	18.75	28.07	0.146	1.13	4.89	7.74
2	18.71	27.46	0.138	1.09	4.66	7.23
3	19.12	27.14	0.126	0.85	3.62	6.63
4	18.79	27.38	0.138	0.81	4.33	7.49

Table 53 Performance of Boer x Spanish wether goats' lot fed for 63 days (Machen et al. no date)

Feed intake varied across groups from 3.21% to 4.89% of liveweight. Group 1 with the highest weight gain were fed a lucerne based pellet (14% crude protein) with the lowest weight gain being recorded in Group 3; this group were fed a corn and premix pellet at 16% protein. The most efficient conversion of feed to gain was reported in Group 3. Groups 2 and 4 were offered 16% crude protein pellets with the latter having access to *ad-libitum* hay.

Boer and Boer-cross kids were weaned into the feedlot at Dorrigo, NSW in spring 2011, where growth rates were monitored after the first 14 days and thereafter weekly for a total period of 28 days. The kids were introduced to the feedlot ration prior to weaning to reduce the risk of weight loss post weaning. Their feed ration consisted of hammer-milled lucerne hay and rolled barley provided in open troughs in an open feedlot environment on an *ad-libitum* basis. Dry matter intake to 30 days post weaning averaged 4.2% of liveweight of a ration formulated to 12.2% crude protein, 13.5 ME, 22% NDF with a ratio of calcium: phosphorus of 0.7:1.

Initial growth was slow to day 14 post weaning (Table 54) after which time there was significant improvement to a median growth of 243g /day and an average of 251 g/day. Between days 23-30, 20% of the kids failed to gain weight however the reasons for this were not clear. The possibility of subclinical acidosis secondary to low NDF, the low concentration of crude protein and the lack of calcium in the diet were posed as potential impediments to productivity.

	Days post weaning				
	0-14	15-22	23-30	0-28	
Range (g/d)	0.14-271	25-675	25-500	13-300	
Average (g/d)	77	251	177	138	
Median (g/d)	64	243	171	136	
Kids that failed to gain weight (%)	14.90%	5%	20%	4.20%	

Table 54 Post weaning growth rate of weaned lot-fed Boer and Boer cross kids at Dorrigo NSW (Courtesy: J. Gilbert October 2011); average weaning weight 17.5 kg

The feedlot site was well drained with shade and shelter provided in the form of shedding; the environment was enriched with randomly positioned piles of rock and logs which has been shown to double liveweight gain in Boer feral cross goats at 6 months of age (Flint and Murray 2001). The kids all appeared well adapted and settled on inspection however the ration was not well formulated and there was competition for feeding space.

Although there were periods of rapid growth during the feedlot period, average growth rates were similar to those reported by Machen *et al.* (no date). Similar observations have been reported for lambs with relatively short periods of high growth under feedlot conditions however these rates do not commonly persist under conditions of sustained confinement.

Flint and Murray (2001) fed Boer and Boer x feral goats to investigate the effects of pen enrichment and stocking density on growth rate, feed intake and inanition or failure to feed. They reported a doubling of growth rate at albeit low levels of gain from 34-63g/day, under conditions of pen enrichment (Table 55). The pens were enriched with railway sleepers and tyres with pipes and containers suspended from overhead wires.

Table 55 Feed intake, liveweight gain and inanition of Boer x feral goats lot-fed within an enriched or typical feedlot environment and at high and low pen densities (Adapted from Flint and Murray 2001)

	Pen de	ensity	Pen structure		
Variable	High	Low	Enriched	Typical	
Feed intake (g/d)	850	891	870	871	
Liveweight gain (g/d)	49.8	48.8	63.8	34.8	
Occurrence of inanition (% of total)	11/99	7/55	7/75	11/79	

The ration was a combination of lucerne chaff, cottonseed meal, maize, molasses and minerals and formulated to 14.6% crude protein at 32.8% NDF, however no indication was provided as to the ME of the ration and growth rates measured were clearly suboptimal. Although stocking density did not have an effect on growth rate, feed intake or inanition, the authors commented that aggressive behaviour increased at higher pen density.

# Nutrient requirements of weaned kids for optimal growth rates

Following an extensive review of the published literature, NRC (2007) has published nutrient requirements for growing kids of four genotypes. It is assumed for the purposes of this review that recommendations for the indigenous goat refer to rangeland goats, however this may not be the case. NRC provides recommendations for a maximum growth potential of 250g/day for dairy, Boer and indigenous kids (Table 56) and 40 grams per day for Angora kids (Table 57). It is clear from the previous studies that individual Boer and Boer cross kids under Australian conditions have the potential to grow at rates exceeding 400g/day, albeit for short periods. The practical application of such requirements is challenging.

	LW at weaning	DM	11	Crude pr	otein	М	E
	kg	% LW	kg/d	%	g/d	MJ/kg	MJ/d
Dairy kids	20	4.03	0.81	18.6%	151	13.38	10.84
	25	3.53	0.88	18.1%	159	13.36	11.76
Boer kids	20	3.70	0.74	26.2%	194	13.57	10.04
	25	3.22	0.80	25.1%	201	13.55	10.84
Indigenous kids	20	3.42	0.68	22.2%	151	13.53	9.20
	25	3.98	1.00	15.9%	159	10.00	10.00

Table 56 Daily dry matter intake (DMI), crude protein and energy (ME) requirements for dairy, Boer and indigenous kids growing at 250 g/day, weaned at either 20 or 25 kg liveweight (NRC 2007)

What is not clear when reviewing tables of nutrient requirements is whether the daily requirements are aimed at restricting growth rate to that level? Angora kids may have the genetic potential to grow at rates in excess of 100 grams per day however the published nutrient requirements cover growth rates to a limit of 40grams per day (Table 57).

Table 57 Daily dry matter intake (DMI), crude protein and energy (ME) requirements of female and male
Angora kids growing at 40 g/day weaned at either 20 or 30 kg liveweight; daily fleece growth rate – 8 gms
per day (NRC 2007)

	LW at weaning	DM	11	Crude pr	otein	М	E
	kg	% LW	kg/d	%	g/d	MJ/kg	MJ/d
Female kids	20	3.72	0.74	11.4%	84	10.07	7.45
	30	3.04	0.91	11.0%	100	10.02	9.12
Male kids	20	4.08	0.82	10.2%	84	9.95	8.16
	30	3.36	1.01	9.9%	100	9.98	10.08

The low concentration of protein and ME recommended by NRC (2007) for Angora goats at 20 kg should be treated with caution until validation studies are undertaken. It is apparent that the nutrient requirements for Angora goats have been restricted in line with the aim of restricting fibre diameter and producing a fleece of high quality. The cost-efficiency of these recommendations requires further investigation.

NRC (2007) states quite clearly that "in some cases diets having greater or lesser concentrations of energy would be more appropriate" which emphasises the need for further investigation into the nutrient requirements of kids or at least validation studies of the existing recommendations.

### Conclusion

It is apparent that the optimum weight and age for weaning kids has yet to be clearly defined, although it is likely that there will be variation between genotypes, and across different pasture systems in a range of environments. Small ruminants are particularly susceptible to weaning shock, and with minimal weight reserves it is important to ensure high quality feed or a saleable product is available at weaning. The aim post weaning is to minimise weaner mortality, optimise health and productivity and facilitate economically viable rates of growth.

There is limited evidence to suggest that the optimal age for weaning in terms of rumen development may be 10-15 weeks of age and the optimum dietary crude protein concentration to optimise the growth potential of weaned kids is approximately 14%. The requirements for ME remain unclear.

Attention to the nutrition of the pregnant and lactating doe is an imperative to conditioning the kid for successful weaning and post weaning performance. The pre weaning survival rates of kids requires urgent attention if the industry is to expand its commercial base in medium to high rainfall areas in Australia, such that producers enhance their profitability in comparison to sheep and beef production.

It appears that the current Australian genetic base of Boer and Boer cross goats have the potential for rapid post weaning growth and efficient conversion of feed to gain equivalent to that of lambs; however producers require some investment in their understanding of nutrition and encouragement to improve the nutritional management of their herds. The severe lameness of all age groups of goats including kids experienced in some herds in high rainfall areas needs to be properly investigated and eliminated. Boer goats do not appear well adapted to intensive grazing systems however there is clear evidence that not all animals within herds are equally affected; this would suggest that there is an opportunity for selection of more resistant genotypes within each herd.

Where appropriate and cost-effective to do so, there is no reason why lot feeding of kids would not be equally successful as lambs providing the basic principles of management of confined animals of that age and weight are followed.

#### Recommendations for further research

- Determine the appropriate age and weight for weaning kids of each genotype to optimise productivity and survival
- Provide education program for producers and their advisors in the nutritional management of the reproductive herd so as to optimise weaner potential
- Consider identification and selection of more resilient genotypes within the Australian goat herd within environments review the uptake, implementation and outcomes for producers of Kidplan® as a practical and cost-effective selection tool
- Investigate the cost-efficiency of lot feeding weaners to reduce morbidity and mortality in all environments following similar principles as have recently been developed for lambs



Figure 31 Lot fed goats Source (Source: http://www.abc.net.au/landline/content/2006 /s1712810.htm)

# **Depot nutrition**

Rangeland goats are mustered from a wide range of pastoral properties and accumulated in transition depots (Figure 32) prior to transport to market; the aim of depot operators during this time is to minimise weight loss and mortality (P. Lynn pers comm. October 2011). Most goats that are held in depots remain there for an average of 7 days which limits the time for adaptation to a change in feed however all ruminants require at least 10 days for the populations of rumen flora to adjust in response to a change in feed. For this reason it is important to provide a diet that is fibrous, highly concentrated in mineral and vitamins and meets the energy and protein requirements of rangeland goats.

Due to the stress effects of mustering and transport, unfamiliar surroundings, the potential loss of social groupings and a period of curfew, appropriate management of depot nutrition diet is of critical importance.



Figure 32 Rangeland goats in a depot at Cobar, NSW (Courtesy: P Lynn October 2011)

Kannan *et al.* (2002) suggested that the change in environment and social isolation were likely to be greater pre slaughter stressors for goats within lairage than the period of curfew. As goats are considered to have a preference for a diet that is high in fibrous material, the feed of choice for depot transition is most likely to be cereal or pasture hay.

	DM %	CP % of DM	ADF	NDF % of DM	DMD %	DOMD %	Est ME MJ/kg DM
Cereal straw	87.7	4.4		67.3	60.3	57.9	8.8
	87.2	4.2	49.1	81.3	52.3	51.1	7.4
	85.0	6.2		70.8	48.7	48.1	6.8
	84.2	2.3		74.5	46.1		6.4
Cereal hay	88.7	9.4	32.3	55.7	85.4		9.6
	89.4	5.3	31.8	55.9	61.2	58.7	8.9
	87.2	6.2	33.3	56.8	57.0		8.5
	88.2	4.8	38.4	61.0	57.2	55.3	8.1
	90.1	7.5	40.3	65.0	55.3	53.6	7.9
	87.6	6.0	39.8	65.1	55.4	53.7	7.9
	91.9	6.8	35.9	72.2	54.7	53.1	7.8

Table 58 Range of nutritive analyses of cereal ha	y and straw (Source: Productive Nutrition database)
rabie de range er naanare analyeee er eerear na	

Oaten hay is the most readily available however a diet based on cereal hay or straw is unlikely to be adequate for maintenance of body condition as in most years the nutritive value of the hay will be below maintenance requirements of goats.

The range of nutritive values provided by random samples of oaten hay are summarised in Table 58 and clearly demonstrate that although ME concentrations will in the most part meet maintenance requirements crude protein will be deficient more often than not.

An added difficulty is that the pregnancy status of the does delivered to depots may not be known; as the requirements of pregnant or maiden does are significantly higher than for maintenance, it is unlikely that cereal hay will meet the requirements of all classes of goat likely to be mustered into a depot. The nutritive value of cereal will vary according to season as evidenced by the season 2010/2011 results of 507 samples published by the Feedtest laboratory (<u>http://www.feedtest.com.au/</u>) and summarised in Table 59. These results highlight the need for testing hay prior to purchase as the range in feeding value between samples is substantial and cannot be detected visually.

# Table 59 Average and range in crude protein, metabolisable energy (ME) and neutral detergent fibre (NDF) concentrations of 507 oaten hay samples analyses by the Feedtest laboratory for season 2010/2011 (Source: http://www.feedtest.com.au/)

	Crude protein	ME	NDF
	%	MJ ME/kg DM	%
Average	5.8	8.2	60.5
Range	1.9-17.6	3.1-11.5	30.8-84.5

Provision of high quality roughage will enable the goats to increase intake to compensate to some degree for the lack of quality; however it would not be feasible or cost-efficient to feed all classes of goat to their requirements for a 7 day period. Therefore the provision of high quality hay to ensure rapid adaptation and nutrient replacement following transport may be worthy of consideration.

Pasture hay is more likely to include a percentage of leguminous material such as clover which will enhance its feeding value during the adaptation period; once again the quality can only be determined from an assessment of nutritive value by a feed laboratory.

Goats that arrive at the depot following long haul transport under hot and humid conditions will benefit from the provision of legume based hay or straw to help alleviate acute shortages of calcium, magnesium and potassium which may occur as a result of transport stress.

Pea hay and straw or a similar legume straw will be more likely to provide a fibrous and nutritious source of feed for confined goats and may be a better option than cereal hay in terms of palatability and maintenance of liveweight. Some average nutritive values for pea hay and straw are summarised in Table 60 below.

If the depot is sited in a rangeland environment then consideration, where appropriate, may be given to rotational management of the pens such that access to familiar feed is available for the goats on arrival.
	DM %	CP % of DM	ADF	NDF % of DM	DMD %	DOMD %	Est ME MJ/kg DM
Pea straw	83.2	15.4		53.6	58.6	56.4	8.5
	88.9	13.2		54.9	55.9	54.2	8.0
	85.9	8.0	53.2	67.1	49.2	48.5	6.8
	88.5	4.7	57.2	75.9	46.1	45.9	6.3
	94.1	11.3	57.2	76.8	45.3	45.2	6.2
	93.2	9.5	64.6	71.9	40.3	65.9	5.3
Pea hay	87.8	19.7		35.3	76.0	71.2	11.5
	90.1	13.6		34.9	75.9	71.1	11.4
	87.5	19.1		36.3	73.3	68.9	11.0
	90.3	12.1		39.2	70.6	66.7	10.5
	18.6	26.6			72.7		10.4
	82.1	16.6	34.4	42.9	63.8	60.9	9.4

Table 60 Range of nutritive analyses of pea hay and straw (Source: Productive Nutrition database)

From the variation in nutritive value of cereal and pea hay and straw it is evident that depot managers should be testing all types of hay prior to purchase. As large volumes of hay are commonly traded on their feeding value to livestock, it is not difficult or expensive to obtain a feed test and to ensure it meets the requirements relevant to the age and liveweight of the confined goats.

The management of goats in a confined environment is likely to be similar in principle to that of confined dry ewes in containment areas; a recently published set of detailed guidelines and recommendations can be sourced from <u>www.productivenutrition.com.au</u> for reference.

### Transition of rangeland goats to a pelleted diet

Significant neophobia is commonly encountered in lambs during the transition from a pasturebased diet to a feedlot (Provenza *et al.* 2003; Jolly and Wallace 2007) due to a range of reasons similar in character to that experienced by rangeland goats adjusting to a pelleted diet within depots; these may include:

- unpalatable or unfamiliar feed
- feed formulation
- acidosis
- familiarity with personnel, feeding equipment, other animals
- social hierarchy and or dominance
- trough space access
- nutritional history rumen development and ability to digest nutrients
- "past experiences play a crucial role in an animal's propensity to learn to eat different foods" (Provenza *et al.* 2003)

It should be noted that these lambs will have had contact with dogs, yards and people prior to feedlot entry, and in many cases will be confined on the property of origin. Rangeland goats however may have been trapped or mustered, trucked potentially long distances and then

exposed to unfamiliar surroundings and an unfamiliar diet, compounded by noise. The stress imposed by the above scenario is likely to induce transport stress characterised by acute calcium magnesium, and in humid areas potassium, deficiency; the provision of cereal hay or straw will exacerbate this problem whereas legume hay or straw is more likely to alleviate it.

If transition to a pelleted diet is required within a limited period of time within a goat depot, rapid adaptation will be facilitated by the introduction of pellets to goats prior to arrival. In many situations this will not be feasible but where possible this practice will rapidly overcome feed aversions and weight loss in transition depots.

### Conclusion

Analysis of rations to be fed to goats during rapid transition through depots will improve maintenance of liveweight and minimise mortality. The use of legume -based hay or straw will alleviate health problems such as calcium and magnesium deficiency due to either transport stress or undiagnosed pregnancy. Prior introduction to feed, although unlikely to be a practical consideration in many instances, will alleviate neophobia or inanition induced by unfamiliarity with the feed provided at the depot.

Producers and depot managers should be directed towards the recently published National Procedures and Guidelines for Intensive Sheep and Lamb Feeding Systems (Dickson and Jolly 2011) which may serve as a useful source of information in the absence of a similar publication for goats.

### Recommended further research

- Information sessions for depot managers and their staff about the management of ruminants in confinement and strategies for rapid adaptation to feed
- Clarification of the current mortality rates and their causes
- Clarification of the current weight differential during depot confinement
- Determination of the rate of adaptation to a pelleted diet in depots
- Development of a set of guidelines for depot management

### Parasitism and nutrition

Gastrointestinal nematodes remain one of the most significant challenges for the expansion of goat production in both temperate and tropical environments (Hoste *et al.* 2005); Australian producers have expressed ongoing frustration at the lack of investment into the development and/or registration of effective anthelmintics for goats. However given the current size of the goat industry it is unlikely there will be any significant investment by animal health pharmaceutical companies in this area in the near future.

There is little doubt that animals on a falling plane of nutrition are likely to experience some loss of natural immunity to parasites and disease; Coop and Kyriazakis (1999, 2001) have identified protein as the most important nutrient. Min and Hart (2003) reported that protein supplementation improved resistance to diseases, however it should be noted that little is to be gained by supplementing crude protein significantly above daily requirements.

Protein supplementation in the form of urea did not reduce the effects of parasite infestation until a cottonseed supplement was added implying that there may be an important role for bypass protein in the control of GI nematodes (Hoste *et al.* 2005). Important as it may be, it is unlikely that supplementation of goats with bypass protein sources would be cost-effective in the current marketing environment.

It is unlikely that protein deficiency would be a major contributing factor to parasitism in high rainfall areas where in winter and spring goats of all ages have access to pastures inherently high in nitrogen and hence crude protein. Kids weaned onto pastures in summer and autumn are more likely to incur a deficiency, and hence lowered immunity. It would be interesting to monitor worm loads in a range of environments in goats to determine the timing of the rise in parasitism to clinical levels and the associated protein concentration of the pasture.

Mineral deficiencies may be as important a contributing factor to parasitism as protein deficiency as worm loads have not been identified as a major production issue in the Australian rangelands where many plant species accumulate high concentrations of essential minerals, particularly in dry years (Franklin-McEvoy and Jolly 2005). Key trace elements including zinc, copper and iron have been identified as an essential base for a functional immune system (McClure 2008).

Lu (2011) cites an experiment by Max *et al.* (2007) who observed that in an organic goat farming system, acacia leaf meal fed to goats reduced worm egg counts (WEC) by 27% which Lu attributed to an increase in protein intake; however Max *et al.* (2007) concluded that the tanniferous effect of the acacia meal was the contributing factor. The establishment of perennial legumes in high rainfall areas containing tanniferous secondary compounds may be of benefit as a component of an integrated worm control program, however palatability and selection of these species when required cannot always be guaranteed.

A degree of suppression of *Haemonchus contortus* control has been observed in goats in response to forage containing condensed tannins (Min and Hart 2003) and of *Trichostrongylus columbriformis* (Butter *et al.* 2000) however their mode of action remains unclear (Muir 2011). Trials with commercial sources of condensed tannins (CT) have been successful in the suppression of parasite infestations however it is not yet clear if parasitic nematodes will develop similar resistance to CT as they have to commercial anthelmintics (Muir 2011). It should be noted that condensed tannins can also have negative effects on productivity as discussed earlier in this review; furthermore, combined EU/New Zealand research (Fernandez no date) has shown

that the suppression of parasite activity in lambs varied with the location of the parasite and the plant species such that more detailed research appears to be required.

Selection for worm resistance in goats may be assisted by the development of an assay for serum IgA (Lu 2011) however this is yet to be fully investigated and to date Australian laboratories are not able to conduct this analysis (R. Paynter, Regional Laboratory Services, Benalla pers comm. September 2011). In addition, selection of goats with higher worm resistance can be made with simple faecal monitoring of individual sires on an annual basis; it is not clear if producers are aware of or have any inclination to adopt this as a future management strategy.

### Conclusion

It is important to prioritise the validation of nutrient requirements for meat producing goats in high rainfall areas such that "high protein" strategies can be implemented and ultimately put to the test, as parasitism is a major constraint to the growth and development of the goat industry in medium to high rainfall areas in Australia. Pasture legume species such as Sulla may offer some short term benefits in terms of worm control due to the presence of condensed tannins, but differences in responses of parasites to plant species and the depressant effects on productivity of high intakes of condensed tannins suggest the need for further research in this area. Ultimately, the longer term approach to worm resistance may be the development of genetic selection tools for producers.

### Recommended further research

- Clarify the protein requirements of goats
- Determine if parasitism is associated with low protein intake in goats
- Investigate the potential for CT- containing, pasture species as an aid in worm control
- Consider the genetic selection of goats apparently more resistant to worms as a longer term management tool for goat breeders

### How and why do publications vary in their recommendations?

The guidelines for the nutritional requirements for goats referenced in most publications are derived from the NRC (1981) however the authors of that document acknowledge the lack of scientific experimentation and practical validation underpinning their recommendations at that time. Where there are guidelines, although relatively non-specific to individual classes of goat, many are based on sheep.

In 2007 the National Research Council published an updated set of nutrient requirements for goats; these recommendations provide for Boer, indigenous (assumed to mean feral/rangeland/ desert goats), dairy and Angora goats and their kids. It is a comprehensive set of requirements compiled by a team of international researchers including Hugh Dove from Australia, who is also a co-author of CSIRO (2007). The majority of the data for does at all stages of pregnancy and lactation accounting for single and multiple pregnancies is based on the work of Sahlu *et al.* (2004).

The introduction to the goat tables (NRC 2007) however includes a precautionary statement about intake being assumed as a percentage of liveweight and noting that in some situations, assumed to be when intake is less than expected, appropriate adjustment will need to be made to recommended energy densities. This is not unusual in any feeding situation however it raises the importance of producers and their advisers having access to a degree of expertise when formulating rations for confined goats such that these variables are properly accounted.

NRC (1981) included emphasis of an "activity rating" as does CSIRO (1990) however NRC (2007) has removed this consideration from the updated nutrient requirements due to a stated insufficiency of scientific evidence being available. It should therefore be noted that the recommendations for energy requirements in NRC (2007) are likely to be suboptimal for goats grazing in hilly terrain under conditions of limited pasture availability and may also underestimate the ME requirements of Australian rangeland goats. However as control of the nutrition of rangeland animals is likely to be limited to grazing management and stocking rates, it is the energy requirements of goats in high rainfall environments that is more likely to be of prime consideration. As it is apparent that goat production in these regions has significant constraints in terms of kid mortality, intensive production systems should be the focus of further research in an effort to increase industry productivity.

CSIRO (2007) has published a new edition of the Feeding Standards for Australian Livestock now called Nutrient Requirements of Domesticated Ruminants; while a comprehensive publication, it does not provide tables of nutrient requirements and relies on a high level of scientific knowledge or computer literacy for understanding and application. CSIRO (2007) also contains scant information relating specifically to goat nutrition. For this reason, more emphasis has been placed on NRC outputs in this review as that is where the majority of researchers, advisers and nutritionists are appear to have sourced their information, possibly for ease of use and application.

Martinez Marin et al. (2010) investigated the difference between the NRC (2007) and INRA (2007) nutrient recommendations for twelve month old dairy goats and found no difference in calculated intake of forage, protein and concentrate between either feed evaluation system whereas there were differences between systems in terms of energy intake.

Sutton and Alderman (2000) reviewed the energy and protein requirements for pregnant and lactating dairy goats and concluded that the INRA system was the most applicable set of guidelines for prediction of feed intake.

In conclusion, there are some similarities but many more differences in the nutrient requirements for goats between publications and between genotypes; the reasons for genotype differences are more easily understood than many of the differences between authors and publications. However what is not clear is to what degree productivity would respond if all genotypes were fed the same level of nutrients per unit of liveweight and potential output; clearly clinical trials are justified.

This review has emphasised the need to clearly establish the additional ME <sub>maintenance</sub> required for various levels of activity and it may be more cost-effective to do this via validation trials with a range of genotypes rather than to revisit in-depth metabolic research.

Validation of the nutrient requirements of particular classes of goat has not been undertaken extensively as a component of this review; this has been mainly due to time constraints, the lack of data held by producers and the variability between the limited data sets that were made available.

# Appendix 1: Summary of function and signs of severe and marginal mineral deficiencies and likely incidence of deficiencies in sheep (Masters and White 1996)

Element	Function	Manifestation	n of deficiency	Likely occurrence of deficiency	
		Severe	Marginal <sup>a</sup>		
Calcium	Mineralisation of bones and teeth Nerve conduction Muscle contraction Blood clotting Hormone secretion Message transmission	Lameness and stiffness of gait Enlarges painful joints Malformed teeth and jaws Milk fever, including muscle tremors, general inertia, inappetance and death <sup>b</sup>	Reduced growth Reduced milk production	High grain diet especially during drought Increased requirements in lactation Low calcium, acid soils in the tropics Low vitamin D	
Phosphorus	Bone formation Energy metabolism Component of DNA, RNA Acid-base balance	Softening of bones, lameness Depressed appetite Abnormal appetite causing botulism	Reduced growth Reduced reproductive rates	Low soil phosphorus Prolonged dry period with dead pasture	
Sodium	Maintenance of osmotic pressure Acid-base balance Water metabolism Rumen microbial growth	Abnormal appetite, licking of soil Depressed appetite Loss of weight Decreased milk production	Abnormal appetite (pica) Reduced growth Decreased milk production	Tropical or dry arid climates Rapidly growing or lactating sheep High grain diets	
Sulfur	Component of amino acids methionine and cysteine Component of biotin and thiamine Sulphated polysaccharides in cartilage and joint lubrication Removal and/or storage of toxic elements & compounds	Reduced feed intake Reduced dry matter digestibility Reduced production of sulfur amino acids by rumen microbes Possible accumulation of copper in animal tissues and copper toxicity	Reduced feed intake Reduced wool growth	Low sulfur soils Dry pastures	
Cobalt	Essential for the production of vitamin B <sub>12</sub> by rumen microbes Use of volatile fatty acids for energy (as vitamin B <sub>12</sub> ) Recycling of methionine (as vitamin B <sub>12</sub> )	Loss of appetite Loss of weight, reduced wool growth Watery discharge from eyes Anaemia Poor reproductive performance White (fatty) liver disease	Reduced growth/unthriftiness Reduced wool reproduction	Occurs under range of soils and climatic conditions Sandy of volcanic soils Green lush pasture Young growing or reproducing sheep	
Magnesium	Cofactor in many enzymes Nerve conduction Muscle contraction	Tetany as indicated by muscle twitching, staggers and convulsions High mortality Depressed appetite	Possible loss of condition Possible reduced milk production	Green pasture Often but not always associated with lactation High potassium, low sodium	

Element	Function	Manifestatio	n of deficiency	Likely occurrence of deficiency	
		Severe	Marginal <sup>ª</sup>		
Copper	Mobilisation and transport of iron in the body Collagen cross-linking in bone and elastic tissue Pigmentation of hair and wool Maintenance of myelin sheath around nervous tissue Crimp formation in wool Antioxidant	Enzootic ataxia (swayback) as paralysis or staggering gait in newborn lambs Bone fragility Anaemia Depigmentation of wool Loss of crimp and tensile strength of wool Reproductive disorders		Leached low copper soils Peat soils high in molybdenum Use of molybdenum	
lodine	Component of thyroid hormones that are essential for energy and protein metabolism and for foetal growth and development	Enlarged thyroid gland (goitre) Inability to withstand cold stress Reduced foetal size and retarded brain development A range of developmental disorders, wool loss	Increased lamb mortality and thyroid size relative to body size Small depression in wool and milk production	Low soil iodine Recent glaciation Mountainous areas Long distance from the sea Low rainfall Goitrogens in herbage	
Selenium	Detoxification of peroxides Activation of thyroid hormone	Lesions in heart and skeletal muscle (nutritional myopathy or white muscle disease) Increased mortality Infertility in ewes Induced thyroid hormone deficiency	Reduced growth/illthrift Reduced wool growth	Green pasture Low selenium in soil High rainfall Young growing or reproducing sheep Low vitamin E	
Zinc	Cofactor in a large number of enzymes DNA and protein synthesis	Reduced feed intake Reduced growth rates Reduced wool growth and loss of crimp Alopecia, parakeratosis	Reduced growth rate Reduced reproductive performance	Low zinc soils Dry pasture	

<sup>a</sup> Marginal signs may also be seen during severe deficiency
<sup>b</sup> Acute deficiency resulting from a rapid loss of calcium during milk letdown

		Sex /	LW	DMI		IE	Pro	tein	Growth		Deaths	S .	
Breed	Age/ class	Birth Type	(kgs)	(Kg)	/kg DM	MJ/ day	%	g/day	rate g/d	FCE	(%)	Comment	Author
Boer	GR to 100 days	Singles	23.5						239.5 - 257			Boer goats in Namibia compared to Germany	Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	GR to 100 days	Twins	23.5						236.7 - 193			2.5I milk/d to drive GR>300g/d	Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	GR to 100 days	Triplets	23.5						217.7 - 182			-	Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	100 days	Male	23.5						213				Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	100 days	Female	23.5						184				Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	Young								13 - 118	17.7 -154.7		1986	Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	Young								22 - 163	13.6 -88		1989	Barry and Godke (1997)
Improved Boer (Sth Africa)		Male	3-30						291			Concentrate and excellent grazing - highly selected meat goats	Campbell cited by Naude and Hofmeyr (1981) cited by McGregor (1985)
Improved Boer (Sth Africa)		Male	3-70						250			Concentrate and excellent grazing - highly selected meat goats	Campbell cited by Naude and Hofmeyr (1981) cited by McGregor (1985)
Improved Boer (Sth Africa)		Female	3-29						272			Concentrate and excellent grazing - highly selected meat goats	Campbell cited by Naude and Hofmeyr (1981) cited by McGregor (1985)
Improved Boer (Sth Africa)		Female	3-52						186			Concentrate and excellent grazing - highly selected meat goats	Campbell cited by Naude and Hofmeyr (1981) cited by McGregor (1985)
Kambing/ Katjang (Malaysia & Indonesia)		Mixed	2-22						57			Various feeds	Devendra (1967) cited by McGregor (1985)
Alpine (France)		Male	3-22						219			Milk replacer	Fehr <i>et al.</i> (1976) cited by McGregor (1985)
Alpine (France)		Male	3-22						241			Milk replacer & concentrates	Fehr <i>et al.</i> (1976) cited by McGregor (1985)
Rangeland		Bucks	26	0.708	8.8		11.88		-6.3		11.7	Pellet A high cereal grain content fed 15 days subsequent to <b>CHAFF</b> intro (4 days)	Gherardi and Johnson (1995)
Rangeland		Bucks	26	0.706	8.8		11.88		84.2		10	Pellet A high cereal grain content fed 15 days subsequent to <b>HAY intro</b> (4 days)	Gherardi and Johnson (1995)
Rangeland		Bucks	26	0.714	7.6		11.88		52.6		8.3	Pellet B low cereal grain	Gherardi and Johnson (1995)

Appendix 2: Summary of feeding trials reviewed, listed by author

		Sex /	LW	DMI		IE	Pro	otein	Growth		Deaths		
Breed	Age/ class	Birth Type	(kgs)	(Kg)	/kg DM	MJ/ day	%	g/day	rate g/d	FCE	(%)	Comment	Author
												content fed 15 days subsequent to CHAFF intro (4 days)	
Rangeland		Bucks	26	0.701	8.8		11.9		63.2		3.3	Pellet B low cereal grain content fed 15 days subsequent to <b>HAY intro</b> (4 days)	Gherardi and Johnson (1995)
Boer x Rangeland - F1		Male							49.5			Dec-Mar GR increases with increasing day length	Going into Goats (2006)
Boer x Rangeland - F1		Male							62.9			Mar - June GR increases with increasing day length	Going into Goats (2006)
Boer x Rangeland - F1		Male							138.2			Jun - Aug GR increases with increasing day length	Going into Goats (2006)
Rangeland		Male							47			Dec-Mar GR increases with increasing day length	Going into Goats (2006)
Rangeland		Male							55			Mar - June GR increases with increasing day length	Going into Goats (2006)
Rangeland		Male							117			Jun - Aug GR increases with increasing day length	Going into Goats (2006)
Boer cross	Birth to weaning								114				Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer cross	Weaning to 12 mths								65				Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Small East African	Birth to weaning								84				Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Small East African	Weaning to 12 mths								32				Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Alpine, Angora & Nubian	6-8 mo		15-25						50			High quality wheat 78% IVOMD	Hart <i>et al.</i> (1993)
Alpine, Angora & Nubian	6-8 mo		15-25						10			Low quality dormant Bermuda grass 35% IVOMD plus 200g 24% CP supplement	Hart <i>et al.</i> (1993)
Rangeland (Australia)		Mixed	3-17						157			Spring pasture	Holst and Pym (1977) cited by McGregor (1985)
Angora	6 mo weaners		17						21-27			Angora weaners rangelands 600mm	Huston <i>et al.</i> (1993)
Damascus (Cyprus)		Male	20-50				20		240			Barley & Soybean	Louca <i>et al.</i> (1977) cited by McGregor (1985)
Damascus (Cyprus)		Castrate	18-40				20		210			Barley & Soybean	Louca <i>et al.</i> (1977) cited by McGregor (1985)
Damascus (Cyprus)		Female	18-37				20		190			Barley & Soybean	Louca <i>et al.</i> (1977) cited by McGregor (1985)
	Weaner kids		13.6	0.908	10.2		14		199				Luginbuhl and Poore (1998)

		Sex /	LW	DMI	N	IE	Pro	otein	Growth		Deaths		
Breed	Age/ class	Birth Type	(kgs)	(Kg)	/kg DM	MJ/ day	%	g/day	rate g/d	FCE	(%)	Comment	Author
Crossbred 50% Boer	Weaner		29			14.1			150				Luo <i>et al.</i> (2004c)
ex Angora	Growing goats		29					133	150				Luo <i>et al.</i> (2004b)
Saanen (Britain, Australia)		Castrate	15-25						210			Milk fed	McGregor (1980) cited by McGregor (1985)
Angora (Texas/ Australia)		Castrate	16-27						122			16.5% CP pellets	McGregor (1984b) cited by McGregor (1985)
Angora (Texas/ Australia)		Castrate	27-31						154			Spring pasture	McGregor (unpub) cited by McGregor (1985)
Rangeland (Australia)		Mixed	2-10						175			Does fed oats and lucerne	McGregor <i>et al.</i> (1982) cited by McGregor (1985)
Angora (Texas/ Australia)		Castrate	20-27						47			16.5% CP pellets & hay + zeranol	McGregor <i>et al</i> (1984) cited by McGregor (1985)
Angora (Texas/ Australia)		Castrate	20-27						73			16.5% CP pellets & hay + zeranol	McGregor <i>et al</i> (1984) cited by McGregor (1985)
Alpine	35 days		8-10	0.609					160 - 220			Weaners	Morand-Fehr <i>et al.</i> (1982)
Crossbred 50% Boer	Weaner		30	0.92		9.2			150				NRC (2007)
Boer	Growing goats		30					149	150			Crude protein	NRC (2007)
ex Angora	Growing goats		30					129	150			Total protein	NRC (1981)
Crossbred 50% Boer	Weaner		30	1.4		14			150				NRC (1981)
Indigenous / feral			20	0.72		7.24		108	150				NRC (2007)
Indigenous / feral			30	0.87		8.74		123	150				NRC (2007)
Saanen (Britain, Australia)		Male	12-24						222			Concentrates	Owen and Mtenga (1980) cited by McGregor (1985)
Boer	0-12 mths								200			Average daily weight gain; rangeland conditions	Patrick S and Patrick G (no date)
Boer	0-12 mths								>250			Average daily weight gain; intensive management or favourable conditions	Patrick S and Patrick G(no date)
Angora (Texas/ Australia)		Male					15		165			15% CP Pellets	Shelton and Huston (1966) cited by McGregor (1985)
Barbari (India)		Mixed	6-12						53			Berseem clover and barley	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1980) cited by McGregor (1985)
Barbari (India)		Mixed	6-12						29			Berseem clover	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1980) cited by McGregor (1985)
Tropical - Vietnam	16 weeks		18.3	50g/kg LW					96			Water intake 28ml/kg LW	Van <i>et al.</i> (2007)

		Sex /	LW	DMI	M	IE	Pro	otein	Growth		Deaths		
Breed	Age/ class	Birth Type	(kgs)	(Kg)	/kg DM	MJ/ day	%	g/day	rate g/d	FCE	(%)	Comment	Author
Tropical - Vietnam	16 weeks	Lambs	19.4	47g/kg LW					98			Water intake 36mls/kg LW	Van <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Boer	3 mo	Male	24.6	1.155			15.7		147.1	7.8:1		85 day trial - comparison between Boer & Kiko breeds - Boer preferred less hay (23.1% vs 31.5% DMI) and more grain (76.9% vs 68.5%), offered <i>ad lib</i> 80:20 pellets:hay	Solaiman <i>et al.</i> (2011)
Kiko	3 mo	Male	22.8	1.085			14.8		103.8	10.45:1		85 day trial - comparison between Boer & Kiko breeds - Boer preferred less hay (23.1% vs 31.5% DMI) and more grain (76.9% vs 68.5%), offered <i>ad lib</i> 80:20 pellets:hay	Solaiman <i>et al.</i> (2011)

			LW	DMI	DMI	м	E	Pro	tein		
Breed	Age/ class	Sex	(kgs)	(Kg)	(% of LW)	/kg DM	MJ/ day	%	g/day	Comment	Author
	Lactating and growing goats				3.5 - 5%					Ensminger refers to meat goats as Angora or Spanish goats and quotes NRC 1981	Ensminger (1990)
Meat goats										ME and CP requirement of Boer kids and crossbreds not well established; protein requirements of meat (>50% Boer) goats is greater than for other goats	Fernandes <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Boer	Lactating goats	Does	45	1.6		8.9		14			Greyling <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Indigenous	Lactating goats	Does	32	1.0		8.9		14			Greyling et al. (2004)
Angora	Early preg	Does	34 - 36		2.7-3.8%					Intakes in ex of 4% difficult to achieve	Jordan (2011) goatworld.com
Angora	Late preg	Does	34 - 37		3.4-4.2%						Jordan (2011) goatworld.com
Angora	Lactating - single	Does	34 - 38		3.9-4.3%						Jordan (2011) goatworld.com
Angora	Lactating - twin	Does	34 - 39		4.3-4.8%						Jordan (2011) goatworld.com
Angora	Kids - pre weaning							15		Minimum	Jordan (2011) goatworld.com
Dairy	Maintenance	Does					11	6 - 8			McGregor (2005)
Dairy	Milk production	Does					26	15 -18			McGregor (2005)
Unspecified			10				2.27		33	Maintenance requirements - drought	McGregor (no date)
Unspecified			20				3.82		55	Maintenance requirements - drought	McGregor (no date)
Unspecified			30				5.18		74	Maintenance requirements - drought	McGregor (no date)
Unspecified			40				6.43		93	Maintenance requirements - drought	McGregor (no date)

## Appendix 3: Nutrient requirements – authors other than NRC

Brood		Sex	LW	DMI	DMI	м	E	Pro	otein	Comment	Author
Breed	Age/ class	Sex	(kgs)	(Kg)	(% of LW)	/kg DM	MJ/ day	%	g/day	Comment	Author
Unspecified			50				7.6		110	Maintenance requirements - drought	McGregor (no date)
Unspecified			60				8.71		126	Maintenance requirements - drought	McGregor (no date)
Unspecified	Growing kid		20				5.53		51.8		NRC (1981) cited in Niver (2005)
Unspecified	Growing kid		20				5.69		76.5		NRC 2004 (unpublished) cited in Niver (2005)
Unspecified	Lactating goats	Does				4.9-5.2				Requirement dependent on method	Nsahlai <i>et al.</i> (2004)
3/4 Boer x Spanish 1/4	4 - 4.5 mo		17.6 - 19.4	ad lib					14	70% concentrate, confined	Prieto <i>et al.</i> (2000)
Boer	Lactating	Does	45				18.22		107	"Although future research to refine assumptions may improve accuracy"	Nsahlai <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Indigenous	Lactating goats	Does	32				14.56		84.3	"Although future research to refine assumptions may improve accuracy"	Nsahlai <i>et al.</i> (2004)

Breed	Genotype	Mature Wt (kgs)	Author
Alpine (France)	Dairy	80-90	Fehr et al (1976) cited by McGregor (1985)
Anglo-Nubian	Dual purpose	80-90	Going into Goats (2006)
Angora	Fibre	60-80	Going into Goats (2006)
Angora (Texas/Australia)	Fibre	50-60	Shelton & Huston (1966) cited by McGregor (1985)
Barbari (India)	Meat	35-45	Singh <i>et al.</i> (1980) cited by McGregor (1985)
Boer	Meat	100-110	Going into Goats (2006)
Boer - Improved (Sth Africa)	Meat	100-110	Campbell cited by Naude & Hofmeyr (1981) cited by McGregor (1985)
Condoblin	Rangeland	80-100	Going into Goats (2006)
Damascus (Cyprus)	Dairy	80-90	Louca <i>et al</i> . (1977) cited by McGregor (1985)
Kalahari	Desert	100-110	Going into Goats (2006)
Kambing/Katjang (Malaysia & Indonesia)	Meat	25-30	Devendra (1967) cited by McGregor (1985)
Rangeland	Rangeland	45-80	Going into Goats (2006)
Rangeland (Australia)	Rangeland	45-55	McGregor et al (1982) cited by McGregor (1985)
Saanan	Dairy	90-100	Going into Goats (2006)
Saanen (Britain, Australia)	Dairy	90-100	McGregor (1980) cited by McGregor (1985)

## Appendix 4: Mature weights of a range of goat breeds

Breed	Age	Bucks (kgs)	Does (kgs)	Unspecified sex (kgs)	Author
Boer	Birth	3.7	3.4		Patrick S and Patrick G (no date)
Boer cross	Birth			2.6	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Small East African Goats	Birth			2.3	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer cross	6 weeks			8.3	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Small East African Goats	6 weeks			6.9	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	Weaning	24	22		Patrick S and Patrick G (no date)
Boer	Weaner kids			20-25	Lu (2001)
Boer cross	5 months			19.7	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Small East African Goats	5 months			14.9	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer cross	6 months			21.8	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Small East African Goats	6 months			16.2	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	7 months	40-50	35-45		Patrick S and Patrick G (no date)
Boer cross	9 months			28.2	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Small East African Goats	9 months			20.2	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	12 months	50-70	45-65		Patrick S and Patrick G (no date)
Boer cross	12 months			34.3	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke, (1997)
Small East African Goats	12 months			22	Haas (1978) cited in Barry and Godke (1997)
Boer	mature	90-130	80-100		Patrick S and Patrick G (no date)

## Appendix 5: Guide to liveweights at a range of ages

### Appendix 6: Nutritive value of rangeland species

Botanical name	Common name	Toxicity	Palatability	Digestible DM %	ME (MJ/kg DM)	CP %	Source
GRASSES							
Aristida spp	Wiregrass; kerosene grass		Dry	47.3-48.4	6.8-7	5.3-9.4	Productive Nutrition database
Astrebla lappacea	Curly mitchell grass					4.7-10.8	NSW DPI
Astrebla pectinata	Barley mitchell grass			36.9-73.5	4.5-11.3	3.3-23.1	Productive Nutrition database
Austrodanthonia spp	Wallaby grass			40.64-71.92	6.1-10.79	2.31-23.25	NSW DPI
Austrostipa spp	Speargrass			38.94-60.06	5.84-9.01	2.56-13.38	NSW DPI
Cenchrus spp	Buffel grass	Oxalates		48.43-68.21	7.26-10.23	4.69-16.31	Simmonds et al. (2000); NSW DPI
Chloris gayana	Rhodes grass	Prussic acid/cyanide		40.37-59.48	6.06-8.92	2.88-15.06	Everist (1974)
Chloris truncata	Windmill grass; umbrella grass	Prussic acid/cyanide		44.71-65.25	6.71-9.79	4.81-15.63	NSW DPI
Dichanthium sericeum	Queensland bluegrass			38-62	7.69	2-7	NSW DPI
Digitaria eriantha	Pangola grass; digit grass		Dry	45.87	6.88	2.75	NSW DPI
Enteropogon acicularis/rasmosus	Curly windmill grass		Young growth	37-62		5-13	NSW DPI
Eragrostis australasica	Tall / swamp canegrass			31.7-56.1	3.4-8.4	3.1-15.2	Productive Nutrition database
Eragrostis eriopoda	Woollybutt; neverfail			44.2-46.8	6-6.4	3.4-11.8	Productive Nutrition database
Hordeum leporinum	Barley grass			56.1-78.5	8-11.5	11.2-32	Productive Nutrition database
Lolium perenne	Perennial ryegrass	Alkaloids		59.2-73.5	8.6-11	12.9-27.7	Productive Nutrition database
Nassella trichotoma	Serrated tussock			44-51	5.5-7		NSW DPI
Panicum maximum	Guinea grass		Vegetative	65.35	9.8	16.19	NSW DPI
Paspalum dilatatum	Paspalum	Ergot infection of seed heads		41.44-61.72	6.22-9.26	5.06-13	NSW DPI
Poa labillardieri	Poa tussock		Dry	39.93-53.37	5.91-8.01	4.25-9.44	NSW DPI
Setaria incrassata	Purple pidgeon grass	Oxalates	Vegetative	47.57	7.14	6.94	NSW DPI
Sorghum halepense	Johnson grass	Nitrates / cyanide		46.47	6.97	6.88	Simmonds et al. (2000); NSW DPI
Themeda triandra	Kangaroo grass			44.44-53.77	6.67-8.07	4.81-6.38	NSW DPI
Zygochloa paradoxa	Sandhill canegrass			32.7-49.9	3.5-6.9	1.8-10.3	Productive Nutrition database

Botanical name	Common name	Toxicity	Palatability	Digestible DM %	ME (MJ/kg DM)	CP %	Source
HERBS/FORBS							
Brassica tournefortii	Wild turnip	Goitrogens	All stages	80.16	12.02	26.56	Everist (1974) / NSW DPI
Carduus nutans	Nodding thistle		Flowering				
Carduus pycnocephalus	Slender thistle	Nitrates	All stages				Everist (1974)
Carthamus lanatus	Saffron thistle		Flowering		12.1	14.4	Going Into Goats guide (2006)
Chondrilla juncea	Skeleton weed		Flowering		7.68	9.06	NSW DPI
Cirsium vulgare	Spear thistle	Nitrates	Flowering		7.25-11.3	8.13-20.25	NSW DPI
Craspedia spp	Billybuttons	Staggers	Flowering				Everist (1974)
Cynara cardunculus	Artichoke thistle		Leaves		11.5	14.8	Cunningham <i>et al</i> . (1992); McGregor (2005)
Echium plantagenium	Patterson's curse	Alkaloids	Flowering				Everist (1974)
Erodium spp	Crowfoot; geranium		Flowering	68-75	10.2-11.3	12.63-16.25	NSW DPI
Hypericum perforatum	St John's wort; goatweed	Hypericin (PS)	Seldom eaten	35-82	5.28-12.27	3.75-21.3	NSW DPI
Lactuca serriola	Prickly lettuce	Respiratory distress	All stages				
Lepidium spp	Peppercress		Flowering				
Maireana pyramidata	Black bluebush	Oxalates / salt	All stages	46.8-67	6.4-9.7	13-21	Productive Nutrition database; Simmonds <i>et al.</i> (2000)
Maireana aphylla	Cottonbush	Oxalates	All stages	41.4-72.2	5.9-10.8	5.6-29.5	Productive Nutrition database; Simmonds <i>et al</i> . (2000)
Marrubium vulgare	Horehound		Flowering/ leaves	42-67	5.3-10.8	9.5-21	Productive Nutrition database
Medicago falcata	Yellowflower lucerne		All stages				
Medicago minima	Woolly burr medic	Dermatitis /PS	Flowering	40.2-68	5.4-9.8	14.5-26.6	Productive Nutrition database
Medicago sativa	Lucerne	Saponins; nitrates	All stages	41.7-84.2	5.6-12.4	7.9-39.7	Productive Nutrition database; Everist (1974)
Meuhlenbeckia spp	Lignum		All stages	37.72	5.66	6.06	NSW DPI
Onopordum spp	Scotch thistle		Flowering	50.6-68	7.6-10.2	6.25-18.19	NSW DPI
Phytolacca octandra	Inkweed	Roots only- saponins	Flowering				Everist (1974)

Botanical name	Common name	Toxicity	Palatability	Digestible DM %	ME (MJ/kg DM)	CP %	Source
Plantago spp	Plantain		Flowering				
Pteridium esculentum	Common bracken	Thiaminases	Occasionally				Simmonds <i>et al.</i> (2000)
Rosa rubiginosa	Sweet briar		All stages	49.88	7.48-10.5	4.75-20.7	NSW DPI; Going Into Goats guide (2006)
Rubus fruiticosus	Blackberry		All stages	69.18	10.38-10.5	15.31-21	NSW DPI; Going Into Goats guide (2006)
Rubus fruiticosus	Blackberry		Young stems		10.5	21	Going Into Goats guide (2006)
Rubus fruiticosus	Blackberry		Old stems		7.4	6.1	Going Into Goats guide (2006)
Rumex crispus	Curled dock	Oxalates	Flowering				Simmonds <i>et al</i> . (2000)
Sclerolaena birchii	Galvanised burr	Oxalates	All stages	45.33-49.26	6.8-7.39	7-12.63	NSW DPI
Silybum marianum	Variegated thistle	Nitrates	All stages	72.51-80.53	10.88-12.08	19.38-24.13	Simmonds <i>et al.</i> (2000); NSW DPI
Sisymbrium spp	Mustard weed		Flowering				
Solanum carolinense	Carolina horse nettle	Solanine - diarrhoea	All stages				Simmonds <i>et al</i> . (2000)
Trifolium spp	Clovers		Mature				
Urtica incisa	Scrub nettle; tall nettle	Haemolytic saponins	All stages				Everist (1974)
Ventilago viminalis	Supplejack	Tannins	All stages	68.39-70.72	10.26-10.61	10.69-13.69	Simmonds <i>et al</i> . (2000); NSW DPI
Verbena bonariensis	Purpletop		Flowering				
TREES & SHRUBS							
Acacia acinacea	Gold-dust wattle		Leaves		7.2	14.7	McGregor (2005)
Acacia aneura	Mulga		All stages	50.07-54.8	7.3-7.8	7.81-10.9	Productive Nutrition database; NSW DPI
Acacia aneura	Mulga		Leaves		6.5	12	McGregor (2005)
Acacia dealbata	Silver wattle		Leaves		8.3	14.8	McGregor (2005)
Acacia escelsa	Ironwood		All stages	58.69	8.8	13.5	NSW DPI
Acacia farnesiana	Mimosa bush		Leaves		7.9	23	McGregor (2005)
Acacia homalophylla	Yarran		All stages	low	poor	good	Cunningham et al. (1992)
Acacia mearnsii	Black wattle		Flowering	41.18-59.83	6.18-8.97	5-15.94	NSW DPI
Acacia paradoxa	Kangaroo thorn		All stages				
Acacia pendula	Weeping myall; boree; balaar		Leaves	52.76-59.42	7.91-8.91	13.25-15.63	Cunningham <i>et al.</i> (1992); NSW DPI

Botanical name	Common name	Toxicity	Palatability	Digestible DM %	ME (MJ/kg DM)	CP %	Source
Alectryon oleifolius	Bullock bush		Leaves				
Apophyllum anomalum	Warrior bush; broombush; current bush		All stages	59.27-71.02	8.89-10.65	11.56-21	NSW DPI
Atalaya hemiglauca	Whitewood	Fruits poisonous	All stages				
Atriplex spp	Saltbushes	Nitrates & oxalates	All stages	42.8-82.5	5.7-12.2	9.6-26.7	Simmonds <i>et al.</i> (2000); Productive Nutrition database
Brachychiton populneus	Kurrajong	Seeds & fruits	All stages	44.77-57.8	6.72-8.67	8.38-11.56	NSW DPI
Brachychiton rupestris	Bottle tree	Nitrates	Leaves /trunk			2	Everist (1974)
Callitris columellaris	Native cyprus pine		Occasionally	20.12	3.02	0.75	NSW DPI
Callitris endlicheri	Black cyprus pine		All stages				
Capparis mitchellii	Wild orange; orange bush		All stages	59.97-67.70	8.99-10.15	12.13-17.56	NSW DPI
Cassia artemisioides	Silver cassia	Glycosides -seed pods	Occasionally				Simmonds <i>et al</i> . (2000)
Cassia eremophila	Punty bush; desert cassia	Glycosides -seed pods	Occasionally				Simmonds <i>et al.</i> (2000)
Cassinia spp	Dolly bush; chinese shrub; biddy bush; sticky cassinia		Isolated plants				
Casuarina cristata	Belah		All stages	48.22-69.06	7.23-10.36	6.56-13.88	NSW DPI
Chamaecytisus proliferus	Lucerne tree; tagasaste	Alkaloids	All stages	34.99-76.14	5.25-11.42	4.63-24.06	NSW DPI; Simmonds et al. (2000)
Chenopodium nitrariaceum	Nitre bush; nitre goosefoot	Nitrates & oxalates					Simmonds <i>et al</i> . (2000)
Crataegus spp	Hawthorn	Prussic acid	All stages				Everist (1974)
Cytisus scoparius	Scotch broom		All stages				
Dodoneae attenuata	Narrow-leaved hopbush		All stages	43.05-64.15	6.46-9.62	6.25-9.69	NSW DPI
Dodoneae viscosa	Broad-leaved hop bush		Flowering				
Eremophila longifolia	Emu bush	If fed alone (Everist, 1974)	All stages	46-56.7	6.3-8.1	7.4-11.5	Productive Nutrition database; NSW DPI
Eremophila mitchellii	Budda; false sandalwood		Occasionally				
Eucalyptus albens	White box		Flowering	58.95	8.84	7.31	NSW DPI
Eucalyptus	Yellow box		Sucker				Going Into Goats guide (2006)

Botanical name	Common name	Toxicity	Palatability	Digestible DM %	ME (MJ/kg DM)	CP %	Source
melliodora			regrowth				
Eucalyptus polyanthemos	Red box		Flowering				
Eucalyptus populnea	Bimble box; poplar box		Occasionally				Cunningham et al. (1992)
Eucalyptus spp	Box, gum & mallee		Sucker leaves				Going Into Goats guide (2006)
Geijera parviflora	Wilga		Occasionally	55.04-69.96	8.26-10.49	8.69-15.94	NSW DPI
Gomphocarpus fruticose	Narrow-leaved cotton bush	Cardiac glycosides	Rarely	51.47	7.72	12.13	Simmonds <i>et al</i> . (2000); NSW DPI
Heterodendrum oleifolium	Rosewood; boonery	Prussic acid	All stages	44.13-60	6.62-9	8.6-13.38	NSW DPI; Everist (1974)
Leptospermum juniperinum	Manuka		Leaves		8.6	6.4	McGregor (2005)
Lyceum ferocissimum	African boxthorn		Leaves		12.4	28.3	Going Into Goats guide (2006)
Lyceum ferocissimum	African boxthorn		Stems		9.2	11.6	Going Into Goats guide (2006)
Owenia acidula	Gruie; colane		All stages	59.4-67.33	8.9-10.1	10.4-13	NSW DPI
Schinus areira	Peppercorn		Occasionally		10.2	20.3	McGregor (2005)
Tamarix parviflora	Small flower tamarisk		New growth		9	20.2	McGregor (2005); Lovich (no date)
Tamarix aphylla	Athel pine		All stages				Badshah and Hussein (2011)

### **Reference List**

Abi Saab S, Sleiman FT, Nassar KH, Chemaly I, El-Skaff R (1997) Implications of high and low protein levels on puberty and sexual maturity of growing male goat kids, *Small Ruminant Research* **25** (1), 17-22.

Acero-Camelo A, Valencia E, Rodriguez A, Randel PF (2008) Effects of flushing with two energy levels on goat reproductive performance, *Livestock Research for Rural Development* **20** (9), 136.

AFRC (1991) A reappraisal of the calcium and phosphorus requirements of sheep and cattle, Report No. 6, *Nutrition Abstracts and Reviews, Series B* **61**, 573-608.

AFRC (1993) Energy and Protein Requirements of Ruminants, Council, A. a. F. R., AFRC Technical Committee on Responses to Nutrients

AFRC (1997) Report No. 10. The nutrition of goats, *Nutrition Abstracts and Reviews. Series B, Livestock Feeds and Feeding* **67** (11), 765-830.

AFRC (1998) The nutrition of goats, AFRC Technical Committee on Responses to Nutrients, Report No 10, Council, A. a. F. R., CAB International, Wallingford

Aharon H HZ, Ungar ED, Kababya D, Baram, H, Perevolotsky A (2007) Foraging behaviour of the newly introduced Boer goat breed in a Mediterranean woodland: A research observation, *Small Ruminant Research* **69**, 144-153.

Alamer M (2011) Water requirements and body water distribution in Awassi sheep and Aardi goats during winter and summer seasons, *Journal of Agricultural Science* **149** (2), 227-234.

Aleksiev Y (2009) A note on rectal temperature behaviour in toggenburg kids during the first 36 hours of postnatal life, *Biotechnology in Animal Husbandry* **25** (5-6), 985-991.

Amaral CMC, Sugohara A, Resende KT, Machado MRF, Cruz C (2005) Performance and ruminal morphologic characteristics of Saanen kids fed ground, pelleted or extruded total ration, *Small Ruminant Research* **58** (1), 47-54.

Anke M, Groppel B, Guertler H, Mueller M (1993) Spurenelementmangelerscheinungen bei Tier und Mensch. In: Mineralstoffe und Spurenelemente in der Emahrung. Anke, M. and Guertler, H. Verlag Media Touristik, Gersdorf, Germany, 157-195

Anke M, Groppel B, Krause U, Angelow L, Regius A, Masaoka T, Kosla T, Langer M (1988) Diagnosemoeglichkeiten des Zink, Mangan, Kupfer, Jod, Selen, Molybdaen, Kadmium, Nickel, Lithium and Arsenstatus. Proceedings 8th Arbeitstagung Mengen and Spourenelemente, Leipzig, University Jena, Germany: 368-384

Anke M, Szentmihalyi S (1986) Prinzipien der Spurenelementversorgung und des Spurenelementstoffwechsels beim Wiederkaeuer. Proceedings 6th Arbeitstagung Mengen und Spurenelemente, Leipzig, Germany, University Leipzig: 87-107

ARC (1980) The Nutrient Requirements of Ruminant Livestock, Commonwealth Agriculture Bureaux, Slough, UK.

Aregheore EM, Lungu JCN (1997) Effect of plane of nutrition of the doe on the birth weight, survival rate and vigour of kids of Gwembe valley goats, *Scientia Agriculturae Bohemica* **28** (2), 119-127.

Arieli A, Naim E, Benjamin RW, Pasternak D (1989) The effect of feeding saltbush and sodium chloride on energy metabolism in sheep, Cambridge Journals Online. **49**, 451-457.

Aritonang SN (2009) The effect of forage energy level on production and reproduction performances of Kosta female goat, *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition* **8** (3), 251-255.

Ash AJ, Norton BW (1987) Studies with the Australian Cashmere Goat .1. Growth and Digestion in Male and Female Goats Given Pelleted Diets Varying in Protein-Content and Energy-Level, *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **38** (5), 957-969.

Austin PJ, Suchar LA, Robbins CT, Hagerman AE (1989) Tannin binding proteins in saliva of deer and their absence in saliva of sheep and cattle, *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **15**, 1335-1347.

Badshah L, Hussain F (2011) Farmers preferences and use of local fodder flora in Tank District, Pakistan, *African Journal of Biotechnology* **10** (32), 6062-6071.

Barbehenn RV, Constabel CP (2011) Tannins in plant-herbivore interactions, *Phytochemistry* **72** (13), 1551-1565.

Barry DM, Godke RA (1997) "The Boer Goat: The potential for cross breeding", from <a href="http://www.boergoats.com/clean/articleads.php?art=23">http://www.boergoats.com/clean/articleads.php?art=23</a>

Beede DK, Schelling GT, Tucker PE, Mitchell GB (1979) Marginal or excess dietary crude protein with or without monensin for growing goats, *Journal of Animal Science* **49** 

Beede DK, Schneider PL, Mallonee PG, Wilcox CJ, Collier RJ (1984) Relationship of heat and lactational stress to electrolyte needs, balance and metabolism in dairy cows. In: Proceedings of the 1984 Georgia Nutrition Conference for the Feed Industry, 45-52

Beker A, Gipson TA, Puchala R, Askar AR, Tesfai K, Detweiler GD, Asmare A, Goetsch AL (2009) Effects of stocking rate, breed and stage of production on energy expenditure and activity of meat goat does on pasture, *Journal of Applied Animal Research* **36** (2), 159-174.

Belenguer A, HervÃis G, Toral PG, Fondevila M, Frutos P (2011) Is polyethylene glycol innocuous to the rumen bacterial community? A preliminary in vitro study, *Animal Production Science* **51** (11), 990-995.

Belovsky GE F, J, Schmitz OJ (1999) Natural selection and herbivore nutrition; Optimal foraging theory and what it tells us about the structure of ecological communities. In: Nutritional Ecology of Herbivores. Jr., J. H.-J. G. a. G. F. American Sociaty of Animal Science, Savoy, Illinois, 1-70

Bhattacharya AN (1980) Research on Goat Nutrition and Management in Mediterranean Middle East and Adjacent Arab Countries, *Journal of Dairy Science* **63** (10), 1681-1700.

Blache D, Maloney SK, Revell DK (2008) Use and limitations of alternative feed resources to sustain and improve reproductive performance in sheep and goats, *Animal Feed Science and Technology* **147** (1/3), 140-157.

Blache D, Martin GB (2009) Focus feeding to improve reproductive performance in male and female sheep and goats - how it works and strategies for using it, *Options Mediterraneennes. Serie A, Seminaires Mediterraneens* (85), 351-364.

Black JL (1990) Nutrition of the grazing ruminant, *Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production* **50**, 7-27.

Black JL, Kenney PA, Colebrook WF (1987) Diet selection by sheep. In: Temperate pastures: their production, use and management., 331-334

Blackburn HD (1995) Comparison of performance of Boer and Spanish goats in two U.S. locations, *Journal of Animal Science* **73**, 302-309.

Branco RH, Rodrigues MT, Rodrigues CAF, Silva MMCd, Leao MI, Pereira VV (2010a) Effect of levels of neutral detergent fiber derived from forage on microbial efficiency and digestive parameters in dairy goats, *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia* **39** (2), 372-381.

Branco RH, Rodrigues MT, Silva MMCd, Rodrigues CAF, Queiroz ACd, Araujo FLd (2010b) Effect of dietary forage fiber levels on intake, production and efficiency of utilization of nutrients of lactating goats, *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia* **39** (11), 2477-2485.

Browning R, Leite-Browning ML (2011) Birth to weaning kid traits from a complete diallel of Boer, Kiko, and Spanish meat goat breeds semi-intensively managed on humid subtropical pasture, *Journal of Animal Science* **89** (9), 2696-2707.

Burritt EA, Provenza FD (1998) Effect of an unfamiliar location on the consumption of novel and familiar foods by sheep,

Butter NL, Dawson JM, Wakelin D, Buttery PJ (2000) Effect of dietary tannin and protein concentration on nematode infection (Trichostrongylus colubriformis) in lambs, *Journal of Agricultural Science* **134** (1), 89-99.

Casey NH, Niekerk WAV (1988) The Boer Goat. I. Origin, Adaptability, Performance Testing, Reproduction and Milk Production, *Small Ruminant Research* **1**, 291-302.

Clark DA, Lambert MG, Rolston MP, Dymock N (1982) Diet selection by goats and sheep on hill country. NZ Society of Animal Production, 42: 155-157

Coffey L (2006) Meat Goats: Sustainable Production, NCAT Sustainable Agriculture Project

Coleman SW, Hart SP, Sahlu T (2003) Relationships among forage chemistry, rumination and retention time with intake and digestibility of hay by goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **50** (1/2), 129-140.

Coop RL, Kyriazakis I (1999) Nutrition-parasite interaction, Vet Parasitology 84 (3-4), 187-204.

Coop RL, Kyriazakis I (2001) Influence of host nutrition on the development and consequences of nematode parasitism in ruminants, *Trends in Parasitology* **17** (7), 325-330.

Cooper SDB, Kyriazakis I, Nolan JV (1995) "Diet selection in sheep:The role of the rumen environment in the selection of a diet from two feeds that differ in their energy density" British Journal of Nutrition, retrieved 18 July 2006 from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov</u>

Correa JE (2009) Basic Meat Goat Nutrition,

CSIRO (1990) Feeding standards for Australian livestock. Ruminants. Standing Committee on Agriculture and Resource Management. East Melbourne

CSIRO (2007) Nutrient requirements of domesticated ruminants, CSIRO publishing

Cunningham GM, Mulham WE, Milthorpe PL, Leigh JH (1992) Plants of Western New South Wales, Inkata Press, Marrickville, NSW.

Dalton S (2005) Understanding your feed test report. FeedTest, Department of Primary Industry, Hamilton, Victoria

Devendra C (1971) The nutrition of the goat. In: Proceedings 2nd International Conference about Goat Breeding. LeJaouen, M. J.-C., Disset, M. R., Morand-Fehr, P. and Ricordeau, M. G., Tours, France, July 17-19 1971, 171-180

Devendra C (1989) Comparative aspects of digestive physiology and nutrition in goats and sheep. Satellite Symposium on Ruminant Physiology and Nutrition in Asia, VII International Symposium on Ruminant Physiology, Sendai, Japan

Dickson H, Jolly S (2011) National Procedures and Guidelines for Intensive Sheep and Lamb Feeding Systems, Meat and Livestock Australia

Domingue BMF, Dellow DW, Barry TN (1991a) The Efficiency of Chewing During Eating and Ruminating in Goats and Sheep, *British Journal of Nutrition* **65** (3), 355-363.

Domingue BMF, Dellow DW, Barry TN (1991b) Voluntary Intake and Rumen Digestion of a Low-Quality Roughage by Goats and Sheep, *Journal of Agricultural Science* **117**, 111-120.

Domingue BMF, Dellow DW, Wilson PR, Barry TN (1990) Comparitive nutrition of deer and goats, goats and sheep, *Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production* **50**, 39-42.

Domingue BMF, Dellow DW, Wilson PR, Barry TN (1991c) Nitrogen-Metabolism, Rumen Fermentation, and Water-Absorption in Red Deer, Goats, and Sheep, *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research* **34** (4), 391-400.

Donoghue S, Donawick WJ, Kronfeld DS (1983) Transfer of vitamin A from intestine to plasma in lambs fed low and high intakes of vitamin A, *Journal of Nutrition* **113** (11), 2197-2204.

Doyle PT, Egan JK, Thalen AJ (1984) Intake, digestion, and nitrogen and sulfur retention in Angora goats and Merino sheep fed herbage diets, *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture and Animal Husbandry* **24** (125), 165-169.

DPI Victoria (2010) "Water Quality for Farm Water Supplies", retrieved 2011 from <u>http://www.dpi.vic.gov.au/agriculture/farming-management/managing-dams/water-quality-farm-water-supplies</u>

Dumont BM MM, Prud'hon M (1995) Direct observation of biting for studying grazing behaviour of goats and llamas on garrigue rangelands, *Small Ruminant Research* **16**, 27-35.

Dunshea FR (1987) Use of labile tissue reserves during early lactation and chronic undernutrition in goats. PhD Thesis. La Trobe University

Dziba LSP, Gordon IJ, Raats JG (2003b) The feeding height preferences of two goat breeds fed Grewia occidentalis L (Tilliaceae) in the Eastern cape, South Africa, *Small Ruminant Research* **47**, 31-38.

Ensminger ME, Oldfield JE, Heinemann WW (1990) Feeds and Nutrition, (2nd) The Ensminger Publishing Company, USA

Estell RE (2010) Coping with shrub secondary metabolites by ruminants, *Small Ruminant Research* **94** (1-3), 1-9.

Everist SL (1974) Poisonous plants of Australia, Angus and Robertson, Sydney.

Faithful NT (1984) The in vitro digestibility of feed stuffs - a centry of ferment, *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **35**, 819-826.

Faurie AS, Mitchell D, Laburn HP (2004) Peripartum body temperatures in free-ranging ewes (Ovis aries) and their lambs, *Journal of Thermal Biology* **29** (2), 115-122.

Fedele V, Claps S, Rubino R, Calandrelli M, Pilla AM (2002) Effect of free-choice and traditional feeding systems on goat feeding behaviour and intake, *Livestock Production Science* **74** (1), 19-31.

Fedele V, Claps S, Rubino R, Sepe L, Cifuni GF (2005) Volatile compounds in herbage intake by goats in two different grazing seasons, *Options Mediterraneennes. Serie A, Seminaires Mediterraneens* (67), 261-267.

Fedele V PM, Claps S, Morand-Fehr P, Rubino, R (1993) Grazing behaviour and diet selection of goats on native pasture in southern Italy, *Small Ruminant Research* **11**, 305-322.

Fernandes MHMR, Resende KT, Tedeschi LO, Jnr JSF, Silva HM, Carstens GE, Berchielli TT, Teixeira IAMA, Akinaga L (2007) Energy and protein requirements for maintenance and growth of Boer crossbred kids, *Journal of Animal Science* **85**, 1014-1023.

Fernandez S (no date) "Bioactive forages to control roundworms in sheep", retrieved 2011 from <u>http://oacc.info/Docs/NewsArticles/na\_Roundworms\_sh.pdf</u>

Field C (1979) The food habits of camels in northern Kenya, Technical Report E16, UNEP-MAB-IPAL, Mimeograph

Flint M, Murray PJ (2001) Lot-fed goats - the advantages of using an enriched environment, *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* **41** (4), 473-476.

Flint M, Murray PJ (2002) A model to test the effect of manipulating photoperiod on the liveweight gain of goats in southern Queensland, Australia, *Journal of Animal Science* **80** 

Foley WJ, McLean S, Cork SJ (1995) Consequences of biotransformation of plant secondary metabolites on acid-base metabolism in mammals - a final common pathway?, *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **21** (6), 721-741.

Forbes J, Provenza F (2000) Integration of learning and metabolic signals into a theory of dietary choice and food intake. In: Ruminant Physiology: digestion, metabolism, growth and reproduction. Cronje, P. CABI, New York, 3-20

Francis SA (2002) "Investigating the role of carbohydrates in the dietary choices of ruminants with an emphasis on dairy cows, PhD Thesis" Institute of Land and Food Resources, retrieved 18 July 2006 from <a href="http://eprints.unimelb.edu.au/archive/00000740/">http://eprints.unimelb.edu.au/archive/00000740/</a>

Franklin-McEvoy J (2002) Improving the Performance of Sheep Grazing on Saltbush. Faculty of Sciences, Discipline of Animal Science. University of Adelaide. Adelaide

Franklin-McEvoy J, Jolly S (2005) Towards a better understanding of animal nutrition in pastoral South Australia, *CNEFAP Final Report* 

Frileux YI, Cirier N, Borgida LP (2003) The feeding of high-yielding goats: energy and nitrogen requirements at the end of gestation, *Chevre* (258), 30-32.

Gasparotto SW (2010) "Getting goat nutrition right", retrieved 11/10/2011 from <u>www.tennesseemeatgoats.com</u>

Gherardi SG, Johnson TJ (1995) Feeding of feral goats before live export by ship, *Australian Veterinary Journal* **72** (11), 429-430.

Giger-Reverdin S, Gihad EA (1991) Water metabolism and intake in goats. In: Goat nutrition, 37-45

Gipson TA, Goetsch AL, Detweiler G, Merkel RC, Sahlu T (2006) Effects of the number of yearling Boer crossbred wethers per automated feeding system unit on feed intake, feeding behavior and growth performance, *Small Ruminant Research* **65** (1-2), 161-169.

Gipson TA, Goetsch AL, Detweiler G, Sahlu T (2007) Effects of feeding method, diet nutritive value and physical form and genotype on feed intake, feeding behavior and growth performance by meat goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **71** (1-3), 170-178.

Goetsch AL, Detweiler G, Sahlu T, Hayes J, Puchala R (2003) Effects of separate offering of forage and concentrate on feed intake and growth of Alpine doelings, *Small Ruminant Research* **48** (3), 209-216.

Goetsch AL, Gipson TA, Askar AR, Puchala R (2010) Feeding behavior of goats, *Journal of Animal Science* **88** (1), 361-373.

Gordon IJ, Illius AW (1988) Incisor arcade structure and diet selection in ruminants, *Functional Ecology* **2** (1), 15-22.

Greenwood PL, Bell AW (2003) Prenatal nutritional influences on growth and development of ruminants, *Recent Advances in Animal Nutrition in Australia* (14), 57-73.

Greenwood PL, Hunt AS, Hermanson JW, Bell AW (1998) Effects of birth weight and post natal nutrition on neonatal sheep: 1. Body growth and composition and some aspects of energetic efficiency, *Journal of Animal Science* **76**, 2354-2367.

Greyling JPC, Mmbengwa VM, Schwalbach LMJ, Muller T (2004) Comparative milk production potential of Indigenous and Boer goats under two feeding systems in South Africa, *Small Ruminant Research* **55** (1), 97-105.

Gunn RG (1983) The influence of nutrition on the reproductive performance of ewes. In: Sheep Production. Haresign, W. Butterworths, London, 99-110

Haas HJd (1978) Growth of Boer goat crosses in comparison with indigenous Small East African goats in Kenya, *Tropenlandwirt* **79** (April), 7-12.

Hadjigeorgiou IE, Gordon IJ, Milne JA (2003) Comparative preference by sheep and goats for Graminaeae forages varying in chemical composition, *Small Ruminant Research* **49** (2), 147-156.

Hadjipanayiotou M (1995) Fractional outflow of soybean meal from the rumen, water intake and ruminal fermentation pattern in sheep and goats at different seasons and age groups, *Small Ruminant Research* **17** (2), 137-143.

Haenlein GFW (1980) Mineral nutrition of goats, Journal of Dairy Science 63, 1729-1748.

Haenlein GFW (1987) Mineral and vitamin requirements of goats. In: Proceedings IVth International Conference on Goats. International Goat Association (IGA) and Departamento Difusao Tecnologia, Brasilia, March 8-13 1987, 1249-1266

Haenlein GFW (1991) Advances in the nutrition of macro and micro elements in goats. In: Proceedings VII Reunion Nacional sobre Caprinocultura. Universidad Autonoma de Nuevo Leon, Monterey, Mexico, October 23-25 1991, 290-320

Haenlein GFW (1992) Advances in the nutrition of macro and microelements in goats. In: Proceedings V International Conference on Goats. Blackburn, H., Acharya, R. M. and Lokeshwar, R. R. E. International Goat Association (IGA) and Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi, 933-950

Haenlein GFW, Anke M (2011) Mineral and trace element research in goats: A review, *Small Ruminant Research* **95** (1), 2-19.

Haenlein GFW, Fahmy MH (1999) Role of small ruminants in the supply of animal products, *Small Ruminant Research* **34**, 175-308.

Hamel S, Cote SD (2009) Foraging decisions in a capital breeder: trade-offs between mass gain and lactation, *Oecologia* **161** (2), 421-432.

Han H, Liu D, Gao M, Hu H, Xie C, Deng W, Liu Y, Wang P, Lu D (2011) Effects of different dietary NFC/NDF ratios on ruminal microorganisms and pH in dairy goats, *Chinese Journal of Animal Nutrition* **23** (4), 597-603.

Harmeyer J, Martens H (1980) Aspects of Urea Metabolism in Ruminants with Reference to the Goat, *Journal of Dairy Science* **63** (10), 1707-1728.

Harmison B, Eastridge ML, Firkins JL (1997) Effect of percentage of dietary forage neutral detergent fiber and source of starch on performance of lactating Jersey cows, *Special Circular - Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center* (156), 129.

Hart SP, Sahlu T, Fernandez JM (1993) Efficiency of utilization of high and low quality forage by three goat breeds, *Small Ruminant Research* **10** (4), 293-301.

Harvey GR, Tobin G (1982) The part played by variation of energy expenditure in the regulation of energy balance, *Proceedings of the Nutrition Scoiety* **41**, 137-153.

Haryu T, Tano R, Itoh M, Kameoka K (1975) Factors influencing the utilisation of high-grain urea diets by ruminants II Effect of protein, *Bulletin of National Institute of Animal Industry* **29** (3)

Helby L (2009) Analysis of Preferential Grazing, Statistical Advisory & Training Service (STATS)

Henkin Z, Perevolotsky A, Rosenfeld A, Brosh A, Provenza F, Silanikove N (2009) The effect of polyethylene glycol on browsing behaviour of beef cattle in a tanniferous shrubby Mediterranean range, *Livestock Science* **126** (1/3), 245-251.

Holst PJ, Allan CJ, Campbell MH, Gilmour AR (2004) Grazing of pasture weeds by goats and Sheep. 2. Scotch broom (Cytisus scoparius L.), *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* **44** (6), 553-557.

Hoste H, Torres-Acosta JF, Paolini V, Aguilar-Caballero A, Etter E, Lefrileux Y, Chartier C, Broqua C (2005) Interactions between nutrition and gastrointestinal infections with parasitic nematodes in goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **60** (1-2), 141-151.

Hungerford TG (1990) Diseases of Livestock, (9th) McGraw-Hill Book Company, Sydney.

Hussain Q, Waldeland H, Havrevoll, Eik LO, Andresen, Engeland IV (1996) Effect of type of roughage and energy level on reproductive performance of pregnant goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **21** (2), 97-103.

Huston JE, Taylor CA, Lupton CJ, Brooks TD (1993) Effects of supplementation on intake, growth rate, and fleece production by female Angora kid goats grazing rangeland, *Journal of Animal Science* **71**, 3124-3130.

Iason GR, Sim DA, Foreman E, Fenn P, Elston DA (1994) Seasonal variation of voluntary food intake and metabolic rate in three contrasting breeds of sheep, *Animal Production* **58** (3)

INRA (1978) Alimentation des Ruminants, Jarrige, R., INRA Publications, Versailles, France.

INRA (2007) Alimentation des bovins, ovins and caprins (Feeding of cattle, sheep and goat), Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique, Paris.

James JW (2009) Genotype by environment interaction in farm animals. In: Adaption and Fitness in Animal Populations - Evolutionary and Breeding Perspectives on Genetic Resource Management. Werf, J. v. d., Grazer, H. U., Frankham, R. and Gondro, C., ed. Springer, Dordrecht, the Netherlands

Jolly S (2009) More talk about Dillon bush... Western Division Newsletter (126), 5.

Jolly S, Wallace A (2007) Best practice for production feeding of lambs: A review of the literature, Meat and Livestock Australia

Jordan RM (2011) Angora goats in the mid west, Goat World

Judson G (2002) Copper supplements for livestock, IDEXX and RVA Seminar 9 August 2002, Glenside.

Kannan G, Terrill TH, Kouakou B, Gelaye S, Amoah EA (2002) Simulated preslaughter holding and isolation effects on stress responses and live weight shrinkage in meat goats, *Journal of Animal Science* **80** (7), 1771-1780.

Kawas JR, Andrade-Montemayor H, Lu CD (2010) Strategic nutrient supplementation of free-ranging goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **89** (2/3), 234-243.

Kessler J (1991) Mineral nutrition of goats, *Goat Nutrition* **46**, 104-119.

Khan MS, Ghosh PK, Sasidharan TO (1978) Effect of acute water restriction on plasma proteins and on blood and urinary electrolytes in Barmer goats of the Rajasthan desert, *Journal of Agricultural Science* **91**, 395-398.

Kratochvil P, Travnicek J, Kroupova V, Kursa J, Viatovec J (1996) Development of the weight of certain goat organs in the postnatal period (24-75 days of age), *Sbornik - Jihoceska Univerzita Zemedelska Fakulta, Ceske Budejovice. Zootechnicka Rada* **13** (1), 15-20.

Kusina NT, Chinuwo T, Hamudikuwanda H, Ndlovu LR, Muzanenhamo S (2001) Effect of different dietary energy level intakes on efficiency of estrus synchronization and fertility in Mashona goat does, *Small Ruminant Research* **39** (3), 283-288.

Lachica M, Aguilera JF (2003) Estimation of energy needs in the free-ranging goat with particular reference to the assessment of its energy expenditure by the 13C-bicarbonate method, *Small Ruminant Research* **49** (3), 303-318.

Lachica M, Prieto C, Aguilera JF (1997) The energy costs of walking on the level and on negative and positive slopes in the Granadina goat (Capra hircus), *British Journal of Nutrition* **77** (1), 73-81.

Lachica M, Somlo R, Barroso FG, Boza J, Prieto C (1999) Goats locomotion energy expenditure under range grazing conditions: seasonal variation, *Journal of Range Management* **52** (5), 431-435.

Landau S, Glasser T, Dvash L (2006) Monitoring nutrition in small ruminants with the aid of near infrared reflectance spectroscopy (NIRS) technology: A review, *Small Ruminant Research* **61** (1), 1-11.

Landau S, Molle G (1997) Nutrition effects on fertility in small ruminants with an emphasis on Mediterranean sheep breeding systems. Proc. FAO/CIHEAM Meeting on the Nutrition of Small Ruminants, 24–26 October 1996. Rabat, Morocco, 203-216.

Larbi A, Fianu FK, Akude FK (1991) Voluntary intake and digestibility by sheep and goats of wholeplant, leaf and stem fractions of Pennisetum purpureum Schum, *Small Ruminant Research* **6** (3), 217-221. Laycock W (1974) Coevolution of poisonous plants and large herbivores on rangelands, *Journal of Range Management* **31** (5), 335-342.

Lee J, Knowles SO, Judson GJ, Freer M, Dove H (2002) Trace-element and vitamin nutrition of grazing sheep, *Sheep nutrition*, 285-311.

Lee M, Hwang S, Chiou W (2003) Effect of dietary energy on the performance of dry dairy goats, *Journal of Taiwan Livestock Research* **36** (4), 291-299.

Louca A, Antoniou T, Hatzipanayiotou M (1982) Comparative digestibility of feedstuffs by various ruminants, specifically goats, *Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Goat Production and Disease*, 122-132.

Lovich J (no date) Invasive Plants of California's Wildlands; Tamarix spp, California Invasive Plant Council

Lu CD (1988) Grazing behavior and diet selection of goats, Small Ruminant Research 1 (3), 205-216.

Lu CD (2001) Boer Goat Production: Progress and Perspective. Proceedings of 2001 Conference on Boer goats, Beijing, China: 11

Lu CD (2011) Nutritionally related strategies for organic goat production, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 73-82.

Lu CD, Potchoiba MJ (1988) Milk feeding and weaning of goat kids - A review, *Small Ruminant Research* **1** (2), 105-112.

Luginbuhl JM, Poore MH (1998) Nutrition of Meat Goats, NCSU: Animal Science

Luo J, Goetsch AL, Nsahlai IV, Moore JE, Galyean ML, Johnson ZB, Sahlu T, Ferrell CL, Owens FN (2004a) Voluntary feed intake by lactating, Angora, growing and mature goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **53** (3), 357-378.

Luo J, Goetsch AL, Nsahlai IV, Sahlu T, Ferrell CL, Owens FN, Galyean ML, Moore JE, Johnson ZB (2004b) Metabolizable protein requirements for maintenance and gain of growing goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **53** (3), 309-326.

Luo J, Goetsch AL, Sahlu T, Nsahlai IV, Johnson ZB, Moore JE, Galyean ML, Owens FN, Ferrell CL (2004c) Prediction of metabolizable energy requirements for maintenance and gain of preweaning, growing and mature goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **53** (3), 231-253.

Macfarlane WV, Howard B (1966) Water content and turnover of identical twin *Bos indicus* and *B. taurus* in Kenya, *Journal of Agricultural Science Cambridge* **66**, 297-302.

Machen RV, Thigpen LW, Holland ER (no date) "Evaluation of Feedlot Rations for Meat Goats" South African Boer Goats, retrieved 2011 from <u>http://www.sa-boergoats.com</u>

Manteca X, Villalba JJ, Atwood SB, Dziba L, Provenza FD (2008) Is dietary choice important to animal welfare?, *Journal of Veterinary Behavior: Clinical Applications and Research* **3** (5), 229-239.

Marin ALM, Hernandez MP, Alba LMP, Castro AGG (2010) Choosing a feed evaluation system - NRC vs INRA - to formulate rations for growing goats using minimum cost linear programming, *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences* **19**, 525-538.

Martin GB, Blache D, Miller DW, Vercoe PE (2010) Interactions between nutrition and reproduction in the management of the mature male ruminant, *Animal* **4** (7), 1214-1226.

Martinez TF, McAllister TA, Wang Y, Reuter T (2006) Effects of tannic acid and quebracho tannins on *in vitro* ruminal fermentation of wheat and corn grain, *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **86**, 1244-1256.

Masters DG, Benes SE, Norman HC (2007) Biosaline agriculture for forage and livestock production, *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment* **119** (3-4), 234-248.

Masters DG, Norman HC, Dynes RA (2001) Opportunities and limitations for animal production from saline land, *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences* **14**, 199-211.

Masters DG, Rintoul AJ, Dynes RA, Pearce KL, Norman HC (2005) Feed intake and production in sheep fed diets high in sodium and potassium, *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **56** (5), 427-434.

Masters DG, White CL (1996) Detection and Treatment of Mineral Nutrition Problems in Grazing Sheep, Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Canberra.

Max RA, Kimambo AE, Kassuku AA, Mtenga LA, Buttery PJ (2007) Effect of tanniniferous browse meal on nematode faecal egg counts and internal parasite burdens in sheep and goats, *South African Journal of Animal Science* **37** (2), 97-106.

McAllister TA, Martinez T, Bae HD, Muir AD, Yanke LJ, Jones GA (2005) Characterization of Condensed Tannins Purified From Legume Forages: Chromophore Production, Protein Precipitation, and Inhibitory Effects on Cellulose Digestion, *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **31** (9), 2049-2068.

McCall DG, Clayton JB, Dow BW (1989) Nutrition effects on live weight and reproduction of Cashmere doe hoggets, *Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production* **49**, 157-161.

McClure SJ (2008) How minerals may influence the development and expression of immunity to endoparasites in livestock, *Parasite Immunology* **30** (2), 89-100.

McDonald IW (1981) Detrimental substances in plants consumed by grazing ruminants. In: Grazing Animals. Morley, F. H. W. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 349-360

McDonald WJF, Ternouth JH (1979) Laboratory analyses of the nutritional value of western Queensland browse feeds, *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture and Animal Husbandry* **19** (98), 344-349.

McDowell RE, Bove L (1977) The goat as a producer of meat, *Cornell International Agricultural Development Mimeograph* **56**, 40.

McGregor B (2000) "What do goats really like to eat?", retrieved 2011 from <u>http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/C001.php</u>

McGregor B (no date) "Drought Feeding of Goats" Goat Notes C5, 2011 from <u>http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/C005.php</u>

McGregor BA (1985) Growth, development and carcass composition of goats: a review. Goat production and research in the tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 82-90

McGregor BA (1986) Water intake of grazing Angora wether goats and Merino wether sheep, *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* **26** (6), 639-642.

McGregor BA (1996) Lupin grain but not barley straw supplements allow cashmere buck kids to grow rapidly during winter, *Animal Production in Australia. Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production* **21**, 294-297.

McGregor BA (2003) Nutrition of goats during drought, *RIRDC* (Publication number 03/016)

McGregor BA (2004) The use and macro-minerals content of saline water for goat production, *South African Journal of Animal Science* **34** (1), 215-218.

McGregor BA (2005) Nutrition and management of goats in drought,

McGregor BA, Harris R, Denney G (2010) Influence of grain supplements during winter on liveweight, mohair growth and mohair quality of weaner Angora goats, *Animal Production Science* **50** (5-6), 593-598.

McGregor BA, Hodge RW, Mitchell D (1982) Food intake of lactating does and growth of their kids when fed oats with lucerne chaff or urea, *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production* **14**, 635.

McGregor BA, McLaughlin JW (1980) The influence of dietary protein and energy concentration on the growth of Merino weaner sheep. **20**, 308-315.

McLeod MN (1974) Plant tannins-their role in forage quality, *Nutrition Abstracts and Reviews* **44** (11), 803-815.

Meat and Livestock Australia (2006) Going into Goats: Profitable producers' best practice guide,

Meissner HH, Paulsmeier DV (1995) Plant compositional constituents affecting between-plant and animal species prediction of forage intake. **73**, 2447-2457.

Mellado M, Olivares L, Lopez R, Mellado J (2005) Influence of lactation, liveweight and lipid reserves at mating on reproductive performance of grazing goats, *Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances* **4** (4), 420-423.

Mellado M, Valdez R, Lara LM, Garcia JE (2004) Risk factors involved in conception, abortion, and kidding rates of goats under extensive conditions, *Small Ruminant Research* **55** (1/3), 191-198.

Mercer JB, Jessen C (1979) Control of respiratory evaporative heat loss in exercising goats, *Journal of Applied Physiology* **46** (5), 978-983.

Mgasa MN, Basse A, Arnbjerg J, Jorgensen RJ, Thamsborg SM, Fogh J (1994) Influence of diet on forestomach, bone and digital development in young goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **14**, 25-31.

Min BR, Hart SP (2003) Tannins for suppression of internal parasites, *Journal of Animal Science* **81**, 102-109.

Morand-Fehr P (1981) Growth. In: Goat Production. Gall, C. Academic Press, London, 253-284

Morand-Fehr P (2005) Recent developments in goat nutrition and application: A review, *Small Ruminant Research* **60** (1-2), 25-43.

Morand-Fehr P, Bas P, Schmidely P, Hervieu J (1986) Factors influencing carcass quality and especially fattening of young goats, *11es Journees de la Recherche Ovine et Caprine. Qualite des produits chez les ovins et les caprins, 2-3 December, 1986, Paris.*, 236-252.

Morand-Fehr P, Hervieu J, Bas P, Sauvant D (1982) Feeding of Young Goats, *Proceedings of the Third International Conference on Goat Production and Disease.*, 90-103.

Moujahed N, Ben Salem H, Kayouli C (2005) Effects of frequency of polyethylene glycol and protein supplementation on intake and digestion of Acacia cyanophylla Lindl. foliage fed to sheep and goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **56** (1-3), 65-73.

Muhsen RK (2009) Effect volatile fatty acids concentrations in the development of the caprine ruminal microflora, *Iraqi Journal of Veterinary Sciences* **23** (Suppl.2), 207-211.

Muir JP (2011) The multi-faceted role of condensed tannins in the goat ecosystem, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 115-120.

Muir JP, Terrill TH, Valencia E, Weiss S, Littlefield K, Jones PD, Mosjidis J, Wolfe RM (2009) A wide range in forage condensed tannin in the Caribbean Basin shows promise in ruminant protein and parasite management. In: Proceedings of XXVII Caribbean Food Crops Society Meeting. July12-18, St. Kitts

Müller S, McCutcheon SN (1991) Comparative aspects of resistance to body cooling in newborn lambs and kids, *Animal Science* **52** (02), 301-309.

Narvaez N, Brosh A, Mellado M, Pittroff W (2011) Performance of Sheep and Goats Fed Arctostaphylos canescens With and Without Polyethylene Glycol Supplementation, *Rangeland Ecology & Management* **64** (1), 85-91.

Nicoll GB, Bigham ML, Alderton MJ (1989) Estimates of environmental effects and genetic parameters for live weights and fleece traits of Angora goats, *Proceedings of New Zealand Society of Animal Production* **49**, 183-189.

Ninan J, Arya JS, Wadhwani KN (2011) Physiological parameters in neonate lambs and kids, *Indian Journal of Veterinary Research* **20** (1), 56-61.

Niver JW (2005) Energy & Protein Nutrition of Goats. Nutrition Conference

Norton BW (1982) The nutrition of the feral goat, Animal Production in Australia 14, 138-141.

Norton BW (1984) Nutrition of the Goat; A Review. Goat production and research in the tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 75-81

NRC (1981) Nutrient Requirements of Goats: Angora, Dairy and Meat Goats in Temperate and Tropical Countries, National Academy Press, Washington D.C.

NRC (1985) Nutrient requirements of sheep, (6th Edition) National Academy Press, Washington, DC.

NRC (2007) Nutrient Requirements of Small Ruminants: sheep, goats, cervids, and New World camelids. Washington, D.C., National Research Council, National Academies Press

Nsahlai IV, Goetsch AL, Luo J, Johnson ZB, Moore JE, Sahlu T, Ferrell CL, Galyean ML, Owens FN (2004) Metabolizable energy requirements of lactating goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **53** (3), 253-273.

O'Reagain PJ, McMeniman NP (2002) Nutrition of sheep under rangeland conditions. In: Sheep Nutrition. Freer, M. and Dove, H. CSIRO Publishing, Victoria, 263-284

Oh HK, Jones MB, Longhurst WM (1968) Comparison of rumen microbial inhibition resulting from various essential oils isolated from relatively unpalatable plant species, *Applied microbiology* **16** (1), 39-44.

Oldham CM, Lindsay DR (1984) The minimum period of intake of lupin grain required by ewes to increase their ovulation rate when grazing dry summer pasture. In: Reproduction in Sheep. Lindsay, D. R. and Pearce, D. T. Australian Academy of Science & Australian Wool Corporation, Canberra, 274-276

Olsson K, Benlamlih S, Hossaini-Hilali J, Dahlborn K (no date) Regulation of fluid balance in goats and sheep from dry areas,

Osborne LD, Robson AD (1992) Duration of zinc uptake inhibition by chlorsulfuron in wheat. **43**, 1169-1174.

Palma JM, Galina MA (1995) Effect of early and late weaning on the growth of female kids, *Small Ruminant Research* **18** (1), 33-38.

Papachristou TG, Dziba LE, Provenza FD (2005) Foraging ecology of goats and sheep on wooded rangelands, *Small Ruminant Research* **59** (2-3), 141-156.

Parr RA, Davis IF, Fairclough RF, Miles MA (1987) Overfeeding during early pregnancy reduces peripheral progesterone concentration and pregnancy rate in sheep, *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* **80**, 317-320.

Parr RA, Williams AH (1982) Nutrition of the ewe and embryo growth during early pregnancy, *Australian Journal of Biological Sciences* **35**, 271-276.

Patrick S, Patrick G (no date) "Introduction to Boers", 2011 from <u>http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/A003.php</u>

Pattanaik AK, Khan SA, Goswami TK (2011) lodine supplementation to a diet containing Leucaena leucocephala leaf meal: consequences on nutrient metabolism, clinical chemistry and immunity of goats, *Animal Production Science* **51** (6), 541-548.

Patterson JM, Lambert BD, Muir JP, Foote AP (2009) Effects of protein and energy supplementation on growth, forage intake, forage digestion and nitrogen balance in meat goat kids, *Animal* **3** (8), 1109-1113.

Poore MH, Luginbuhl J-M (2002) Improving Meat Goat Nutrition with Forages and Supplementation, *Kentucky Ruminant Nutrition*, 11-20.

Prieto I, Goetsch AL, Banskalieva V, Cameron M, Puchala R, Sahlu T, Dawson LJ, Coleman SW (2000) Effects of dietary protein concentration on postweaning growth of Boer crossbred and Spanish goat wethers, *Journal of Animal Science* **78** (9), 2275-2281.

Provenza F (2006) Behavioural mechanisms influencing use of plants with secondary metabolites by herbivores, CA Sandoval-Castro, F. D. H., JFJ Torres-Acosta and A Ayala-Burgos, British Society of Animal Science (BSAS)

Provenza FD (1996) Acquired aversions as the basis for varied diets of ruminants foraging on rangelands, *Journal of Animal Science* **74** (8), 2010-2020.

Provenza FD, Villalba JJ, Dziba LE, Atwood SB, Banner RE (2003) Linking herbivore experience, varied diets, and plant biochemical diversity, *Small Ruminant Research* **49** (3), 257-274.

Reid RL, Jung GA, Cox-Ganser JM, Rybeck BF, Townsend EC (1990) Comparative utilization of warmand cool-season forages by cattle, sheep and goats, *Journal of Animal Science* **68** (9), 2986-2994.

Restall BJ, Pattie WA, Winter JD (1984) Genetic parameters for production characterstics of the Australian feral goat. In: Proceedings of the Fourth Conference, Australian Association of Animal Breeding and Genetics, University of Adelaide, South Australia, Australia, 4-6 June, 1984., 265-268

Rhind SM, Archer ZA, Adam CL (2002) Seasonality of food intake in ruminants: recent developments in understanding, *Nutrition Research Reviews* **15** (1), 43-65.

Rhind SM, Elston DA, Jones JR, Rees ME, McMillen SR, Gunn RG (1998) Effects of restriction of growth and development of Brecon Cheviot ewe lambs on subsequent lifetime reproductive performance, *Small Ruminant Research* **30**, 121-126.

Robertson S, Friend M (2010) Short-term flushing increases ovulation, EverGraze Exchange, 4.

Robinson P, Putnam D, Mueller S (1998) Interpreting Your Forage Test Report, *California Alfalfa & Forage Review* **1** (2), 1-2.

Rogosic J, Estell RE, Ivankovic S, Kezic J, Razov J (2008) Potential mechanisms to increase shrub intake and performance of small ruminants in Mediterranean shrubby ecosystems, *Small Ruminant Research* **74** (1-3), 1-15.

Rogosic J, Pfister JA, Provenza FD, Grbesa D (2006) The effect of activated charcoal and number of species offered on intake of Mediterranean shrubs by sheep and goats, *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **101** (3/4), 305-317.

Sachdeva KK, Sengar OPS, Singh SN, Lindahl IL (1973) Studies on goats: I. Effect of plane of nutrition on the reproductive performance of does, *Journal of Agricultural Science Cambridge* **80** (03), 375-379.
Sahlu T, Goetsch AL, Luo J, Nsahlai IV, Moore JE, Galyean ML, Owens FN, Ferrell CL, Johnson ZB (2004) Nutrient requirements of goats: developed equations, other considerations and future research to improve them, *Small Ruminant Research* **53** (3), 191-219.

Salem AA, Hassan AH, El-Ati NA, Gamal BM (2011) Improving reproductive performance by glucose injection in Damascus does goat during early summer, *The Journal of American Science* **7** (6), 884-892.

Santra A, Karim SA, Mishra AS, Chaturvedi OH, Prasad R (1998) Rumen ciliate protozoa and fibre utilization in sheep and goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **30** (1), 13-18.

Saun RJV (no date) Nutrition during Pregnancy: Transition Rations for Small Ruminants, 8.

Schmidt J, Lauprecht E, Schaparidse D, Bergman M (1935) Uber Wachstrum und Fulterverwertung der deutschen bunten Edelziege in Lebenshalbjahr, *Zuchtungstunde* **10**, 161-176.

Schoenian S (2011) Reproduction in the ewe. In: A beginner's guide to raising sheep

Schonewille JT, Ram L, Van't Klooster AT, Wonterse H, Beynen AC (1997) Intrinsic potassium in grass silage and magnesium absorption in dry cows, *Livestock Production Science* **48**, 99-110.

Schuster P (2011) Preparation of domesticated goats for the purposes of long-haul live export, Australia, M. a. L.

Serin I, Serin G, Yilmaz M, Kiral F, Ceylan A (2010) The effects of body weight, body condition score, age, lactation, serum trygliceride, cholesterol and paraoxanase levels on pregnancy rate of Saanen goats in breeding season, *Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances* **9** (13), 1848-1851.

Shahrom MS, Zamri-Saad M (2011) Urolithiasis in Boer bucks, *Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science* **34** (2), 363-366.

Sibanda LM, Ndlovu LR, Bryant MJ (1999) Effects of a low plane of nutrition during pregnancy and lactation on the performance of Matebele does and their kids, *Small Ruminant Research* **32** (3), 243-250.

Sidahmed AE, Morris JG, Radosevich SR, Koong LJ (1983) Seasonal changes in composition and intake of chaparral by Spanish goats, *Animal Feed Science and Technology* **8** (1), 47-61.

Silanikove N (1986) Interrelationships between feed quality, digestibility, feed consumption and energy requirements in desert (Bedouin) and non-desert (Saanen) goats, *Journal of Dairy Science* **69**, 2157-2162.

Silanikove N (1989) Interrelationships between water, food and digestible energy intake in desert and temperate goats, *Appetite* **12** (3), 163-170.

Silanikove N (1996) Why goats raised on harsh environment perform better than other domesticated animals, 185-194.

Silanikove N (2000) The physiological basis of adaptation in goats to harsh environments, *Small Ruminant Research* **35** (3), 181-193.

Silanikove N, Gilboa N, Perevolotsky A, Nitsan Z (1996) Goats fed tannin-containing leaves do not exhibit toxic syndromes, *Small Ruminant Research* **21** (3), 195-201.

Silva VB, Fonseca CEM, Almeida MIV, Brasileiro LSG, Godoi FN, Mendonca MS (2011) Feeding behavior of goats fed with different NDF levels, *Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinaria e Zootecnia* **63** (1), 165-170.

Simmonds H, Holst P, Bourke C (2000) The palatability and potential toxicity of Australian weeds to goats, RIRDC

Simpson AM, Suttie JM, Kay RNB (1984) The influence of artificial photoperiod on the growth, appetite and reproductive status of male red deer and sheep, *Animal Reproduction Science* **6** (4), 291-299.

Singh C, Kumar P, Rekib A, Bhutani DK (1980) Indian Journal of Animal Science 50, 857.

Snyman MA (2007) Investigation into body weight and growth rate of South African angora goat kids under various management systems, **7** (1)

Solaiman S, Min BR, Gurung N, Behrends J, Taha E (2011) Assessing feed intake, growth performance, organ growth, and carcass characteristics of purebred Boer and Kiko male kids fed high concentrate diet, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 98-101.

Solaiman SG, Maloney MA, Qureshi MA, Davis G, D'Andrea G (2001) Effects of high copper supplements on performance, health, plasma copper enzymes in goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **41**, 127-139.

Solanki GS (1994) Feeding Habits and Grazing Behavior of Goats in a Semiarid Region of India, *Small Ruminant Research* **14** (1), 39-43.

Sousa JERd, Sarmento JLR, Souza WHd, Souza MdSMd, de Sousa Junior SC, O AOd, Santos GVd (2011) Genetic aspects of the growth curve characteristics in Anglo-Nubian goats, *Revista Brasileira de Saude e Producao Animal* **12** (2), 340-349.

Squires V (1981) Livestock management in the arid zone, Inkata Press, Melbourne

Staub G (1974) Utilisation comparee de la feverole graine a differentes sources azaotees sur chevreaux, *Memoire de fin d'etudes ENSSAA Dijon, France* 

Strain SAJ, Stear MJ (2001) The influence of protein supplementation on the immune response to Haemonchus contortus, *Parasite Immunology* **23** (10), 527-531.

Stubbs A, Abud G (2002) Dairy Goat Manual, Rural Industries Research & Development Corporation,

Suttle NF (2010) The Mineral Nutrition of Livestock, (4th) CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.

Suttle NF, McLauchlin M (1976) Predicting the effects of dietary molybdenum and sulphur on the availability of copper to ruminants, *Proceedings of the Nutrition Scoiety* **35**, 22A-23A.

Sutton JD, Alderman G (2000) The energy and protein requirements of pregnant and lactating dairy goats: The Agriculture and Food Research Council report, *Livestock Production Science* **64** (1), 3-8.

Tamate H, Mcgilliard NL, Jacobson D, Getty R (1962) Effect of various dietaries on the anatomical development of the stomach in the calf, *Journal of Dairy Science* **45**, 408-420.

Tanabe S, Haryu T, Tano R (1975) The effect of dietary protein concentration on the growth of kids, *Bulletin of National Institute of Animal Industry* **29**, 59-67.

Ternouth JH (1991) The kinetics and requirements of phosphorus in ruminants, *Recent advances on the nutrition of herbivores* **15**, 143-151.

Ternouth JH, Sevilla CC (1990) Dietary calcium and phosphorus repletion of lambs. 41, 413-420.

Thomas KW, Turner DL, Spicer EM (1987) Thiamine, thiaminase and transketolase levels in goats with and without polioencephalomalacia, *Australian Veterinary Journal* **64** (4), 126-127.

Thompson FN, Stuedemann JA (1993) PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF FESCUE TOXICOSIS, Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment **44** (1-4), 263-281.

Trahair JF, deBarro TM, Robinson JS, Owens JA (1997) Restriction of nutrition in utero selectively inhibits gastrointestinal growth in fetal sheep, *Journal of Nutrition* **127**, 637-641.

Ueckermann L (1969) Produksie - studies met Boerbokke (Production studies with Boer goats). M Sc (Agric) thesis. University of Pretoria. Pretoria, Republic of South Africa

Underwood EJ, Suttle NF (1999) The Mineral Nutrition of Livestock, (3rd) CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK.

Van DTT (2006) Some animal and feed factors affecting feed intake, behaviour and performance of small ruminants. Faculty of Veterinary medicine and Animal Science, Department of Animal Nutrition and Management. Sweedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Uppsala

Van DTT, Ledin I, Mui NT (2002) Feed intake and behaviour of kids and lambs fed sugar cane as the sole roughage with or without concentrate, *Animal Feed Science and Technology* **100** (1-2), 79-91.

Van DTT, Mui NT, Ledin I (2005) Tropical foliages: effect of presentation method and species on intake by goats, *Animal Feed Science and Technology* **118** (1-2), 1-17.

Van DTT, Mui NT, Ledin I (2007) Effect of group size on feed intake, aggressive behaviour and growth rate in goat kids and lambs, *Small Ruminant Research* **72** (2-3), 187-196.

Van Niekerk WA, Casey NH (1988) The Boer goat. II. Growth, nutrient requirements, carcass and meat quality, *Small Ruminant Research* **1** (4), 355-368.

van Pletzan H (2009) "Beef production from the veld offers great opportunities", retrieved 14/10/2011 from http:<u>www.voermol.co.za</u>

Van Soest PJ (1982) Nutritional ecology of the ruminant, (2nd Edition) Cornell University Press

Villalba JJ, Provenza FD, Banner RE (2002) Influence of macronutrients and activated charcoal on intake of sagebrush by sheep and goats, *Journal of Animal Science* **80** (8), 2099-2109.

Villalba JJ, Provenza FD, Clemensen AK, Larsen R, Juhnke J (2011) Preference for diverse pastures by sheep in response to intraruminal administrations of tannins, saponins and alkaloids, *Grass and Forage Science* **66** (2), 224-236.

Vincent B (2005) Farming Meat Goats: Breeding, Production and Marketing, Landlinks Press

Wales WJ, Kolver ES, Thorne PL, Egan AR (2004) Diurnal variation in ruminal pH on the digestibility of highly digestible perennial ryegrass during continuous culture fermentation, *Journal of Dairy Science* **87** (6), 1864-1871.

Walkden-Brown SW, Norton BW, Restall BJ (1994a) Seasonal variation in voluntary feed intake and growth in cashmere bucks fed *ad-libitum* diets of low or high quality, *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **45** (2), 355-366.

Walkden-Brown SW, Restall BJ, Norton BW, Scaramuzzi RJ (1994b) The 'female effect' in Australian cashmere goats: effect of season and quality of diet on the LH and testosterone response of bucks to oestrous does, *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* **100** (2), 521-531.

Wang Y, Douglas GB, Waghorn GC, Barry TN, Foote AG (1996) Effect of condensed tannins in *Lotus corniculatus* upon lactation performance in ewes, *Journal of Agricultural Science* **126**, 353-362.

Watson C, Norton BW (1982) The Utilisation of Pangola grass hay by sheep and angora goats, *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production* **14**, 467-470.

Webster JR, Corson ID, Littlejohn RP, Stuart SK, Suttie JM (1999) Effects of photoperiod on the cessation of growth during autumn in male red deer and growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-I secretion, *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **113** (3), 464-477.

Wilson RT (2009) Fit for purpose - The right animal in the right place, *Tropical Animal Health and Production* **41**, 1081-1090.

Zervas G, Nikolaou E, Mantzios A (1990) Comparative study of chronic copper poisoning in lambs and young goats, *Animal Production* **50** (3), 497-506.

Zervas G, Telfer SB, Carlos G, Anderson P (1988) The effect of soluble-glass boluses containing copper, cobalt and selenium on the blood composition of ewes, *Animal Feed Science and Technology* **21** (1), 23-29.

Zhao XH, Zhang T, Xu M, Yao JH (2011) Effects of physically effective fiber on chewing activity, ruminal fermentation, and digestibility in goats, *Journal of Animal Science* **89** (2), 501-509.

## Bibliography

(2001) Comparing the dietary habits of meat sheep, Merino's and goats in the Southern Rangelands,

(2011) Kidding is a serious business, *MLA Prograzier* Autumn 2011

Abecia L, Martin-Garcia A, Martinez G, Molina-Alcaide E, Newbold CJ, Yanez-Ruiz DR (2011) Programming rumen microbial ecosystem through the intervention on the early life stage of preruminants and their mothers. 14th Conference on Animal Production: 818-820

Allden WG (1968) Undernutrition of Merino sheep and its sequelae. III. The effect of lifetime productivity of growth restrictions imposed at two stages of early post natal life in a Mediterranean climate, *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **19**, 621-639

Al-Totanji W, Lubbadeh W (2000) Effect of feeding different levels of energy and protein during the last two months of gestation on Shami goats performance in Jordan Valley, *Dirasat. Agricultural Sciences* **27** (2), 165-175

Armstrong D (2007) Letter to the Editor: Goats and their productivity. Queensland Government - Primary industries and fisheries. Newsletter, The Mulga Line Newsletter

Asmare A, Puchala R, Tesfai K, Detweiler GD, Dawson LJ, Askar AR, Sahlu T, Wang Z, Goetsch AL (2011) Effects of small ruminant type and restricted protein intake on metabolism, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 111-114

Australian Cashmere Growers Association Ltd (no date) "The Australian Bush Goat", 2011 from http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/A001.php

Australian Livestock Export Corporation (2009) Preparation of goats for export

Australian Weeds and Livestock (no date) Toxic to Ruminants: Cattle, Goats, Sheep, List from Australian Weeds and Livestock website

Baxendell SA (1984) Diseases of Goats. Goat Production and Research in the Tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 94-102

Beede DK, Schelling GT, Jnr GEM, Tucker RE (1985) Utilisation by growing goats of diets that contain monensin and low or excess crude protein: comparative slaughter experiment, *Journal of Animal Science* **61**, 1230-1242

Blache D, Zhang S, Martin GB (2003) Fertility in male sheep: modulators of the acute effects of nutrition on the reproductive axis of male sheep, *Reproduction Supplement* **61**, 387-402

Bordi A, Rosa GD, Napolitano F, Vesce G, Rubino R (no date) Influence of feeding supplementation on goats grazing behaviour, *CIHEAM - Options Mediterraneenes*, 57-68

Boyazoglu J, Morand-Fehr P (2001) Mediterranean dairy sheep and goat products and their quality: A critical review, *Small Ruminant Research* **40**, 1-11

Browne J (2000) "Goats in Pinus Radiata Agroforestry", 2011 from http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/J002.php

Brun-Bellut J, Blanchart G, Vignon B (1990) Effects of rumen-degradable protein concentration in diets on digestion, nitrogen utilization and milk yield by dairy goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **3** (6), 575-581

Bureau of Animal Welfare (2001) Code of accepted farming practice for the welfare of goats, *Department of Primary Industries*, 7

Casey NH, Webb EC (2010) Managing goat production for meat quality, Small Ruminant Research, 7

Cong Y, Deng H, Feng Y, Chen Q, Sun Y (2011) Melatonin implantation from winter solstice could extend the cashmere growth phase effectively, *Small Ruminant Research* **99**, 48-53

Copland JW (1984) Goat Production and Research in the Tropics. Proceedings of a workshop held at the University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia, The Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research

Dash SK, Rao PK, Patro BN (2010) Selection index for improvement of production performance in goats, *Indian Veterinary Journal* **87** (4), 359-362

Deka RS, Joshi M (2010) Effect of concentrate feeding on body weight gain in kids raised in semi arid region, *Veterinary Practitioner* **11** (2), 138-141

Department of Agriculture and Food (no date) Best Management Practice Guidelines for the grazing of goats in the Pastoral areas of Western Australia

Department of Sustainability Environment Water Population and Communities (2011) The Feral Goat (Capra Hircus), 4

Devendra C (1980) Feeding and nutrition of goats. In: Digestive physiology and nutrition of ruminants. Church, C. D. **3**, 239-256, 2nd edition

Devendra C (1986) Feeding systems and nutrition of goats and sheep. The Potential of Small Ruminants in Eastern and Southern Africs, Nairobi, Kenya: 28

Dubeuf J-P (2011) The social and environmental challenges faced by goat and small livestock local activities: Present contribution of research-development and stakes for the future, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 3-8

Eaton S (no date) "Condobolin Goats", 2011 from http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/A006.php

Economides S (1985) Nutrition and management of sheep and goats. In: Small ruminant production in the developing countries. Timon, V. M. and Hanrahan, J. P. FAO Animal Production and Health Paper 58, Sofia, Bulgaria, 61-73

El Shaer HM (2010) Halophytes and salt-tolerant plants as potential forage for ruminants in the Near East region, *Small Ruminant Research* **91** (1), 3-12

Elliot TK, Woodford KB (1998) Industry opinions and development issues relating to feral goats, *Australasian Agribusiness Review* **6** 

Empire State Meat Goat Producer's Association (no date) "Factors Affecting Dressing Percentage", from http://www.esmgpa.org/committees/dressing\_percentage.html

Etter E, Chartier C, Hoste H, Pors I, Bouquet W, Lefrileux Y, Borgida LP (1999) The influence of nutrition on the periparturient rise in fecal egg counts in dairy goats: results from a two-year study, *Revue de Medecine Veterinaire* **150** (12), 975-980

Evans J (no date) Cobalt, Selenium and Iodine deficiencies in goats - Symptoms and Treatments, *Boer Briefs* (15)

EverGraze (2010) Shelter increases lamb survival at Hamilton and Wagga. EverGraze Update

Ferguson MB, McGregor BA (2005) Selecting High Performing Angoras

Fernandez JM, Sahlu T, Lu CD, Ivey D, Potchoiba MJ (1997) Production and metabolic aspects of nonprotein nitrogen incorporation in lactation rations of dairy goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **26** (1-2), 105-117

Forbes TDA (no date) Effects of sward structure on forage intake - Implications for increasing performance of cattle on wheat pasture, 207-222

Fowden AL, Giussani DA, Forhead AJ (2006) Intrauterina programming of physiological systems: causes and consequences, *Physiology* **21**, 29-37

Freer M, Moore AD, Donnelly JR (1997) GRAZPLAN: decision support systems for Australian grazing enterprises-II. The animal biology model for feed intake, production and reproduction and the GrazFeed DSS, *Agricultural Systems* **54** (1), 77-126

Frileux YI, Cirier N, Borgida LP (2003) The feeding of high-yielding goats: energy and nitrogen requirements at the end of gestation, *Chevre* (258), 30-32

Gao Y, Xu M, Liu N, Zhao X, Liu C, Yao J (2011) Effects of the ADL/NDF and length of ryegrass on eating behavior, ruminal pH and cellulases activity in goats, *Chinese Journal of Animal Nutrition* **23** (7), 1130-1139

Gherardi SG, Johnson TJ (1994) Period of lot-feeding of feral goats before live export by ship, *Australian Society of Animal Production* **20**, 194-197

Gipson TA (no date) "Meat goat breeds & breeding plans", 2011 from http://www.goatworld.com/articles/meatgoatbreeds.shtml

Gipson TA, Grossman M (1990) Lactation Curves in Dairy Goats - a review, *Small Ruminant Research* **3** (4), 383-396

Goat Industry Council of Australia (no date) "The Goat Industry", from http://www.gica.com.au/goat\_industry.html

Greenwood P (2004) Artificial methods of rearing goats, NSW Department of Primary Industries 3

Greenwood PL, May TJ, Finn JA (1993) "Pre-slaughter management of goat", 2011 from http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/H004.php

Greyling JPC (2000) Reproduction traits in the Boer goat doe, *Small Ruminant Research* **36** (2), 171-177

Groppel B, Anke M, Scholz E, Koehler B (1990) Jodversorgung und Jodstatus des Wiederkaeuers. 15. Mitteilung: Einfluss der Jodversorgung auf den Jodgehalt verschiedener extrathyroidaler Organe bzw. Gewebe von Ziegen und Schafen. Proceedings 10th Arbeitstagung Mengen und Spurenelemente, Leipzig, Germany, University Jena: 32-39

Hadfield J (2010) Goat Nutrition, Informed Farmers

Haenlein GFW (no date) Recent Advances in Mineral Nutrition of Goats, Goat World, 15

Halpin C (1985) "Trace element requirement of goats", from http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/C002.php

Hart SP (2001) Recent perspectives in using goats for vegetation management in the USA. 2000 Joint ADSA/ASAS Annual Meeting, American Dairy Science Association: E170-E176

Holmes CW, Moore YF (1981) Metabolizable energy required by feral goats for maintenance and the effects of cold climatic conditions on their heat production, *Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production* **41**, 163-166

Holst PJ (1981) Age, Hair Colour, Live Weight and Fertility of Two Samples of Australian Feral Goat, Capra Hircus, *Australian Wildlife Research* **8** (3), 549-553

Holst PJ (1984) Leather and skin production from goats. Goat Production and Research in the Tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 91-93

Holst PJ, Allan CJ, Campbell MH, Gilmour AR (2004) Grazing of pasture weeds by goats and sheep. 1. Nodding thistle (Carduus nutans), *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* **44** (6), 547-551

Hooper AP, Welch JG (1983) Chewing efficiency and body size of kid goats, *Journal of Dairy Science* **66**, 2551-2556

Huh CK, Kim CS, Kwak SD (1994) Development of the rumen of fetuses and neonates in Korean native goats, *Korean Journal of Veterinary Research* **34** (4), 687-694

Iaschi SPA, Hui J, Chong FN, Strange A, Strange M, Bencini R, Tay GK (2004) Comparison of the milk quality of the South African Boer and Australian Rangeland goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **53** (1-2), 181-184

lason GR, Mantecon AR (1991) Seasonal-Variation in Voluntary Food-Intake and Post-Weaning Growth in Lambs - a Comparison of Genotypes, *Animal Production* **52**, 279-285

Iñiguez L (2011) The challenges of research and development of small ruminant production in dry areas, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 12-20

James CD, Landsberg J, Morton SR (1998) Provision of watering points in the Australian arid zone: a review of effects on biota, *Journal of Arid Environments* **41**, 87-121

Kannan G (2005) Goats: Behavior, Stress and Management, Encyclopedia of Animal Science

Karim SA, Rawat PS (1996) Responses of sheep and goats during summer and winter to graded feed restriction and efficiency of regain on alimentation, *World Review of Animal Production* **31** (1/2), 93-103

Kou H, Chen Y, Liu J, Cao B, Zhou G, Zhang S, Zhang E (2011) Effects of supplemental yeast culture on performance, nutrient digestibility, and rumen development in Shanbei Cashmere goat lambs, *Journal of Northwest A & F University - Natural Science Edition* **39** (8), 45-50

Landau S, Giger-Reverdin S, Rapetti L, Dvash L, Dorleans M, Ungar ED (2008) Data mining old digestibility trials for nutritional monitoring in confined goats with aids of faecal near infra-red spectrometry, *Small Ruminant Research* **77** (2-3), 146-158

Landau S, Glasser T, Dvash L (2004) Monitoring nutrition in small ruminants with the aid of near infrared reflectance spectroscopy (NIRS) technology: A review, *Small Ruminant Research* **61** (1), 1-11

Landau S, Morand-Fehr P, Bas P, Schmidely P, Giger-Reverdin S (no date) Nutritional efficiency for conception, pregnancy and lactation in goats with an emphasis on glucose and nitrogen metabolism, *Options Mediterraneennes*, 59-70

Langston University (no date) "Nutrient Requirements for Goats", 2011 from http://www2.luresext.edu/GOATS/research/nutreqgoats.html

Langston University Goat Research Extension (no date) "Metabolizable Energy (ME) Requirement For Growing Goats", from http://www.luresext.edu/goats/research/me2.html

Lowry JB, McSweeney CS, Palmer B (1996) Changing perceptions of the effect of plant phenolics on nutrient supply in the ruminant, *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **47** (6), 829-842

Lu CD, Potchoiba MJ (1990) Feed intake and weight gain of growing goats fed diets of various energy and protein levels, *Journal of Animal Science* **68**, 1751-1759

Luginbuhl J-M (no date) Preparing meat goats for the breeding season, Animal Science Facts

Luginbuhl J-M (1998) Winter Annual Forages: Grazing Experiment Progress Report Meat Goats and Forage Systems, *NC State University: Animal Science* 

Luginbuhl J-M, Poore MH, Mueller JP, Green JT (1998) Breeding and Kidding Management in the Goat Herd, *NC State University: Animal Science* 

Luginbuhl J-M, Poore MH, Mueller JP, James T. Green J (no date) Forage needs and grazing management for meat goats in the humid southeast, *Animal Science Facts* 

Luo J, Goetsch AL, Nsahlai IV, Moore JE, Galyean ML, Johnson ZB, Sahlu T, Ferrell CL, Owens FN (2004) Voluntary feed intake by lactating, Angora, growing and mature goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **53** (3), 357-378

Malan SW (2000) The improved Boer goat, Small Ruminant Research 36 (2), 165-170

Mandal AB, Paul SS, Mandal GP, Kannan A, Pathak NN (2005) Deriving nutrient requirements of growing Indian goats under tropical condition, *Small Ruminant Research* **58** (3), 201-217

Masson C, Simiane Md, Delamarche F, Faurie F (1981) Level of goat intake on pasture land. In: Nutrition and systems of goat feeding. Volume 1. Morand-Fehr, P., Bourbouze, A. and Simiane, M. d. Itovic-Inra., Tours France, 357-360

Mayberry D, Masters D, Vercoe P (2010) Mineral metabolism of sheep fed saltbush or a formulated high-salt diet, *Small Ruminant Research* **91**, 81-86

McCafferty PB, Krebs GL, Mahipala K, Ho KH, Dods K (2011) Utilising NIRS and DNA Technologies to Manage Rangeland Sustainability

McGregor B (1989) "Increasing Cashmere Production with Improved Nutrition", 2011 from http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/C007.php

McGregor B (2007) Assessment skills for goat meat marketing, Agriculture Notes, 5

McGregor B (2007) Further technical information on goat production, Agriculture Notes

McGregor B (2007) A guide to the grazing requirements of fibre and meat goats, Agriculture Notes, 4

McGregor B (2007) An introduction to reproduction management of fibre and meat goats, *Reproduction Management of Fibre and Meat Goats - Department of Primary Industries*, 5

McGregor B, Butler K (2008) Relationship of body condition score, live weight, stocking rate and grazing system to the mortality of Angora goats from hypothermia and their use in the assessment of welfare risks, *Australian Veterinary Journal* **86** (1-2), 12-17

McGregor BA (1982) Grazing behaviour of feral and crossbred goats on improved irrigated pasture during Spring and Summer, *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production* **14**, 634

McGregor BA (1982) Growth of organ and body components of grazing goats, *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production* **14**, 487-490

McGregor BA (1988) Effects of different nutritional regimens on the productivity of Australian cashmere goats and the partitioning of nutrients between cashmere and hair growth, *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture* **28** (4), 459-467

McGregor BA (1992) Effect of supplementary feeding, seasonal pastoral conditions and liveweight on cashmere production and cashmere fibre diameter, *Small Ruminant Research* **8** (1-2), 107-119

McGregor BA (1994) Influence of roughage quantity and quality on energy intake and adaption of cashmere wether goats fed barley-lupin pellets, *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production* **20**, 190-193

McGregor BA (1998) Nutrition, management and other environmental influences on the quality and production of mohair and cashmere with particular reference to Mediterranean and annual temperate climatic zones: A review, *Small Ruminant Research* **28** (3), 199-215

McGregor BA (2004) Water quality and provision for goats, Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation

McGregor BA (2010) Influence of stocking rate and mixed grazing of Angora goats and Merino sheep on animal and pasture production in southern Australia. 1. Botanical composition, sward characteristics and availability of components of annual temperate pastures, *Animal Production Science* **50** (2), 138-148

McGregor BA, Reid CJ, Scott BJ (1990) The effect of goats and sheep on the growth, flowering and longevity of tall, medium and short scotch and artichoke thistles. Proceedings of the 9th Australian Weeds Conference, Adelaide, South Australia: 497-500

Meat and Livestock Australia (2007) Controlling nematode parasites of goats in pasture-based systems, *MLA Tips & Tools - Animal Health and Welfare* 

Meat and Livestock Australia (2007) Weed control using goats: a guide to using goats for weed control in pastures, 16

Meat and Livestock Australia (2009) Value of Australian Goat meat Exports, *Queensland Primary* Industries and Fisheries

Meat and Livestock Australia (2010) Australia's goatmeat industry, Fast Facts 2010

Meat and Livestock Australia (2010) The effect of finishing on goatmeat eating quality, *Facts & Stats, Animal Health and Welfare* 

Meat and Livestock Australia (2011) Crossing rangeland & Boer goats, *Meat and Livestock Australia Case Studies* 

Mendizabal JA, Delfa R, Arana A, Purroy A (2011) Body condition score and fat mobilization as management tools for goats on native pastures, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 121-127

Merchant M, Riach DJ (2002) The effect of plane of nutrition and shearing on the pattern of the moult in Scottish Cashmere goats, *Animal Science* **74**, 177-188

Meyer K, Hummel J, Clauss M (2010) The relationship between forage cell wall content and voluntary food intake in mammalian herbivores, *Mammal Review* **40** (3), 221-245

Miller M Opportunities for goat production in the rangeland of New South Wales, Boer Briefs 19

Min BR, Barry TN, Attwood GT, McNabb WC (2003) The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: a review, *Animal Feed Science and Technology* **106** (1/4), 3-19

Misra AK, Singh K (2002) Effect of water deprivation on dry matter intake, nutrient utilization and metabolic water production in goats under semi-arid zone of India, *Small Ruminant Research* **46** (2-3), 159-165

Mitchell TD (1984) Goats in land and pasture management. Goat Production and Research in the Tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 15-116

Monteagudo L, Lujan L, Tejedor T, Climent S, Acin C, Navarro A, Arrugaa M (2002) Fetal anasarca (Hydrops foetalis) associated with lymphoid tissue agenesis due to an autosomal recessive gene defect in sheep, **58** (6), 1219-1228

Moore NW (1984) Manipulation of reproduction in the goat. Goat Production and Research in the Tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 66-69

Mueller JP, Poore MH, Luginbuhl J-M, James T. Green J (no date) Matching Forages to the Nutrient Needs of Meat Goats, *NC State University - College of Agriculture and Life Sciences* 

Ngwa AT, Dawson LJ, Puchala R, Detweiler GD, Merkel RC, Wang Z, Tesfai K, Sahlu T, Ferrell CL, Goetsch AL (2009) Effects of breed and diet on growth and body composition of crossbred Boer and Spanish wether goats, *Journal of Animal Science* **87** (9), 2913-2923

Nobrega GHd, Silva AMdA, Pereira Filho JM, Azevedo SA, de Carvalho Junior AM, Alcalde CR (2008) Body composition, protein and energy requirements for weight gain of 1/2 boer 1/2 mixed-breed goat kids on pasture, *Animal Science* **30** (4), 407-414

Nocek JE, Herbein JH, Polan CE (1980) The influence of ration physical form, ruminal degradable nitrogen and age on rumen epithelial propionate and acetate transport and some enzymatic activities, *Journal of Nutrition* **110**, 2355

Norman HC, Revell DK, Mayberry DE, Rintoul AJ, Wilmot MG, Masters DG (2010) Comparison of in vivo organic matter digestion of native Australian shrubs by sheep to in vitro and in sacco predictions, *Small Ruminant Research* **91**, 69-80

Norman HC, Wilmot MG, Thomas DT, Barrett-Lennard EG, Masters DG (2010) Sheep production, plant growth and nutritive value of a saltbush-based pasture system subject to rotational grazing or set stocking, *Small Ruminant Research* **91**, 103-109

Norton BW (no date) The Significance of Tannins in Tropical Animal Production. Tannins in Livestock and Human Nutrition - ACIAR Proceedings, ACIAR

Norton BW, Lambert A, Restall BJ (1984) The effects of pre- and post-natal nutrition on the milk production of Australian feral goats, *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production* **15**, 726

Nsahlai IV, Goetsch AL, Luo J, Johnson ZB, Moore JE, Sahlu T, Ferrell CL, Galyean ML, Owens FN (2004) Metabolizable protein requirements of lactating goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **53** (3), 327-337

NSW Department of Primary Industries (no date) Nutritive values of feeds (database). Nutritive values of feeds

Nunes JF, Salgueiro CCM (2011) Strategies to improve the reproductive efficiency of goats in Brazil, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 176-184

Ontario Ministry of Agriculture Food and Rural Affairs (no date) "Nutrition of the Young Goat: Birth to Breeding", retrieved 12/10/2011 from http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/livestock/goat/facts/goatnutrition.htm

Panter KE, James LF, Gardner DR, Ralphs MH, Pfister JA, Stegelmeier BL, Lee ST (2002) Reproductive losses to poisonous plants: influence of management strategies, *Journal of Range Management* **55** (3), 301-308

Papachristou TG, Dziba LE, Provenza FD (2005) Foraging ecology of goats and sheep on wooded rangelands, *Small Ruminant Research* **59** (2-3), 141-156

Parr R (1992) Nutrition-progesterone interactions during early pregnancy in sheep, *Reproduction*, *Fertility and Development* **4** (3), 297-300

Pattie WA (1984) Genetics and breeding of goats. Goat Production and Research in the Tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 70-74

Peinado Lucena E, Gomez Castro AG, Sanchez Rodriguez M, Mata Moreno C, Domenech Garcia V (1993) Dry matter intake in grazing dairy goats, *Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences* **2** (1/2), 51-57.

Penfold K (2011) Heavy stubbles might not lead to heavy animals, Groundcover 90

Pinkerton F, Pinkerton B (no date) Supplemental Winter Feeding of Goats, South African Boer Goats

Ramirez RG (1999) Feed resources and feeding techniques of small ruminants under extensive management conditions, *Small Ruminant Research* **34** (3), 215-230

Ramirez-Orduna R, Armenta-Quintana JA, Ramirez RG, Romero-Vadillo E (2011) Organic matter and crude protein degradation synchrony in diets selected by range goats, *Tropical and Subtropical Agroecosystems* **14** (1), 109-117

Rayner IH (1984) Milk production from the goat. Goat Production and Research in the Tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 110-114

Read JL (2004) Catastrophic drought-induced die-off of perennial chenopod shrubs in arid Australia following intensive cattle browsing, *Journal of Arid Environments* **58** (4), 535-544

Red Meat Advisory Council Limited (2009) Australia's goatmeat industry. Meat Industry Strategic Plan 2010 - 2015

Restall BJ (1984) Fibre production from goats in Australia. Goat Production and Research in the Tropics, University of Queensland, Brisbane: 103-109

Rhind SM, McMillen S, Wetherill GZ, McKelvey WAC, Gunn RG (1989) Effects of low levels of food intake before and/or after mating on gonadotrophin and progesterone profiles in Greyface ewes, *Animal Production* **49**, 267-273

Rogosic J, Estell RE, Skobic D, Martinovic A, Maric S (2006) Role of species diversity and secondary compound complementarity on diet selection of Mediterranean shrubs by goats, *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **32** (6), 1279-1287

Rogosic J, Pfister JA, Provenza FD, Grbesa D (2006) Sheep and goat preference for and nutritional value of Mediterranean maquis shrubs, *Small Ruminant Research* **64** (1/2), 169-179

Rosales-Nieto CA, Gamez-Vazquez HG, Gudino-Reyes J, Reyes-Ramirez EA, Eaton M, Stanko RL, Meza-Herrera CA, Gonzalez-Bulnes A (2011) Nutritional and metabolic modulation of the male effect on the resumption of ovulatory activity in goats, *Animal Production Science* **51** (2), 115-122

Rubanza CDK, Shem MN, Bakengesa SS, Ichinohe T, Fujihara T (2007) Effects of Acacia nilotica, A-polyacantha and Leucaena leucocephala leaf meal supplementation on performance of Small East African goats fed native pasture hay basal forages, *Small Ruminant Research* **70** (2-3), 165-173

Sahlu T, Hart SP, Fernandez JM (1993) Nitrogen metabolism and blood metabolites in three goat breeds fed increasing amounts of protein, *Small Ruminant Research* **10** (4), 281-292

Salem HB, Norman HC, Nefzaoui A, Mayberry DE, Pearce KL, Revell DK (2010) Potential use of oldman saltbush (Atriplex nummularia Lindl.) in sheep and goat feeding, *Small Ruminant Research* **91** (1), 13-28

Sanchez C, Garmendia J, Garcia M, Colmenares O (2010) Reproductive performance of goats fed with different concentrated and suckling systems for goats kids, *Revista Cientifica, Facultad de Ciencias Veterinarias, Universidad del Zulia* **20** (2), 170-175

Santini FJ, Lu CD, Potchoiba MJ, Coleman SW (1991) Effects of acid detergent fiber intake on early postpartum milk production and chewing activities in dairy goats fed alfalfa hay, *Small Ruminant Research* **6** (1-2), 63-71

Saun RJV (no date) Dairy Goat Nutrition (How to properly feed the goat and her rumen)

Schoenian S (no date) Meat Goat Production: Nutrition and Feeding

Schuster A (2008) MLA On-farm Goat RD&E Assessment, Meat and Livestock Australia Limited

Seresinhe T, Marapana RAUJ (2011) Goat farming systems in the southern province of Sri Lanka: feeding and management strategies, *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences* **7** (4), 383-390

Shelton K, Parkinson TJ, Hunter MG, Kelly RW, Lamming GE (1990) Prostaglandin E-2 as a potential luteotrophic agent during early pregnancy in cattle *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* **90**, 11-17

Shelton M (1978) Reproduction and Breeding of Goats, Journal of Dairy Science 61, 994-1010

Shinde AK, Sankhyan SK, Bhatta R, Verma DL (2000) Seasonal changes in nutrient intake and its utilization by range goats in a semi-arid region of India, **135** (04), 429-436

Shipley LA (1999) Grazers and Browsers: How Digestive Morphology Affects Diet Selection, *Grazing Behaviour of Livestock and Wildlife*, 20-27

Silva JB, Fagundes GM, Fonseca AH (2011) Dynamics of gastrointestinal parasitoses in goats kept in organic and conventional production systems in Brazil, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 35-38.

Simmonds H (no date) Summary paper - minerals and trace minerals, Boer Briefs 34

Singh N, Mudgal VD (1991) Protein requirements of lactating Beetal goats, *Small Ruminant Research* **4** (2), 137-146

Snyman MA (2004) Effect of body weight and age of dam on reproduction in South African Angora goats, *Proceedings 8th International Conference on Goats* 

Snyman MA (2010) Factors affecting pre-weaning kid mortality in South African Angora goats, *South African Journal of Animal Science* **40** (1), 54-64.

Snyman MA (2010) Influence of body weight, age and management system on reproduction of South African Angora goat does, *South African Journal of Animal Science* **40** (1), 41-53.

Solaiman SG (2007) Feeing value of seed-harvested cowpea vines for goats, 07-09, 1-6.

Solaiman SG, Shoemaker CE, Jones WR, Kerth CR (2006) The effects of high levels of supplemental copper on the serum lipid profile, carcass traits, and carcass composition of goat kids, *Journal of Animal Science* **84** (1), 171-177.

South Queensland Goat Meat Producers (2002) Sustainable Meat Goat Management,

Souza BBd, Silva GdA, Freitas MMS, Cunha MdGG, Benicio TMA (2011) Physiological answers and the heat tolerance index of mixed-breed of boer at the semiarid, *Revista Verde de Agroecologia e Desenvolvimento Sustentavel* **6** (3), Artigos 146-151.

Stapleton D (2000) "Intensive Kidding Systems", 2011 from http://www.acga.org.au/goatnotes/B017.php

Sumarmono J, Pratiwi NMW, Murray PJ, Taylor DG (2002) Yield and carcass characteristics of improved boer and Australian feral goats slaughtered at 30kg live weight, *Animal Production Australia* **24**, 233-236.

Tedeschi LO, Nicholson CF, Rich E (2011) Using System Dynamics modelling approach to develop management tools for animal production with emphasis on small ruminants, *Small Ruminant Research* **98** (1-3), 102-110.

Teh TH, Potchoiba MJ, Escobar EN, Lu CD (1984) Weaning methods of goat kids, *Journal of Dairy Science* **67** (1), 137.

Terrazas A, Robledo V, Serafin N, Soto R, Hernandez H, Poindron P (2009) Differential effects of undernutrition during pregnancy on the behaviour of does and their kids at parturition and on the establishment of mutual recognition, *Animal* **3** (2), 294-306.

Thomas T (1983) University of Sydney Post-Graduate Committee Veterinary Science, *Control and Therapy No. 1629* 

Tovar-Luna I, Goetsch AL, Puchala R, Sahlu T, Carstens GE, Freetly HC, Johnson ZB (2007) Efficiency of energy use for pregnancy by meat goat does with different litter size, *Small Ruminant Research* **71** (1/3), 83-91.

Tovar-Luna I, Puchala R, Gipson TA, Detweiler GD, Dawson LJ, Sahlu T, Keli A, Goetsch AL (2011) Effects of night-locking and stage of production on forage intake, digestion, behaviour and energy utilisation by meat goat does grazing grass/legume pasture, *Livestock Science* **140** (1-3), 225-245.

Voicu I, Voicu D, Popa D, Florescu N (2008) Research into the efficiency of dietary protein utilisation by lactating Carpathian goats, *Archiva Zootechnica* **11** (1), 59-63.

WA Goat Meat Producers (2002) Economic Evaluation of Goat meat in a Mixed Farming Enterprise,

Walkden-Brown SW, Restall BJ, Norton BW, Scaramuzzi RJ, Martin GB (1994) Effect of nutrition on seasonal patterns of LH, FSH and testosterone concentration, testicular mass, sebaceous gland volume and odour in Australian cashmere goats, *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* **102** (2), 351-360.

Webb EC, Cronje PB, Donkin EF (1998) Research and Training Strategies for Goat Production Systems in South Africa. Goat Production Workshop, Eastern Cape, South Africa

Wells A (1999) Integrated Parasite Management for Livestock, ATTRA - Livestock Systems Guide, 1-9.

Wilkins JF (1997) Method of stimulating ovulation rate in merino ewes may affect conception but not embryo survival, *Animal Reproduction Science* **47**, 31-42.

Zhang W, Wang RL, Kleemann DO, Gao MY, Xu JH, Jia ZH (2009) Effects of dietary copper on growth performance, nutrient digestibility and fiber characteristics in cashmere goats during the cashmere slow-growing period, *Small Ruminant Research* **85** (1), 58-62.